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Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited (stock code: 9993.HK) is a
reputable large property developer with national presence, regional focus and
leading positions in select cities, and we focus on providing quality residential
properties to first-time homebuyers and first-time upgraders. With over 27
years’ experience, we have expanded our operations into eight regions with
strong growth potential in China, namely, the Yangtze River Delta, the Bohai
Economic Rim, Shenzhen/Huizhou, Southeastern China, Eastern China, Central
China, Southwestern China and Northwestern China.

In terms of comprehensive strengths, we were ranked as one of “China’s
Top 50 Real Estate Developers’ ([HE]FEihZE EL S HIS058])) by the
China Real Estate Association ((FE]E M Z &) and the China Real Estate
Appraisal Center of Shanghai E-house China Research Institute (L85 EE
HZEHFZERT) for ten consecutive years since 2014 and was named “2023 Top
23 Comprehensive Strength of Real Estate Listed Companies”.

Build properties with craftsmanship and make homes better.

Customer-first, the pursuit of excellence, win-win cooperation, pragmatic and
responsible, positive-thinking and integrity

We endeavour to pursue better products and services and aim to become a
trusted partner in quality benchmarking
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Cayman Islands
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March 2024

Radiance Holdings has zeroed out all credit-type debts, marking an
important step in debt management and demonstrating the Company’s
determination to scrupulously adhering to the financial bottom line and
optimize its capital structure. This initiative not only helps to reduce
financial risks, but also enhances the financial flexibility of the enterprise,
providing a more solid financial foundation for future business expansion.

April 2024

On 15 April, Radiance Holdings completed the payment of its US dollar
bonds and settled all credit bonds issued in the open market. Such action
further consolidated the Company’s financial stability, circulating a positive
signal in the market that Radiance Holdings could maintain its financial
commitment and solvency in a complex economic environment. This not
only helps to boost investor confidence, but also earns the Company a
higher reputation in the capital market.

May 2024

On 20 May, Radiance Holdings newly upgraded the “Delivery 100 Action”
delivery system, promoting the enhancement of product power with five
100 action programs and quantifiable product delivery system in a multi-
dimensional and full-process manner, achieving 100% guarantee before,
during and after delivery, and responded to the happiness of moments of
every home owner.

On 24 May, Sofitel Shanghai North Bund officially commenced business
operation. The opening of Sofitel Shanghai North Bund not only adds a
sparkling new landmark to the North Bund, but also injects new vitality
into the high-end hotel market in Shanghai.

July 2024

On 12 July, Radiance Holdings successfully issued RMB550 million medium-
term notes, which not only recognized our financial stability and market
reputation, but also provides solid capital safeguard for the Company’s
future development.

August 2024

On 23 August, Xi'an Radiance Plaza D16 Creative Street officially
commenced business operation. As the core project at the junction of
Qujiang Phase Il and the Aerospace Base, D16 makes up for the lack of
“personalized social destination” in the region and complements Radiance
Plaza Phase | (which mainly focuses on family consumption, while D16
focuses on the youth trend), jointly created a three-dimensional business
ecosystem of “Mall + Street + Sports Park”.
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MAJOR EVENTS OF RADIANCE
EHEAFER

September 2024

Sheraton Fuqing Radiance Hotel won the 2024 “Selected Conference
Service Hotel” awarded by the METROPOLITAN magazine, which not
only recognizes its professional service capability, but also reflects its
comprehensive competitiveness in the field of high-end conferences.

In September, we won two awards, namely “TOP30 Human Capital Value of
Chinese Real Estate Enterprises 2024” and “China Real Estate Enterprises 30
Best Employers 2024".

At the 14th China Value Real Estate Annual Meeting in 2024, Radiance
Holdings was honored with the award of “Solid Development Enterprise of
the Year”. This award is a high recognition of the financial stability, high-
quality development and fulfillment of corporate responsibility of Radiance
Holdings during the in-depth adjustment period of the real estate market.

October 2024

On 15 October, MUSE Design Awards were announced, and Shishi Jinhui
City won the Platinum Award, the highest award for interior design. This
is the second time that the project of Radiance Holdings being included
in the highest hall of honor of Muse after Fuzhou Radiance Guanlan Elite’s
Mansion and Fuging Radiance Zhongyang King’s Garden.

On 24 October, Chongging Radiance & Rongheng Line Center was grandly
announced, which marked a brand new upgrade of the commercial
landscape of Jiangbei District of Chongging.

November 2024

The grand opening of Holiday Inn & Suites Chongqing Nanan took place on
1 November amidst much fanfare, adding another dazzling landmark to the
modern city of Chongqging.

On 11 November, the modern elegant and luxury design of Radiance New

Block Series-Xiangyang New Block Academy successfully won the Gold
Award of the 2024 London International Creative Competition.
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December 2024

On 12 December, the launch of the new product series “Yun City” marked
an important step in product innovation and quality enhancement, with a
new upgrade in the four dimensions of “architectural shape, space quality,
landscape regulation and clubhouse elegance” to create a classic product
that exceeds expectations. The launch of “Yun City” series is not only a fine
interpretation of urban civilization, but also a respect for land value, which
embodies the development philosophy of Radiance Group, namely making
the best use of local conditions and combining with the city’s humanistic
underpinnings.

On December 24th, the villas sample space of Wuxi Radiance Tianyi
Mingzhu won the highest “Platinum Award for Interior Design” at the
2024 London Design Awards for its outstanding design concept and
exquisite craftsmanship. This award is organized by DRIVENXDESIGN, the
global creative platform of the International Awards Associates, and is
an important part of the London Design Festival with exceptionally high
international influence.

In 2024, Radiance Group delivered more than 27,000 units of high-quality
residences in 22 cities across the state, and many of them were delivered
ahead of schedule, for example, Shangrao Radiance - Tianyi Elite’s Mansion
was delivered 11 months ahead of schedule, Shishi Jinhui City was
delivered 10 months ahead of schedule, Langfang Radiance - New Block
Riverside was delivered 183 days ahead of schedule, and Yancheng Jinhui
Tongyin Yunshang was delivered 76 days ahead of schedule, proving the
responsibility of Radiance Group with our power of action.

Radiance is well aware of the needs of homeowners in terms of life and
culture, and has continuously optimized the Radiance community culture
with community life as the link. In 2024, a total of 1,946 community
activities were held, with owners’ participation exceeding 578,000 person-
times. In terms of shaping the community culture, we have always taken
the “Radiance Color Party” 5A community cultural activities as the basis,
continued to launch the Radiance Happy Home services such as birthday/
memorial day, hobby groups, health check-ups and convenient services.

MAJOR EVENTS OF RADIANCE
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“2024 Notes"
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"ABS”

B EIRIFES
"Articles”
=v =t

"ASP"
g EE)

“Beijing Jinhui Jinjiang”
MRS BRI
“Beijing Juye Real Estate”
NEREBEEE)
“Board”

EEg)

"BVI"
IEEELAE

“China”" or "PRC"
THRE

“Company” or “our Company” or
“Radiance” or “Radiance Holdings”

IRRABLK IR TR
“"Controlling Shareholder(s)"
TGRS R

"CG Code”

Te2E/Aa<rA

“Deed of Non-competition”

NS

20244 F 3R

the annual general meeting of the Company to be convened and held on 27 June 2025

ARBEFR2025F6F 27 BRERITHREFFEARE

the 7.8% senior notes due March 2024 in the aggregate principal amount of US$300 million
listed on the Stock Exchange and issued by the Company

AR BV EEITH 202443 A B HA A & 48 28 %3300,000,0003 7T 897.8% 18 5t T 4% » M6 iR Bk 22 PR £
s

asset-backed securities

BEMRE

the second amended and restated articles of association of the Company adopted on 18 May
2023
RABR2023F5 B 18 BRI E MM EESTMERNA S ER KH4HAY

average selling price

FHEE

Beijing Jinhui Jinjiang Property Service Co., Ltd.* Gt REBIIMERFBRAE), a
company established in the PRC
RSB INERBERAET > —HEPEEIINERRF

Beijing Juye Real Estate Co, Ltd.* JEREBXE BB RAF]), a company established in the PRC,
and an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

ERBEEXBRAD —HAFERINERAB UARRB ZEZEL2EWB R
Gl

the board of Directors

59

the British Virgin Islands
REBEZEE

the People’s Republic of China
HREE AR EME

Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited (&##ZE& (@) ERAF), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability

TR (EE) ARAF —HERSEEEMMINEREERAR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and, unless the context requires
otherwise, collectively refers to Mr. Lam, Ms. Lam, Radiance Group Holdings and Glowing Shine
AELmRABTFZANER BRIEXERBEME SAAMESE ML SEERE
A% DA R B I B9 472 78

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

LHRAIMERC PR EE R TR

the deed of non-competition dated 13 October 2020 entered into by the Controlling
Shareholders with and in favor of the Company, further information of which is set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders”in the Prospectus
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"Directors”
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"GFA"
MBS ER

“Glowing Shine”

BRI

“Group,”"our Group, “we," “our” or "us”

TAEE @3 T F M

“Hong Kong dollars” or "HKS$"
5|

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

PEII%E=771

“Listing”

F ki

“Listing Date”

rEmHE

“Listing Rules”
FEmRAL

“Model Code”
TR 2E<FA)

“Mr. Lam”
i

“Ms. Lam”

ML)
“Prospectus”
HARER]
“Radiance Capital”

BB A

GLOSSARY AND DEFINITION
AEKRER

director(s) of the Company

KABES

gross floor area

BEEEE

Glowing Shine Limited (Ei}8BR/AE]), a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability, which is wholly owned by Radiance Group Holdings, and is one of the Controlling
Shareholders

MEBRRAE —HTEBRYHEEMRINERAR HEEERER2ERF
W AR —

the Company and its subsidiaries

KRB RENEAE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

EREERREET

an individual(s) or company(ies) who or which is/are to the best of our Director’s knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, is/are not our connected persons
as defined under the Listing Rules

BEEKEH—UEEBETHEMEN SEREGE LFRMNBEALT (EEE L™
HAD) WALTHAE

the listing of the Shares on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 29 October 2020
& 15 522020510829 B TE B 2 P 4k £ 7H

29 October 2020, the date on which dealings in the Shares on the Stock Exchange first
commence
2020F10A29R RN ERNBRMEEE A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

EBMERZRERARES EHRE

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to

the Listing Rules
EFRRANERCPEN EHETABERETIESIZNRETH

Mr. Lam Ting Keung (#RZE35&) , an executive Director and one of the Controlling Shareholders

MEREE > BEMANATESTRIERRRZ —

Ms. Lam Fung Ying (#/Bl3%) , the spouse of Mr. Lam and one of the Controlling Shareholders
MBIELZ T BMEENEBRIZERRREZ—

the prospectus of the Company dated 16 October 2020 being issued in connection with the
Listing
AT LT & H A %2020 108 16H B R ER

Radiance Capital Investments Limited (B & AKX EHRAE]), a company incorporated in
the BVI and an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
TREALEERAR —HEEBHEEREERIINAR UAKXATZHEIFEE
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GLOSSARY AND DEFINITION

ARkER

“Radiance Group”

FEHEeE )

“Radiance Group Holdings”

Mg 5 MIER

"Radiance Smart Holding"

MEEER

“Register of Members"

Mg

“Renminbi” or "RMB"
Nz

"SFO”
TEE 5 R ERA)

“Share(s)”
TR

“Share Option Scheme’

s h tE st &)

“Shareholder(s)"
TR,

“sq.m”

B

“Stock Exchange”
TE# 3T PR

USS USD” or 4"
=

"

20244 F 3R

Radiance Group Co, Ltd. (BIEEERMHBERAE)), a company incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China and an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
TREERNERAR —BEFREMINBRAT UARABZEHZEFZERNBEA
=

Radiance Group Holdings Limited (2B R BBRAF]), a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability which is owned as to 64.97% by
Mr. Lam and 35.03% by Ms. Lam, and one of the Controlling Shareholders
TIREEZERERAR —HERESEEIMBLUNEREERAE > SlEMEE R
MZ L HEH64.97%5235.03% > W A FERRERZ —

Radiance Smart Holding Limited (B 1B#EIRBR/AF]), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability
BIEERBRAD —BEEBRZHESTMAINERAF

the register of members of the Company

FABBIRRELM

the lawful currency of the PRC

PEDEE &

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

BB RO BN BB F GRS

ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with the nominal value of HK$0.01 each

FABRAFEREENIBTHERER

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 5 October 2020
AABIF20208F 1085 B R A B R fE 5t &)

holder(s) of the Shares
[SELEST=DN

square meter(s)
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERMERXZMBRAF

U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

EEDEERRET



I 'am pleased to present the annual results and business review for the year
ended 31 December 2024 as well as the prospects for 2025 of Radiance
Holdings (Group) Company Limited (the "Company’, together with its

"o "o

subsidiaries, the “Group”, "we”, “us” or “our”).

The Group recorded fair value losses on certain of its investment properties for
the year ended 31 December 2024 with contracted sales prices declined and
weaker-than-expected occupancy rates and rental income amid a generally
weak market sentiment and the ongoing corrections in the real estate sector.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of the Group amounted to
RMB24,766.0 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 27.7%. Loss
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB9,111.2 million.

In 2024, the real estate market in China saw a year-on-year decline in
both investment and sales. However, macroeconomic regulation policies
underwent a significant shift, with the primary focus on “halting the decline
and stabilising the market” Over the year, a series of policies and measures
have been introduced intensively at all levels of the government of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), which aimed at optimising real estate
policies, lowering barriers and costs for homebuyers, and boosting market
confidence. On the sales side, down payment ratios and mortgage interest
rates hit historic lows, while adjustments to taxes such as deed tax and
value-added tax further reduced the cost of purchasing property. On the
supply side, initiatives such as the acquisition of commercial housing and the
revitalisation of idle land were implemented to foster the steady and healthy
development of the real estate market. The comprehensive restart of urban
village renovations and the redevelopment of dilapidated housing emerged
as key drivers for reducing inventory. Currently, first-tier and selected second-
tier cities have shown signs of stabilisation.

Prudent Operations and Commitment to Delivery

Amid market volatility, the Group took proactive steps to reduce its leverage
ratio and financial costs. As of 31 December 2024, the Group's outstanding
debt stood at approximately RMB24,602.2 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 16.4% compared to the same period in 2023. The weighted
average cost of debt for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
5.26%, down by approximately 0.73% year-on-year. In April 2024, it completed
the repayment of its USD bonds, settling all credit bonds issued in the public
market; and in July 2024, it successfully issued RMB550 million medium-
term notes. These actions reflect the Group's prudent operations and robust
financial fundamentals, which have been widely recognised by the market.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE R

In 2024, the Group remained steadfast in its commitment to the "guaranteed
delivery” initiative, honouring its promises to customers. It delivered over
27,000 high-quality residential units across 22 cities nationwide, with many
projects exceeding expectations by being completed ahead of schedule.
This achievement underscores the Group's exceptional ability to deliver on
its commitments and reinforces its strong brand reputation, rooted in a long-
term vision.

Prospects for 2025

In 2025, the Central People’s Government has outlined plans to implement
more proactive macroeconomic policies in order to boost domestic demand
and stabilise both the property and stock markets. Guided by policy measures
and market adjustments, the real estate sector in the PRC is expected
to gradually achieve "halting the decline and stabilising the market” The
ongoing adjustments in the real estate market are set to drive industry-
wide transformation and restructuring. The Central People’s Government will
accelerate the development of a new real estate model, improve the housing
supply system, and promote high-quality growth in the sector. The Group is
poised to seize emerging opportunities, embrace change, and actively refine
its business strategies. By building a new management model and focusing
on creating “quality homes,” the Group aims to align with evolving market and
industry demands, ensuring continued steady progress in the years ahead.

Appreciation

On behalf of members of the board (the "“Board”) of directors (the
"Director(s)”) of the Company, | would like to express the most sincere
appreciation to all the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)"),
investors, business partners and customers of the Group for their supports to,
and trust in, the Company, and all members of the management team and
all employees for their dedication and hard work in the preceding year. In
the future, the Group will continue to maintain a stable, balanced and high-
quality corporate development prospects, and adhere to the philosophy of
“Building Properties with Craftsmanship and Make Better Homes" to facilitate
urban development, help people live a better life, bring better products and
services to the industry and users and create higher value for shareholders
and investors.

Lam Ting Keung
Chairman
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
REWE

As of 31 December
BE+-B=+—8H

2023
TEI=F
Highlights of financial information HEERREE
Recognised revenue (RMB'000) BHERBA (NREFT) 24,766,044 34,248,685
Gross (loss)/profit (RMB'000) (18 /E=H (NEETFT) (5,799,239) 2,528,708
Loss attributable to the owners of the Company KABER ANEGLBEE (ARETT)

(RMB'000) (9,111,234) (581,248)
Gross profit margin (%) EFZE(%) -23.4% 7.38%
Net profit margin (%) T F] 2 (%) -40.6% ~1.27%
Loss per Share (basic and diluted) (RMB cents) EREE EAREE) (ARBEKSD) (225) (14)
Total assets (RMB'000) EEMAE ARETD) 96,657,346 129,777,988
Total indebtedness (RMB'000) EBRE ARBTT 24,602,216 29,428,437
Net indebtedness (RMB'000) @ FEEE AREBTT? 22,211,823 22,355,517
Equity attributable to owners of the parent company & AB#EB AEMGEEDR (ARETT)

(RMB'000) 14,833,422 23,952,919
Current ratio (times) © REMEER (B)© 1.3 13
Weighted average cost of indebtedness (%) N F BB A (%) 5.26% 5.99%
Net gearing ratio (%) © FEREE%)Y 92.06% 62.19%
Liability asset ratio after excluding receipts FEFERRIBRNE E & B (%)Y

in advance (%) © 68.35% 60.98%

Notes:

MI5E

Total indebtedness represents total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
proceeds from asset-backed securities, corporate bonds and senior notes.

Net indebtedness is calculated by total borrowings (including current and
long-term interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, current and long-
term proceeds from asset-backed securities, current and long-term senior
notes as well as current and long-term corporate bonds) minus cash and bank
balances (including restricted cash, pledged deposits as well as cash and cash
equivalents).

Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets divided by total current
liabilities as of the respective dates.

Weighted average cost of indebtedness represents the weighted average of
interest costs of all outstanding indebtedness.

Net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings (including current
and long-term interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, current and long-
term proceeds from asset-backed securities, current and long-term senior
notes as well as current and long-term corporate bonds) minus cash and bank
balances (including restricted cash, pledged deposits as well as cash and cash
equivalents) by total equity.

Liability asset ratio after excluding receipts in advance is calculated by dividing
total liabilities minus contract liabilities by total assets minus contract liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREF mR D

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND SALES

We focus on suitable locations in selected cities in eight major regions
of Yangtze River Delta, the Bohai Economic Rim, Southeastern China,
Eastern China, Central China, Southwestern China, Northwestern China and
Shenzhen/Huizhou. The table below sets forth our revenue generated from
each region, total gross floor area ("GFA”") delivered in each region and the
respective recognised average selling price (“ASP”") per square meter for each
region for the periods indicated:

MERERHE

RMPEEINR=ZA BB R ER - ER AE A
ERRBNKREHEERTHEEUE - FRETPFRE
BEMHEEENRA - SHEEITRREER (TRE
B UREHERBMENEEBETH KN THEE
(TFgEE) :

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=+—-HLEE

14 &mizhk (&) BRAR

2024 2023
—E_ME “ETCE
GFA  Recognised GFA Recognised
Revenue Delivered ASP Revenue Delivered ASP
BRf (5Y:5 BRAf B
WA EEER FHEE WA BEmE THEE
RMB’000 sq.m.  RMB/sq.m. RMB'000 % sq.m. RMB/sq.m
ARER/ ARER/
AR¥ETR EHK S AREETF T % THK EHK
Yangtze River Delta E=A 2,075,338 8.5 109,860 18,891 9,094,232 269 481558 18,885
Northwestern China (Bl 5,859,699 24.1 358,728 16,335 5,767 467 170 368,772 15,640
Southwestern China AR 1,311,142 5.4 88,510 14,814 2,059,481 6.1 200,496 10,272
Southeastern China ] 2,458,995 10.1 247,414 9,939 3,052,760 90 271310 11,252
Central China #dh 4,891,400 20.1 442,162 11,062 1,667,332 49 185,006 9,012
Eastern China £y 5,946,583 24.4 538,353 11,046 6,477,204 192 632,905 10234
Bohai Economic Rim REE 339,334 14 34,224 9,915 5,124,246 152 472,789 10,838
Shenzhen/Huizhou RE 1,464,591 6.0 100,671 14,548 571,552 17 45212 12,642
Total st 24,347,082 100 1,919,922 12,681 33,814,274 100 2,658,048 12721
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES KREME

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 27 investment properties with a total
GFA of approximately 1,348,098 square meters (“sq.m.”), and one investment
property held for future development with a total GFA of approximately
69,530 sg.m.

PROJECTS UNDER CONSTRUCTION

As at 31 December 2024, the total planned GFA of the Group's projects under
construction was approximately 10,566,823 sq.m., representing a decrease of
approximately 13.0% compared to the total planned GFA of approximately
12,141,245 sq.m. as at 31 December 2023.

20244 F 3R
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group's land bank GFA and total land bank GFA
attributable to the Group were approximately 19,397,626 sq.m. and 15,617,671

sg.m., respectively.

The table below sets forth the breakdown of the total land bank of the
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associate companies of the Group as at 31

December 2024:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE® RO

HE_Z_WE+_B=+—Hlb > AEBLHHEER
BEEMBREHEREBDBE D NNA19397,626FF F KK
15,617,671 F 5K ©

TREJN _Z_WNFE+_B=+—HEEEWRELS
BECERBEABME R EEM M FHFHREME :

Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BIR /TBst T FEEME
e BH HETERAAE BIEH G E R ERAE et
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHAK) (F75XK) (%)
Properties developed by the Group and its subsidiaries
TEERENBARRENYE
Chonggqing
BB
Chongging Tianchen Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 52,683 11,415 49.0%
EE AREE T/ BE
Chongging Jiangshan Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2024 69,489 165,326 57.6%
EE TWEE e/ BmE
Chongging Zhongyang King's Garden Residential/commercial 2019-2022 157925 71,208 96.0%
EE RREE e/ BE
Chongging Yujiang House Residential/commercial 2020 77,342 10,866 96.0%
EE IR e/ BE
Chongging Boshe Residential/commercial 2020 52,086 16,183 96.0%
EE HE e/ BE
Chongging Changjiang King's Garden Residential/commercial 2020 59,031 14,190 96.0%
EE RI#HE e/ BE
Chongging Jinhui City Phase IV Residential/commercial 2018 135,452 75,836 96.0%
EE F IR e/ BE
Chongging Jinhui City Phase V Office building/commercial 2026 9932 71,235 96.0%
EE EEHNRAR YN Y
Chongging Binjiang Complex Commercial 2024 12,738 18,522 96.0%
EE BiliRa HES
Chongging Jinhui Plaza Commercial 2015 28,229 123,801 96.0%
EE EEES SES
Chongging Jinhui Elite’s Mansion Residential 2022 25,896 14,343 96.0%
EE RHREIR FE
Chongging Caihu Yunjing Residential 2024 44,496 32,032 96.0%
EE FHMER FE
Chongging Tanzikou Residential 2024 25,006 70,613 96.0%
EE #¥0 FE
Chongging Hushan Elite’s Mansion Phase | Residential/commercial 2024 105,693 76,098 48.0%
EE WUEE—H e/ BE
Chongging Hushan Elite’s Mansion Phase Il Residential/commercial 2024 67,358 150,713 48.0%
EE MUEE " e/ BE
Chengdu Jinhui New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2021 41,112 7,493 96.0%
% SEESTERE e/ BE
Chengdu Fenggi Yunjing Residential 2024 46,094 - 96.0%
% BEER F=
Subtotal of Chongging 929,874
BB/t
Subtotal of interests in Chongging 714,955

EERE/) st
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR AN
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BTt T FEEMG
& EE EEIEREAR BTEH EtER mESEH FEfLtE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FHHK (%)
Wuhan
HiE
Wuhan Jinhui City Residential/commercial 2026 188,736 601,832 96.0%
HE SIEH [EP
Wuhan Jiangshan Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2024 128,280 261,969 38.4%
HE IMEE [EP
Wuhan Jiangshan Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2027 151,926 741,654 62.4%
HE TWEE =/ HE
Wuhan New Block Lakeside Residential/commercial 2020 69,985 24,728 96.0%
HE BE [EP
Xiangyang Xiangyang New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2025 172,060 364,468 72.0%
E ZRESEN FE/ ¥
Changsha Hongtao Jade Bay Phase | Residential 2018 22,771 3,249 96.0%
=8 BEERE—H FE
Changsha Hongtao Jade Bay Phase Il Residential/commercial 2025 37,374 16,413 96.0%
=8 BEERETH [EP
Changsha Xingyu Academy Residential/commercial 2024 105,625 16,800 96.0%
=8 EREMN [EP
Changsha Xingyue Yundi Residential/commercial 2026 115,142 209,076 96.0%
=8 EWELR [EP
Hefei Land parcel 06, Hefei New Station Residential/commercial 2025 61,928 89,567 96.0%
ae S IE#TiL06 1R [EP
Hefei New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2021 100,289 2,416 67.2%
aie B 2R FE /¥
Hefei Cloudworld Garden Residential 2020 16,262 347 96.0%
aie ESTEE FE
Hefei Xin'an Garden Residential/commercial 2021 34,505 - 96.0%
aie MR FE /¥
Hefei Xin'an Yayuan Residential/commercial 2023 64,532 22,928 96.0%
aie ML [ERP
Hefei Xizi Garden Residential 2020 104,760 2,955 22.1%
A EFIEE e
Hefei Yunman Xijing Residential/commercial 2024 60,128 152,074 96.0%
= EERIE [ERP
Subtotal of Wuhan 2,510,476
BRI
Subtotal of interests in Wuhan 1,919,615

HERE/) st
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR AN
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
'R FEs TitfkeE RERBFR
& EE ERXERAAE BIER G ER mRasE FEfL S
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (AR (%)
Beijing
blA
Beijing Chaoyang Port No.1 Block Office building 2022 73,891 175,469 96.0%
IR HAG ORI YN
Beijing Radiance Plaza Office building/commercial 2016 11,423 106,212 96.0%
IR EEAE YN Ve
Tianjin Xueshi Garden Residential/commercial 2023 80,124 715 96.0%
PN SATEE e/ BE
Tianjin Yungi Garden Residential/commercial 2025 40,442 33,490 96.0%
PN ERtE T/ BE
Tianjin Yunhui Garden Residential/commercial 2026 36,586 91,460 96.0%
PN ERTtE T/ BE
Tianjin Yunque Garden Residential/commercial 2022 42,078 374 96.0%
PN EREE T/ BE
Tianjin Hu'an Garden Residential/commercial 2021 98,930 5,602 96.0%
PN WETLE T/ BE
Tianjin Yuncui Gardan Residential/commercial 2021 25,236 2,825 96.0%
PN EETE T/ BE
Tianjin Mingzhu Garden Residential/commercial 2025 81,437 219,441 96.0%
PN HETE e/ BE
Langfang New Block Riverside Garden Residential/commercial 2026 167,549 167,445 96.0%
[ERLh BYKETER e/ BE
Shijiazhuang New Block Star Residential/commercial 2023 39,389 7,435 96.0%
ARHE BYER e/ BE
Shijiazhuang Jinhui Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 65,052 8,010 52.8%
ARHE TEEE e/ BE
Shijiazhuang New Block (Pinyuan) Residential 2020 48,378 5,801 32.6%
ARHE B (RE) =
Shijiazhuang West District of New Block Shangfu Residential/commercial 2023 52,543 88 96.0%
ARHE BrEMAR e/ BE
Shijiazhuang East District of New Block Shangfu Residential 2025 35,286 88,456 96.0%
ARHE BrERRE =
Shijiazhuang Kaiyuan House Residential/commercial 2022 54,619 5823 96.0%
ARHE 7T e/ BE
Shijiazhuang New Block Yayuan Residential/commercial 2025 45,729 29,698 76.8%
ARHE BYHKE e/ BE
Shenyang Jiangshan Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 127,325 14,724 96.0%
& TWEE e/ BE
Shenyang Land parcel 88-1, Shenyang Yuhong Residential/commercial 2026 55,258 150,522 96.0%
New Town
&b B R AR I e8- 11 1R s/ B
Subtotal of Beijing 1,113,590
I5shEt
Subtotal of interests in Beijing 1,056,209

b/ at
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ES
BEENmR AN
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BTt T FEEMG
& EE EEIEREAR BTEH EtER mESEH FEfLtE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FHHK (%)
Shanghai
L&
Huai'an Jinhui City Phase Il Residential/commercial 2023 108,819 824 97.4%
EZ SEHR=H [EP
Huai'an Jinhui City Square Residential/commercial/ 2025 93,398 272,971 57.6%
office building
EZ SIBETES ERYESEVE YN
Huai'an Jinhui City Phase Il Residential/commercial 2020 86,833 3,018 96.0%
EZ T8 e/ B
Huai'an Jinhui Swan Bay Phase | Residential/commercial 2016 66,440 - 96.0%
EZ SEXEE—HR e/ B
Huai'an Jinhui Swan Bay Phase Il Residential/commercial 2020 63,426 - 96.0%
EZ SEXEE R e/ B
Huai'an Jinhui Four Seasons Community Phase Il Residential/commercial 2021 72,902 18,876 96.0%
EZ MEEERE_B e/ B
Huai'an Jinhui Four Seasons Community Phase | Residential/commercial 2024 70,750 60,015 96.0%
EZ mE&ERE—B e/ B
Huai'an New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2024 28,600 25,526 96.0%
EZ BIIERE e/ B
Huai'an New Block Dongjun Residential/commercial 2024 56,712 66,784 96.0%
HER BT R e/ B
Huai'an New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2024 29312 80,822 96.0%
EZ BIER e/ B
Huai'an New Block Academy 2 Residential/commercial 2026 52,215 135,149 96.0%
EZ B ER e/ B
Huai'an New Block Academy 3 Residential 2026 56,833 183,403 96.0%
ER BIER £
Huai'an New Block Academy 4 Residential 2025 56,913 184,843 96.0%
ER B E54 £
Huai'an World City Phase 5 Residential/commercial 2027 20,136 65,538 96.0%
EZ HRRAH e/ B
Lianyungang Jinhui Four Seasons Residential/commercial 2019 223,045 48,647 96.0%
BEA MEE1E e/ B
Lianyungang Jinhui Four Seasons Guanlan Residential 2021 49,756 8,200 96.0%
BEA MEEEEE £
Lianyungang Yunting Riverside Residential 2024 97,508 48,434 96.0%
ETE EREKE £
Lianyungang Parcel LTC2020-19 Residential 2023 34,819 11,236 48.0%
ETE LTC2020-19%E 3t 3% £
Lianyungang Yundi Residential/commercial 2025 165,929 516,476 96.0%
BEEA Bl e/ B
Lianyungang Peninsula Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2024 61,705 101,704 96.0%
ETE FEEH e/ B
Lianyungang Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2026 93,032 267,947 96.0%
ETE EH e/ B
Lianyungang Yunxie Residential 2026 59,397 175,488 96.0%
BEA EH £
Lianyungang Outlets Commercial 2025 108,623 148,258 96.0%
ETE B RH =E
Yancheng Jinhui City Residential/commercial 2027 76,441 111,834 96.0%
B ZIEW e/ B
Yancheng Jinhui New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2021 31,180 15,126 96.0%
& SBES LR e/ B
Yancheng Jinhui Tongyin Yunshang Residential/commercial 2024 46,650 9,179 52.8%
& TRBRE R e/ B
Yancheng Junhefu Residential/commercial 2026 72422 196,318 49.0%
2 B T/
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE S wmEk D
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
B st T FEEME
& EE EEIEREAR BTEH EtER mESEH FEfLtE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FHHK (%)
Shanghai (Continued)
L& @)
Xuzhou Xinbu Lanting Residential/commercial 2023 55,982 - 96.0%
M B HRE FE/ ¥
Zhenjiang Jinhui Four Seasons Guanlan Residential/commercial/ 2026 37,422 128,422 96.0%
hotel
T MEGREE s/ EE/ BiE
Zhenjiang New Block Xinyuan Residential 2027 76,715 177,991 96.0%
[P B ER £
Zhenjiang Yundu Shangyuan Residential 2024 50,041 10,345 96.0%
[P SR P £
Yangzhou New Block Avenue Residential/commercial 2024 128,052 39,992 96.0%
M BIRE e/ B
Yangzhou Eden Garden Residential/commercial 2021 52,581 4607 32.0%
#M RREE e/ B
Yangzhou Qihu Cloud Atrium Residential/commercial 2024 93,813 73,618 96.0%
M BHERE e/ B
Yangzhou Yuedu Cloud Atrium Residential/commercial 2024 43,528 23,171 47.0%
M REEE e/ B
Hangzhou Jiushang Elite’s Mansion Residential 2020 64,505 18,587 96.0%
AN UNCES FE
Hangzhou Ziya Elite's Mansion Residential 2020 11,349 15,606 96.0%
AN REZE FE
Shaoxing New Block Guanlan Garden Residential/commercial 2022 70,150 33,240 96.0%
B &S B RE e/ B
Shaoxing Shaoxing Mirror Lake Residential/commercial 2022 48,883 12,879 96.0%
BE BE A e/ B
Shaoxing Peninsula Elite’s Mansion Residential 2022 57,812 7,707 96.0%
BE *EEER FE
Shaoxing Jingyue Elite's Mansion Residential 2023 63,210 76,700 96.0%
B BHEER FE
Shaoxing Huiyi Elite's Yunting Residential/commercial 2025 29,366 89,150 96.0%
BE 1Bk E R e/ B
Suzhou Sea Breeze Garden Residential/commercial 2020 18,866 8,551 96.0%
B BERETE e/ B
Suzhou New Block Four Seasons Garden Phase | Residential 2021 25,934 6,573 96.0%
B &4 METEE—H FE
Suzhou New Block Four Seasons Garden Phase Il Residential 2022 28,102 10,817 96.0%
B &4 METEE 8 FE
Suzhou Qianwan Commercial Center Commercial 2019 39,428 45,567 96.0%
B EEBEPL =ES
Suzhou Runyuan Mansion Yayuan Residential 2021 43,611 727 96.0%
B JPIE AR =i 27 FE
Suzhou New Block Jiang Lai Residential/commercial 2027 85,305 135,679 96.0%
B &4 1k e/ B
Suzhou Taicang Block No.17 Commercial 2025 35,504 72,999 96.0%
B KB 1757 SES
Suzhou Riverside Yunjing Garden Residential/commercial 2023 41,941 15,968 67.2%
B BAIERTEE e/ B
Suzhou Runyuan King's Garden Residential 2019 80,669 4976 96.0%
BN BTRETE (e
Nantong Jinhui Elite's Mansion Residential 2024 38,049 44,438 96.0%
[ 1BEE R FE
Wuxi Xidong King's Garden Residential 2023 128,379 34,273 96.0%
Es BRERIREE £
Shanghai Jinhui Tiancui Garden Residential 2019 32,142 7,869 96.0%
i} ERBRER £
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Ey
EEEMNmRDH
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
'R FEs TitfkeE RERBFR
& EHH ERFERIME BIER G ER mRasE FEfL S
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (AR (%)
Shanghai (Continued)
L& (&)
Shanghai Jingang Commercial Plaza Commercial 2017 31438 46,484 96.0%
+iE EBEERS EES
Shanghai Shanghai Jiulong Hotel Comm/ercial/hotel 2024 1,943 - 96.0%
+E LFENEEE EEYS
Ningbo Huiyi Yunting Residential/commercial 2022 26,477 107 96.0%
S BRES e/ BE
Ningbo Jiangyue Waterflow Residential/commercial 2024 122,292 10,686 57.6%
S TLHLE R e/ BE
Ningbo Zilin Yunting Residential/commercial ~ To be confirmed 48,012 123,720 96.0%
S EMER T/ BE BE
Ningbo Chengyang Yunfu Residential/commercial 2024 25,091 35731 96.0%
=) WREFF T/ BE
Ningbo Yuyao Meishan Road Project Residential/commercial ~ To be confirmed 54,476 135,375 96.0%
S RUKIEIRIEE e/ BE BE
Subtotal of Shanghai 4,209,171
iS-Z\
Subtotal of interests in Shanghai 3,811,293
LBt
Xi'an
fikss
Xi'an Jinghe Town Residential/commercial 2028 697,823 1,947,836 96.0%
Az ESEITIS e/ BE
Xi'an Academy Mansion Residential/commercial 2021 46,649 11,558 96.0%
Az e s/
Xi'an New Block Avenue Residential/commercial 2027 189,256 812,326 96.0%
Az BHRE e/ BE
Xi'an Jinhui World City Upper East Side Phase | Residential/commercial 2018 43,653 15,236 96.0%
[k SRR FRE—H s/
Xi'an Jinhui World City Upper East Side Phase Il Residential/commercial 2020 22,384 - 96.0%
ks EEERE LRE_H e/ BE
Xi'an Gaoxin Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2021 37,326 1,139 96.0%
Az BMER e/ BE
Xi'an Jinhui Chang'an Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2024 53,859 51,556 96.0%
ik EEERER e/ BE
Xi'an Jinhui New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2020 39,412 2,378 96.0%
ks ERESTER e/ BE
Xi'an Jinhui East King's Garden Residential/commercial/ 2024 127,015 146,576 96.0%
hotel
ks TIERRAHE T/ BE/BE
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase A1-2 Residential/commercial 2016 60,300 15,259 96.0%
iy EIEHRIFAT-280 e/ BE
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase A3 Residential/commercial 2019 40,774 26,828 96.0%
iy TIEHRIMAIH e/ BE
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase B1-2 Residential/commercial 2016 82,410 - 96.0%
iy SIEHRB1-28 e/ BE
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase B3 Residential/commercial 2021 26,000 3,849 96.0%
iy EIE R IEB3HA e/ BE
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase C1 Residential/commercial 2019 48,700 345 96.0%
iy SIEERBCIHB e/ HE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFA®mRD

Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
B st T FEEME
& EE EEIEREAR BTEH EtER mESEH FEfLtE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FFHK) (FHHK (%)
Xi'an (Continued)
AR (8)
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase C2 Residential/commercial 2021 38,780 29,455 96.0%
[ SR RIRCOH FE/ ¥
Xi'an Jinhui World City Block D Residential/commercial 2022 126,133 - 96.0%
[ SEH RIROMIR FE/ ¥
Xi'an Jinhui World City Block G Residential/commercial 2020 28,399 35,781 96.0%
S SEHRIRCHIE FE/ ¥
Xi'an Jinhui Global Plaza Phase | Office building/commercial 2017 14,402 83,482 96.0%
S SRRIKES— 1 N =Y ES
Xi'an Jinhui Global Plaza Phase Il Office building/commercial 2020 32,247 262,741 96.0%
[ SIRIRIKES ZH N =Y ES
Xi'an Jinhui World City Block I/) Residential/commercial 2028 115,320 581,335 96.0%
[ SIEH R/ IR FE/ /¥
Xi'an Jinhui Building (International Plaza) Office building/commercial 2015 15,908 48,685 96.0%
[ SR RE ERES) N =Y E
Xi'an Chuangzhi Building Office building/commercial 2019 6,035 20,497 96.0%
[ BIEKE N =Y ES
Xi'an Xi'an Jinhui Tianyu Baili Square Commercial 2029 35,237 280,827 96.0%
[ AREBAFHERS [EES
Xi'an Xi'an Jinhui Tianyu Fengxi Elite’s Mansion  Residential/commercial 2024 38,775 34,254 96.0%
[ AREBATFEEEZE FE/ /¥
Zhengzhou Jinhui New Block Garden Residential 2023 48,549 2,265 96.0%
=) SBES TR FE
Zhengzhou Jinhui Youbu Lanting Residential 2024 47,062 154,535 96.0%
=) ETRESHE FE
Zhengzhou Jinhui Youbu Yunting Residential 2026 33,704 109,965 96.0%
=) TRBESEE FE
Subtotal of Xi'an 4,678,708
AR5t
Subtotal of interests in Xi'an 4491,560

mE /) st
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR AN
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
B st T FEEME
& EE EEIEREAR BTEH EtER mESEH FEfLtE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FHHK (%)
Fujian
g
Quanzhou Shishi Jinhui City Phase | Residential/commercial 2021 38,866 13,121 81.6%
EM BhiEEN—H FE/ ¥
Quanzhou Shishi Jinhui City Phase Il Residential/commercial 2025 183,643 435,568 81.6%
M BREEN FE/ ¥
Quanzhou Jinhui New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2023 30,865 2,952 96.0%
M SRESEN FE/ ¥
Quanzhou Parcel No. 11 at Luojiang Residential/commercial 2023 64,921 11,224 25.0%
M AR Sl FE/ ¥
Quanzhou Land parcel J-05-01 at Anxi Residential/commercial 2023 20,267 - 96.0%
M 2% )-05-013137 FE/ ¥
Quanzhou Shishi Heming Residential/commercial 2023 31,959 - 49.0%
M AREAIRIER FE/ ¥
Quanzhou Parcel 52021-13 in Shishi Residential/commercial 2025 21,879 78,230 81.6%
S AHIS2021-1350 38 [EP
Quanzhou Parcel 52021-14 in Shishi Residential/commercial 2025 19,646 71,115 81.6%
M FBIS2021-145k 3% FE/ ¥
Fuzhou Jinhui New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2021 19,891 7,894 96.0%
&M SRBES TR FE/ ¥
Fuzhou Jinhui Lanlinxuan Residential/commercial 2021 63,518 14,453 96.0%
&M SERME FE/ ¥
Fuzhou Huai‘an Phase | Residential/commercial 2014 266,962 3,488 57.6%
B EZ—H FE/ /¥
Fuzhou Huai'an Phase Il Residential/commercial 2020 357,309 16,171 57.6%
B HEZ 1 FE/ /¥
Fuzhou Huai'an Phase Il Residential 2025 360,992 82,945 57.6%
&M EL=H FE
Fuzhou Huai'an Phase V Residential 2016 56,873 7,631 57.6%
&M EZHH FE
Fuzhou Radiance Plaza Commercial 1999 1,141 16,760 96.0%
&M TBAE [EES
Fuzhou Jinhui New Block Mansion Residential/commercial 2023 22,088 25,113 96.0%
&M SBES AR FE/ ¥
Fuging New Block Avenue Residential/commercial 2021 43,071 3,359 96.0%
BA B KE FE/ ¥
Fuging Jiangshan Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 49,504 8,454 37.4%
BA TWEE FE/ /¥
Fuging Guanlan Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 49,440 759 96.0%
BA BREEE FE/ /¥
Fuging New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2020 53,168 4,083 34.6%
BA BEE® FE/ /¥
Fuging New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2022 45,138 475 49.0%
BA BHIEE FE/ /¥
Fuging East Elite’s Mansion Residential 2022 16,330 1,720 49.0%
BA HEEE FE

22
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE S wmEk D
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
B st T FEEME
& EE EEIEREAR BTEH EtER mESEH FEfLtE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FHHK (%)
Fujian (Continued)
BE®
Fuging Zhongyang King's Garden Residential/commercial 2022 65,225 1,166 67.2%
BA RREEE FE/ ¥
Fuging Land Parcel No.2021 Lot-13 Residential/commercial 2025 91,256 199,094 57.6%
BA 202118-135R3 38 [EP
Foshan New Block Avenue Residential/commercial 2021 43523 12,403 96.0%
L B KE FE/ ¥
Foshan Lingnan Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2021 17,165 17,818 96.0%
L BEEE FE/ ¥
Foshan New Block Academy Residential 2020 23,275 10,635 48.0%
L B 2R FE
Foshan Yunjing Garden Residential/commercial 2025 44207 39,178 96.0%
L ZREE FE/ ¥
Foshan Yunzhu Garden Residential/commercial 2025 66,439 209,405 96.0%
L THEE FE/ ¥
Huizhou Dongdi Huayuan Residential/commercial 2020 19,231 14,514 96.0%
B RIRER FE/ ¥
Huizhou Jinhui Elegant Pavilion Residential/commercial 2021-2022 49915 30,770 96.0%
B SERMET FE/ ¥
Huizhou New Block Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 12,415 11,978 96.0%
B (LB /N:) FE/ ¥
Huizhou Gaoling Phase Il Residential/commercial 2024 67,841 321,050 96.0%
B Sk -1 FE/ ¥
Huizhou Land parcel at Kaoling Township, Residential/commercial 2024 39,344 160,683 96.0%
Qiuchang Street, Huiyang District
£l ERENRHESEN IR e/ B
Huizhou Land parcel at Jiangjun Road, Qiuchang  Residential/commercial 2024 43,506 148,330 96.0%
Street, Huiyang District
B EREMREERERMIE FE/ ¥
Huizhou North of Baiyun district, 67,000 sq.m Residential/commercial 2026 72,128 353,283 96.0%
B BEL678A FE/ ¥
Subtotal of Fujian 2,335,822
‘RN
Subtotal of interests in Fujian 2,015,584
B mE
Subtotal of land bank developed by the Group and its subsidiaries 15,777,641
FEARENEBATREN LIRS
Subtotal of interests in the land bank developed by the Group and its subsidiaries 14,009,215

FEEREMBARREN D EEED Nt
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEMNmRDH
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
'R FEs TitfkeE RERBFR
& EE ERXERAAE BIER G ER mRasE FEfL S
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (FHXK) (%)
Properties developed by the Group’s joint ventures and associates
FEERELERMEATBENYE
Chongging
£
Chongging Luming House Residential/commercial 2021 157,427 39,594 32.6%
E 4 B T/ BE
Chongging Jinke Jinhui Meiyuan Residential/commercial 2018-2021 177,239 26,481 47.0%
E 4 EReBER T/ BE
Chongging Jinke Jinhui Bocui Mountain Residential/commercial 2018-2021 188,419 17179 47.0%
E 4 EREEERL T/ BE
Chongging Liyue Jiangshan Residential/commercial 2019-2023 61,919 25,944 19.2%
BB BRI T/ BE
Chengdu Midea Jinhui Town Residential 2022 41,940 1,443 48.0%
% 8« 2ER T
Chengdu Peninsula Elite's Mansion Community Residential/commercial 2019 39,038 12,925 48.0%
Phase |
% FEEE B e/ BE
Chengdu Peninsula Elite's Mansion Community Residential/commercial 2019 71,472 18,753 48.0%
Phase Il
s LEEENE_H £E/ B
Subtotal of Chongging 142,319
BB/
Subtotal of interests in Chongging 54,340
BEED/E
Wuhan
HE
Hefei Duhui City Residential/commercial 2022-2023 109,852 22,584 24.0%
& HE L tE/HE
Changsha Jinhui Weichu Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 60,331 3,968 48.0%
=30 ESRIERTEER tE/HE
Jingzhou Chuyue Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 51,187 33728 48.0%
FM RHEE tE/HE
Subtotal of Wuhan 60,280
EENE
Subtotal of interests in Wuhan 23,514

EUERE/) s
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERmRIN
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
'R FEs TR RERBFR
& EE ERXERAAE BIER G ER mRasE FEfL S
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (FHXK) (%)
Beijing
bln
Tianjin Yonghe Yayuan Residential 2027 45,437 90,126 38.4%
PN RIS =
Tianjin Yunzhu Garden Residential/commercial 2027 62,024 107,526 57.6%
PN EETE e/ BE
Shijiazhuang Jinke Tianyu Community Residential 2026 56,946 161,604 33.6%
ARHE ERREHE =
Shijiazhuang Jinke Bocui Garden Residential 2019 37,004 - 24.0%
ARHE ERBRE =
Shenyang Jimei Wanxiang Residential/commercial 2020 78,517 17,651 31.7%
& EXER T/ BE
Beijing Daxing Huang Village Project Residential/commercial 2025 108,244 341,799 24.0%
IR AEENIER e/ BE
Subtotal of Beijing 718,706
SR
Subtotal of interests in Beijing 238,466
SR Bt
Shanghai
L&
Huai'an Southern Plot of City Plaza Residential 2026 47869 155,161 57.6%
HZ W ESE iR =
Huai'an Northern Plot of City Plaza Residential 2026 46,677 151,284 57.6%
HEZ YT 35 363 =
Lianyungang New Block Academy Residential 2020 51452 23,245 49.0%
EEE B ER %
Lianyungang Gaoxin Elite's Mansion Residential 2023 79,720 15,659 48.0%
EEE BMER %
Lianyungang New Block Garden Phase | Residential/commercial 2023 122,205 - 8.7%
BEHE BHTEE—H# e/ BE
Lianyungang New Block Garden Phase Il Residential/commercial 2022 124,566 - 8.7%
BEEE BHTEE e/ BE
Lianyungang New Block Garden Phase Ill Residential/commercial 2024 131,888 48,776 8.7%
BELHE BHTEE=H e/ BE
Nanjing Time Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 131,964 5,454 47.0%
e ESEIR T e/ BE
Nanjing Mansion Yayuan Residential/commercial 2019 28,257 2,144 57.6%
AR BERRD e/ BE
Yangzhou Tang Yuan Residential/commercial 2020 72,660 4,243 48.0%
M 258 e/ BE
Xuzhou Jiangshan Yunjing Community Residential/commercial 2028 26,358 87,181 48.0%
=M IUERME e/ BE
Xuzhou Jiangshan Yunjing Community Residential/commercial 2024 25,157 80,801 48.0%
=M IUERME e/ BE
Xuzhou Jiangshan Yunjing Community Residential 2027 24,514 83,246 48.0%
=M IUERME %
Xuzhou New Block Riverside Residential/commercial 2021 50,212 14,087 48.0%
N BYKE e/ BE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR AN
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
B st T FEEME
& EE EEIEREAR BTEH EtER mESEH FEfLtE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FFHK) (FHHK (%)
Shanghai (Continued)
L& @)
Hangzhou Zizhangtai Apartment Residential 2020 68,263 96,492 49.0%
AN KEBEEAB FE
Hangzhou Huiyi Elite’s Mansion Residential 2020 59,668 42,164 47.0%
AN BiREE FE
Shaoxing Guanlan Yunting Residential 2025 117,391 300,012 48.0%
B BREZERE FE
Ningbo Jinhui & Powerlong Plaza Residential/commercial 2023 86,528 283,991 47.0%
B CEERRTES FE/ ¥
Suzhou Lanxi Bay Yuyuan Residential 2019 66,738 10,496 30.7%
ERM REEER FE
Suzhou Shanghu King's Garden Residential 2019 46,004 20,348 31.7%
B FHEETR FE
Suzhou Sea Time Garden Residential 2020 69,206 40,066 15.4%
B B ERELTERE FE
Suzhou Huaman Seasons Garden Residential 2020 32,044 345 49.0%
B TtBmETER FE
Suzhou Jiangnan Elite's Mansion Garden Phase | Residential 2020 24,583 15,504 47.0%
B IEEEEE—H FE
Suzhou Jiangnan Elite's Mansion Garden Phase Il Residential 2021 30,760 16,662 47.0%
B IEEECEZH FE
Suzhou Jiangnan Elite’s Mansion Garden Phase Il Commercial/office building 2024 7,239 53,459 47.0%
B IEEETEE=H GEYS VN
Subtotal of Shanghai 1,550,820
et
Subtotal of interests in Shanghai 733,797
LiEtERNE
Xi'an
i
Xi'an Jinhui Mansion Residential/commercial 2017 64,269 18,544 96.0%
Az EBIRAT FE/ B
Xi'an Rosefinch House Residential/commercial/car 2029 58,603 321,306 48.0%
parking
[ REMR FEEHE B
Zhengzhou Binhe Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2023 88,578 18,473 49.0%
=) TREAFER fxE/HE
Subtotal of Xi'an 358,323
FERE
Subtotal of interests in Xi'an 181,073

PR a/) st
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEMNmRAN
Actual/
Estimated Gross Attributable
Main Planned Usage Completion Land Bank Interests Held
Region Project of Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BTt T FEEMG
& EE EEIEREAR BTEH EtER mESEH FEfLtE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FHHK (%)
Fujian
RE
Fuzhou Lexin Garden Residential/commercial 2022 125,737 40,199 31.7%
B SETEE [EP
Fuzhou Yuzhou Jinhui Zhongyang Garden Residential/commercial/ 2020 45,134 14,834 32.6%
office building
B BINEEHRIEE ERYASEVE YN
Fuzhou Jinhui Longyue Garden District 1 Residential 2022 86,558 48,123 57.6%
&M TREETE—&E £
Fuzhou Jinhui Longyue Garden District 2 Residential/commercial 2019 19,163 3,183 57.6%
&M CTRREZTE_R e/ B
Fuzhou Guanlan Mansion Residential/commercial 2026 19,515 59,439 47.0%
&M BEAE e/ B
Fuqging Bright Binjiang Residential/commercial 2021 99,992 12,323 47.0%
=N} BIRET e/ B
Fuqging Bright Tianjing Residential/commercial 2021 26,133 12 47.0%
=N} BIRKIE e/ B
Fuqging Bright Tianyue Residential/commercial 2021 36,757 6,951 15.0%
=N} BEXIR e/ B
Fuqging City Plaza Residential/commercial 2021 75,854 17,505 48.0%
=N} i E 5 e/ B
Fuging Boyue Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 41,675 1,836 32.0%
=N} RN e/ B
Shangrao Shangrao Tongluowan Residential/commercial 2027 232,917 520,198 49.0%
s FEEmERE e/ B
Foshan Elite’s Mansion Mingyuan Residential/commercial 2021 39,844 64,090 49.0%
L EEAR e/ B
Huizhou Baoliyue Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 27,990 844 32.0%
£l RERALE e/ B
Subtotal of Fujian 789,537
‘RN
Subtotal of interests in Fujian 377,265
BEEm/ st
Subtotal of land bank developed by the Group’s joint ventures and associates 3,619,985
FERGECERBMEQATREN LG
Subtotal of interests in the land bank developed by the Group’s joint ventures and associates 1,608,456
FEEGECERBMEATRBEN LM FEBEED DT
gta\ 19,397,626
ast
Total Eterests 15,617,671
REmEs
Note: MIEE -

FEFHIMAERNEEREREENERIYEIHEERZER
BRRFHEEREERR (WFETNENBEEERRNFIER
RABRYENBERER -IFEELERNBEEMS  BREEE
R BAEBEERAEEPHREETRE

The GFA of the Group's land bank includes (i) GFA available for sale and total rentable
GFA of completed projects; (ii) total GFA for properties under development; and (iii)
total GFA for properties held for future development. In respect of the non-wholly
owned projects, the GFA will be adjusted according to the equity interests of the Group
in relevant projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE R

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the Group
was approximately RMB24,766.0 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 27.7% as compared to approximately RMB34,248.7 million of
the corresponding period last year. Our revenue mainly derived from the
development and sales of the Group's residential properties and commercial
properties. We also derived revenue from leasing of commercial properties,
provision of management consulting services for the overall operation of
property projects to our joint ventures and associates and provision hotel
services.

The table below sets forth the information related to our revenue for the
periods indicated:

R 5[0l BE

WA

HES_ME+_B=+—HIEHFE AEEKALA
R#24,766.0B 8T REFRPANAANEME34248 7B E T
BE27 7% MARBEEFEREAEBNTTWEREE
MENRERHEE AEBTRUEEEREYE - AYE
BHENERESEASESLEMBE QB RHEEALARE
TR A S RS MR UL A ©

TR EARA M A :

Year ended 31 December

BE+_-_A=+—HLEE

28 @R (EE) BRAS

2024 2023

—EmEF TETZF
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AR¥TT AREFT %
Property development and sales MERERHE 24,347,082 98.3 33,814,274 98.7
Residential = 23,356,433 94.3 33,098,817 96.6
Commercial [EES 990,649 4.0 715,457 2.1
Property leasing MERE 332,818 1.3 416,878 12
Management consulting services BIRBHRTE 14,722 0.1 17,533 0.1
Hotel services TEIE RS 71,422 0.3 - -
Total 4t 24,766,044 100 34,248,685 100

Revenue from Property Development and Sales

As of 31 December 2024, the revenue from property development and
sales was approximately RMB24,347.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 28.0% as compared to approximately RMB33,814.3 million of
the corresponding period last year. The decrease in the Group's revenue from
property development and sales was primarily attributable to a decrease
in the total GFA delivered by the Group due to the generally weak market
sentiment in the PRC and adjustments in the real estate industry which has
posed downward pressure on the Group’s contracted sales prices during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Rental Income

Revenue from property leasing consists of recurring rental revenue from
leasing our commercial properties, such as office buildings, shopping malls
and shopping streets. Our rental income decreased by approximately 20% to
approximately RMB332.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately RMB416.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 caused
by decline of business economic environment leading to lower than expected
occupancy rates and rental levels of properties during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Management Consulting Services

The Group provides management consulting services to its joint ventures
and associates, such services mainly include management consultation
services provided to these entities in connection with the construction,
sales and marketing of properties, and overall project management during
the development and sales of properties. Our revenue from management
consulting services decreased by approximately 16% to approximately
RMB14.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately
RMB17.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly
due the decrease in scale of projects developed by our joint ventures and
associates to which we provided management consulting services.

Hotel services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded revenue
amounting to RMB71.4 million from the provision of hotel services.

Cost of Sales

Cost of property development and sales mainly consists of construction
costs, land acquisition costs and capitalized interest. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, our cost of sales amounted to approximately
RMB30,565.3 million, representing a decrease of 3.6% as compared to that of
RMB31,720 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily
attributable to a decrease in the total GFA delivered and the increase in the
Group's provision for impairment of inventories during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Gross Loss and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded gross loss of approximately RMB5,799.2 million, as compared to
gross profit of RMB2,528.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group recorded negative gross margin of approximately 23.4% for
the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to gross profit margin of
approximately 7.4% for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Finance Income

The Group'’s finance income primarily consists of interest income from
bank deposits, interest income from funds the Group advanced to our joint
ventures and associates and interest received from third parties. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's finance cost was approximately
RMB21.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately 59.0% as compared
to approximately RMB51.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which was mainly due to the decrease in average bank deposits of the Group
as a result of the Group's efforts in settling its outstanding debts during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

BERE® RO

EIRE AR
AEEBGECELRBE AT IRHEIELHRE  HER
KEIEOERYERERHEBRTAZSEERER
MEHEREEUAEEEOERREHEESZARG B
BAAREMBBRARBEE S _=F+"A=+—HI
FEHARKI/SBEETHR LI NNEREE S _NE+_
B=+—HLEEEYNARK47EET TESHENKRMA
REEESAARFNEECERBEATHENEEIEE
BFf#EL o

B 5 BR 75
BE_ZNF+_B=+—RHLEFE BRHAESRSES
FEBEFRBEAAREN4BET-

THE WA

MERBERBERATEBREREIMA DM IRERA X
EXMEAE - BE_SZ_NFE+_B=+—HIEEE
ERENBARIE653EBT BHEE_S_=ZF+_
B=+—BLEEA AR 72088 TR13.6% TEEF
ARAEEERNERERBROAEE T NE+Z
B=t—HIFEAEENTEREREEGINAMER-

EEREFFE

ER Xt - BE S _ME+_A=+—HILtEE
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EFEA)B497.4%°

WA

AEBNHBERATEGREETEREENFBEBA B
AEENGELERBMEQNRNRNESMELENTIBIWA
UERBEE=ZANBRNAE H#E_ZE_NE+_B=+—
BIEFE AEENMBRANAARE2I I B&ET BE
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FEAEEBZNEFTEREERE ML AEE TR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE R

Other Income and Gains

The Group's other income and gains increased to approximately RMB27.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB23.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to gain
on disposal of property, plant and equipment in 2024.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of (i) promotion
and advertising expenses, which primarily represent costs incurred in
connection with advertisement in media and promotional events; (ii)
employee benefit expenses, which primarily represent salaries paid to our
Group’s selling and marketing personnel; (iii) office and property management
expenses, which primarily represent the expenses incurred in daily operation
and management of the Group's sales offices; (iv) sales expenses, which
primarily represent commissions paid to third-party sales agencies; (v)
depreciation and amortization, which primarily represent the depreciation
and amortization of equipment and devices used by the Group’s selling and
marketing personnel; (vi) travelling and entertainment expenses; and (vii)
after-sales service expenses, which primarily represent expenses incurred
during the provision of our Group's after-sales services to our customers.

The Group's selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
23.9% to approximately RMB784.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 from approximately RMB1,030.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, which was mainly due to the carry-forward of projects pre-sold in 2024
in the current period, and the contract assets carried forward as sales agency
fees in accordance with the carry-forward ratio of projects decreased during
the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared with the corresponding
period of last year.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly consist of (i) employee benefit expenses,
which primarily represent salaries paid to our Group's administrative
personnel; (ii) tax and surcharges, which primarily represent stamp duties
in relation to sales contracts the Group entered into and property tax in
relation to properties our Groups leased; (iii) depreciation and amortization,
which primarily represent the depreciation and amortization of the Group's
offices and office equipment; (iv) office expenses, which primarily represent
the expenses incurred by our Group’s administrative personnel in the daily
operations of our Group's offices; (v) professional consulting expenses,
which primarily represent the expenses for the consulting services the
Group engaged in order to increase our operational efficiency; (vi) bank
service charges, which primarily represent the expenses for miscellaneous
bank services; (vii) travelling and entertainment expenses; and (viii) service
expenditures.

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by approximately 17.5% to
approximately RMB566.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately RMB686.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which
was primarily attributable to the decrease in staff salaries and office expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Cost

Our finance costs mainly consist of (i) interest on bank and other borrowings,
corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, senior notes and lease liabilities; and
(i) interest expense arising from revenue contracts, which represents interest
expenses recognised for the significant financing components included in
contract liabilities during the period from the receipt of sales proceeds to the
delivery of the underlying properties, less capitalized interest directly relating
to properties under development.

The Group's finance cost increased by approximately 23.2% to approximately
RMB364.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately
RMB295.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily
attributable to the increase in the expensed project interest expenses due to
the completion of property projects of the Group in 2024.

The Group's weighted average cost of debt as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately 5.26% (31 December 2023: 5.99%).

Other Expenses

The Group's other expenses decreased by approximately 34.5% to RMB99.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from RMB152.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily due to the reduction of
compensation and liquidated damages incurred by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Fair Value Gains and Losses on Investment Properties

Fair value gains on investment properties represent the changes in the fair
value of our investment properties. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recorded fair value losses on investment properties of approximately
RMB619.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately 272.2% compared
to fair value gains on investment properties of approximately RMB359.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such turnaround from gain
to loss was mainly due to the decrease in assessed value of the investment
properties as a result of the decrease in rental income in 2024 caused
by decline of the business economic environment leading to lower than
expected occupancy rates and rental levels of properties during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Share of Profits and losses of Joint Ventures

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded share of losses of
joint ventures of approximately RMB118.4 million, while we recorded share of
losses of joint ventures of approximately RMB99.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly attributable to decrease in the
gross profit margin of the Group’s joint ventures during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE R

Share of Profits and Losses of Associates

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded share of losses
of associates of RMB434.0 million, while we recorded share of profits of
associates of RMBO.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This
change was primarily attributable to the decrease in the gross profit margin of
the Group's associates during the year ended 31 December 2024.

(Loss)/Profit before Tax

The Group recorded loss before tax of approximately RMB8,822.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to the profit before tax
recorded of approximately RMB697.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December
2024 included the provision made for PRC enterprise Income tax and
land appreciation tax. The Group’s income tax expenses increased by
approximately 8.7% to RMB1,230.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 from RMB1,131.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which
was primarily attributable to the increase in land appreciation tax for the
current year.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the change in the Group’s financial data mentioned above, the
Group recorded a net loss of approximately RMB10,052.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, as compared to the net loss of approximately 433.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 2,216.5%.

Net Current Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's net current assets was approximately
RMB13,395.5 million (2023: approximately RMB23,233.3 million). In
particular, the Group's total current assets decreased by approximately
32.9% to approximately RMB66,615.2 million as at 31 December 2024 from
approximately RMB99,234.8 million as at 31 December 2023. The Group's total
current liabilities decreased by approximately 30.0% to RMB53,219.8 million
as at 31 December 2024 from RMB76,001.6 million as at 31 December 2023.
The decrease of the Group’s net current assets was mainly attributable to (i)
the decrease in properties under development as a result of our completion
and delivery of properties during the year ended 31 December 2024; (i) the
decrease in cash and bank balances during the year ended 31 December
2024 for settlement of certain of the Group's outstanding debts; and (iii)
the increase in provision for inventory impairment for the year ended 31
December 2024 due to the prolonged downturn in the real estate market in
the PRC and deteriorating consumer sentiment.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances was
approximately RMB2,390.4 million (2023: approximately RMB7,072.9 million).
As at 31 December 2024, among the Group's cash and bank balances,
approximately RMBO0.8 million and RMB1.5 million was denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and US dollars, respectively.
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Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's outstanding borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB24,602.2 million (2023: approximately RMB29,428.4 million).
Among them the RMB-denominated borrowings in 2024 amounted to
approximately RMB23,575.9 million (2023: approximately RMB27,285.6 million),
and the US dollar-denominated borrowings in 2024 amounted to RMB1,026.3
million (2023: approximately RMB2,142.8 million). The weighted average cost

of indebtedness in 2024 was 5.26% (2023: 5.99%).

The table below sets forth the components of the Group’s borrowings as at

the dates indicated:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As of 31 December
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2023
RMB'000
AREF T
Current ENHA
Current portion of long term bank loans — secured RERITERW BRI 2 —FIKH 5,638,676 11,141,143
Current portion of other loans — secured HmERMWENEREI »— A KR 652,836 593,260
Current portion of other loans — unsecured HmEWENER IS D —E KR 1,278
Corporate bonds NEMES 1,219,287 15,707
Senior notes BRERE - 2,142,841
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BEERIFESMEMNIE 20,818 47,606
Total current BNEp4EZR 7,532,895 13,940,557
Non-current 3FED§H
Bank loans — secured RITER—FIRF 8,250,310 10,268,920
Bank loans — unsecured ﬁﬁﬁgﬁ’ﬂ—fﬁ?&ﬁ -
Other loans - secured HMMER—FIEKR 4,000,000 767,800
Other loans — unsecured HmEHR—EILiER 1,025,067 -
Corporate bonds NEES 2,134,120 2,778,304
Senior notes BREEE
Proceeds from asset-backed securities EEIRIFESmEMRE 1,659,824 1,672,856
Total non-current JEBNHA4EEE 17,069,321 15,487,880
Total borrowings fETRABEE 24,602,216 29,428,437
Secured BiEE 23,575,871 27,285,596
Unsecured miKE 1,026,345 2,142,841
Total borrowings IR 24,602,216 29,428,437
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE R

The following table sets out the maturity of the Group's total borrowings and ~ FR&F| A EBERAEE R AEEMUETE IS F 2
the extent of the Group's total borrowings subject to fixed or floating interest AU FRARZBFS P B HARIZIERIB R ¢
rates as at the dates indicated:

As of 31 December
8#E+=-HB=+—H

2023
RMB'000
AREF T
Bank loans repayable: BEERITEN
Within one year —ER 5,638,676 11,141,143
Between one and two years —FEEME 5,239,338 4,475,407
Between two and five years MEERFE 2,642,172 1,740,387
More than five years HEM E 368,800 4,053,126
13,888,986 21,410,063
Other borrowings repayable: BEBEMMERNR
Within one year —F R 654,114 593,260
Between one and two years —FFRE 395,000 599,800
Between two and five years MEERE 1,485,067 168,000
Over five years AEME 3,145,000 -
5,679,181 1,361,060
Other corporate bonds and asset-backed BEENHEMABES K
securities repayable BEEERRES
Within one year —FER 1,240,105 2,206,154
Between one and four years —FEENFER 1,667,921 2,850,026
Over four years mEL 2,126,023 1,601,134
5,034,049 6,657,314
Total Hast 24,602,216 29,428,437
By fixed or floating interest rates ¥ EE B FIEE 2
Fixed interest rate ERIES 14,196,117 15,994,087
Floating interest rate FENF K 10,406,099 13,434,350
Total Indebtedness (EpHEEE 24,602,216 29,428,437
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pledged Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings were secured by the
Group's assets in the amount of approximately RMB41,233.3 million (2023:
approximately RMB44,992.8 million), such assets included (i) property, plant
and equipment; (i) land use rights; (iii) investment properties; (iv) properties
under development; (v) completed properties held for sale.

Financial Risk

The Group's businesses exposed us to various financial risks, including
interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. In order
to minimize such risk exposures of the Group, we do not use any derivatives
and other instruments for hedging. The Group does not hold or issue financial
derivatives for trading purpose.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's exposure to changes in market interest rate relates primarily to
the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group does not
use financial derivatives to hedge interest rate risk, and uses variable rate bank
borrowings and other borrowings to manage its interest cost.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates its business in China, and substantial of its revenue
and expenses are denominated in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2024,
among the Group's cash and bank balances, approximately RMBO0.8 million
and RMB1.5 million was denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars,
respectively, such amounts were subject to the exchange rate fluctuation.
The Group does not have any policy to hedge against foreign exchange risk.
However, the Group will closely monitor its foreign exchange exposure, and
strive to maintain the value of the Group's cash.

Credit Risk

The Group divides financial instruments on basis of shared credit risk
characteristics, such as instrument type and credit risk ratings for the
purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and calculation
of impairment. To manage risk arising from trade receivables, the Group has
policies in place to ensure that credit terms are made only to counterparties
with an appropriate credit history and management performs ongoing
credit evaluations of the Group’s counterparties. The credit quality of these
customers is assessed after taking into account their financial position,
past experience and other factors. The Group also has other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
receivables. In addition, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount
of trade receivables to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk, with credit risk spread over a large number of counterparties and
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE R

Liquidity Risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between sustainability and
flexibility of funding through the use of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The Group reviews its liquidity position on an ongoing basis.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has arrangements with various banks for the provision of mortgage
financing and, where required, provides our customers with guarantees as
security for mortgage loans. The terms of such guarantees typically last until
the issuance of the real estate ownership certificate upon the completion of
guarantee registration or satisfaction of mortgage loan by the purchaser. As
a guarantor, if the purchaser defaults in payment, the Group is obligated to
repay all outstanding amounts owed by the purchaser to the mortgagee bank
under the loan and have the right to claim such amount from the defaulting
purchaser. As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not incur any material
losses in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted
to purchasers of the Group's completed properties held for sale. The Directors
considered that the likelihood of default in payments by purchasers is minimal
and therefore the financial guarantees measured at fair value was immaterial.
As such, no provision has been made in connection with the guarantees.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has provided guarantee to the banks
amounting to RMB15,729.9 million (2023: approximately RMB27,106.0 million)
in total for the financing granted to the purchasers of the Group's properties.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has provided guarantee to the banks
and other institutions amounting to approximately RMB1,242.1 million
(2023: approximately RMB1,341.7 million) in total for the financing granted
to the Group's related companies. As at 31 December 2024, the Group did
not have any outstanding loan capital, bank overdrafts and acceptance
liabilities or other similar indebtedness, debentures, mortgages, charges
or loans, or acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments, guarantees
or other material contingent liabilities or any covenant. The Directors have
confirmed that there had not been any material change in the indebtedness,
capital commitments and contingent liabilities of the Group up to the latest
practicable date for the purpose of the indebtedness statement.

Legal Contingents

The Group may be involved in lawsuits and other proceedings from time
to time during the ordinary course of business. The Group believes that the
liabilities resulting from these proceedings will not have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

Commitment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitment of
approximately RMB13,157.8 million (2023: approximately RMB18,430.8 million)
in respect of properties under development, merger and acquisition of equity
interest and capital injection for investment in joint ventures and associates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Off-Balance Sheet Commitment and Arrangements

Save for the contingent liabilities disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024,
the Group did not have any outstanding loan capital issued or agreed to be
issued, bank overdrafts, loans, loan securities, borrowings or other similar
indebtedness, acceptance liabilities (save for normal commercial notes),
acceptance credits, debentures, mortgages, charges, finance lease or hire
purchase commitments, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has no significant
investments held or material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

Future Plan for Significant Investment
The Group did not have any immediate plans for material investments and
capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

Employees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a total of 713 employees (2023:
1,432 employees), with most of them based in China. For the year ended
31 December 2024, staff costs (including Directors) were approximately
RMB256.7 million (2023: approximately RMB325.6 million). The Group
determined the salary based on the qualifications, position and experience of
each employee. The Group has established a regular assessment mechanism
to assess the performance of our employees, the assessment results are used
as the basis for determining salary increment, bonuses and promotions.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No material events were undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Ting Keung (M€ 38), aged 58, founded our Group in September
1996. Mr. Lam was appointed as our Director on 17 October 2019 and was re-
designated as our executive Director on 16 March 2020. Mr. Lam is currently
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Group as well.
He is primarily responsible for the leadership, overall strategic planning, major
investment and decision making of our Group. Mr. Lam also has over 30 years
of experience in the PRC real estate industry.

Currently, Mr. Lam is a member of the National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (RBIBCAH G HRE2HEST)
since March 2013, a standing member of All-China Federation of Returned
Overseas Chinese (FE2FHEFEZEFBH S E) since July 2009. Mr. Lam
obtained the Enthusiastic Overseas Chinese Qutstanding Contribution Award
(B BINEH A LHEHERSE) granted by Overseas Chinese Affairs
Office of the State Council (BEIFBREHEIM/AZE) in December 2017 and
the 2018 Annual Overseas Chinese Charity StarQO1I8SEEBENEEZ )
granted by Overseas Chinese Charity Foundation of China (MBI ZEE A &
£ 5) in December 2018.

Mr. Lam is the father of Mr. Lam Yu, our executive Director.

Mr. Lam is the sole director of Radiance Group Holdings and Glowing Shine,
both of which have interests in the Shares that are discloseable under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lam Yu (#%F), aged 34, was appointed as our Director on 17 October
2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 16 March 2020. Mr.
Lam Yu is also an executive president of our Group and is primarily responsible
for the management of Marketing Investment Management Centre of our
Group. He joined our Group in March 2011 as a director of Yancheng Jinhui
Juye and had been a director of our various subsidiaries.

Mr. Lam Yu participated in the Advanced Seminar for Chief Executive Officers
on Real Estate Development and Investment and Finance at Tsinghua
University CBEEX SR EMEHRLME LR SRIFAED) from May
2010 to March 2011.

Mr. Lam Yu is the son of Mr. Lam, our executive Director.
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Mr. Huang Junquan (BE{£R), aged 52, was appointed as our Director on
17 October 2019 and was redesignated as our executive Director on 16 March
2020, resigned on 18 December 2024 and re-appointed as our executive
Director on 26 February 2025. Mr. Huang joined our Group in January 2009
as the vice president and director of Radiance Group, and was responsible
for the Group'’s architectural design, project operations, brand marketing
and cost control of our Group. He was redesignated as the General Manager
of our Fujian company and is primarily responsible for the operation and
management of our Fujian company in August 2023.

From September 1995 to December 2005, Mr. Huang served in Xiamen
Zhongjian Northeast Architectural Design & Research Institute Co., Ltd. (BP9
iR EIER R A BRA B with his last position as the director in a branch
office, where he was primarily responsible for the design management of the
Fuzhou branch. From January 2006 to December 2008, he served as a director
in the Fuzhou branch of Beijing Zhonghuajian Planning and Design Institute
Co., Ltd. GERHZERRIBZAMERER LB @ESLQF), where he
was primarily responsible for the design business and overall operation of
such company.

Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor's degree in architecture from Tianjin University
(K3ZAZ) in the PRC in July 1995. He obtained qualifications for Class 1
Registered Architect (—#R5EMEZEET) granted by MOHURD, Ministry of
Human Resource and Social Security of the People’s Republic of China (Ff
EANRHEMBANDERMLEREE) formerly known as Ministry of
Personnel of the People’s Republic of China (FHZE A R H£ME A FE ) and
Fujian Provincial Department of Human Resource and Social Security in April
2001. He obtained the qualification of Senior Architect (S 4R 22 EM) granted
by FEIRFEE IR SHIZEFR (China Construction Northeast Architectural
Design & Research Institute) in September 2002. He is the vice president of
Fuzhou Real Fstate Association ({8 B E X 1R ) .

Ms. Wu Yankun (32B38), aged 34, joined the Group in August 2016
as the director of the human resources administration center and has
successively held management positions in different business segments
including investment, human resources and hotel and commercial properties,
accumulating rich experience in the real estate industry. Since September
2024, Ms. Wu has also been serving as a director of Radiance Group Co.,
Ltd., an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to
joining the Group, from January 2015 to July 2016, Ms. Wu worked at Naton
Technology Group and engaged in international project management of
orthopedic medical devices. Ms. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in laws from
Renmin University of China in 2013 and a master’s degree in arts from Leiden
University in the Netherlands in 2014.

EFERATWERE

BERRBEE 525 M2019F 1081 7HESZEABESTIR
20203 16 HEEMBEAKMNBITES > W 20245
128188 BHERN2025F 2826 A EZEARFANMITE
FoEAEEF2009F1BMARER  HESIEEFEREE
REF WABRAEAERNERZT BEEE RET
HEMASIEET WHN2023FsABEERATLEKIE
EERENATKEEIEER-

1995598 E2005F 128 R E MBS NEFIFRERILRES
RERAE  REETNBUABREDFFE TBESE
BIND AR st B IE T E 2 2006518 £2008F 128 » #E1E
IERFERRERAMEIRERRADEEDABRE =
EEEZ NIRRT EBRERES -

BREMIOSF/AERPERERBRABE LB -H
FR2001 F4AR EEENMBERI - EARKMBEANE
RN ERES GIEAREAREMNEASEE) REES
ANE RNt ERERESEEN —REAMERMNERLR
FoHI2002F9 A PEIZRFRILR AR R EN SR
RREMEREZ -HEMARNBEHERRIRIER

SRR 3457 R2016F8FMARER BEANIT
HEERLMEE B TREAEERE A BEE B
ESEBRRECTEERT BAESNREMETENE
K- R T R2024F OB ELZERBMNAITEST LN B
AETIEERES MBEAERR RLIR2015F18E
2016F7 B EMER R EBEER 1 F 5 M E RSB MAEFR
EHEHEBIff - RLTM0BFEFEARKZERSES
B8 FR04EERMRRABESXBRLS(-

Annual Report 2024

39



40

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTOR AND COMPANY SECRETARY

EFERACWERFE

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Huagiao (3815#8), aged 61, was appointed as the independent
director of Radiance Group in June 2016. Mr. Zhang's appointment was solely
to enable him to serve as an independent director of Radiance Group upon
its listing on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, the application for which was
still pending at the time of his appointment. As such listing has not taken
place, he has not taken part in the day-to-day operations and management
of Radiance Group or of the Group. Mr. Zhang was further appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 5 October 2020. Mr. Zhang is
primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of our Group.

Mr. Zhang is also currently an independent non-executive director of Fosun
International Limited ({E 2 BB RA ) (stock code: 0656), Logan Group
Company Limited (BEYCHIEIERRER/AT)) (stock code: 3380), Zhong An
Group Limited (REZEBEAEBRAE]) (stock code: 0672), and Luye Pharma
Group Ltd. (AFERIZEEBEERAT) (stock code 02186), all of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

From July 1994 to July 1995, Mr. Zhang worked as analyst in Equity Capital
Markets Department of Swiss Bank Corporation Warburg. From June
1999 to April 2006, he worked in the equities department of Union Bank
of Switzerland (Hong Kong branch) (3 £ #R%7), a Swiss multinational
investment bank and financial services company, with the last position as
the co-head of the China research team. From May 2006 to September 2008,
he served in Shenzhen Investment Limited CRIIIERRERAT]) (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0604) with his last position as chief
operation officer and executive director, a real estate development company.
From September 2008 to June 2011, he was employed by UBS AG with the
last capacity as a deputy head of UBS China IBD with the corporate rank of
managing director in the Investment Banking Department. From September
2011 to April 2012, he served as an executive director and chief executive
officer of Man Sang International Limited (R4£EBIFEAERAE) (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 0938), a real estate development company.

Mr. Zhang was also a non-executive director of Boer Power Holdings Limited
(BEHBHZERARAST) (isted on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1685),
an independent non-executive director of China Huirong Financial Holdings
Limited (FEIERI = RRIZEIRB R /AE]) (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1290), an independent non-executive director of China Rapid Finance
Limited (listed on the New York Stock Exchange, stock code: XRF), a non-
executive director, executive director and chairman of China Smartpay Group
Holdings Limited (FEIZ (B EEIZERBRAE) (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 8325), and an independent non-executive director of
Haitong International Securities Group Limited CEBREKESEB AR
ATl (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0665, and was delisted in
January 2024).

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in financial and banking from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (g BT & BUE K E) (formerly
known as Hubei Financial and Banking Institute GBICRAASZ3BR)) in July
1983. He also obtained a master’s degree in economics from both the
Graduate School of the People's Bank of China (FRE A R $E47H 35 4 26)
in the PRC in July 1986 and Australian National University in Australia in April
1991, respectively.
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Mr. Tse Yat Hong (38 H B), aged 55, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on October 5, 2020. Mr. Tse is primarily responsible
for providing independent advice on the operations and management to our
Board.

From January 1994 to May 2000, Mr. Tse worked as an audit manager in
PricewaterhouseCoopers, an accounting firm. From June 2000 to May
2019, Mr. Tse worked as the chief financial officer in Shenzhen International
Holdings Limited CRIIBIFEZERBIRAE]), a company engages in the
investment, construction and operation of logistics infrastructure facilities,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0152), where he
was primarily responsible for the overall financial management and capital
market operation of such company. From August 2000 to March 2008, Mr. Tse
also worked as the company secretary of Shenzhen International Holdings
Limited. From September 2004 to September 2007, Mr. Tse worked as a joint
company secretary of Shenzhen Expressway Company Limited CRIIIZ &R A

BRNARATE).

Mr. Tse is currently an independent non-executive director of China Bohai
Bank Co., Ltd. (F)EIRTTARDBPR/AE), the H shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9668), an independent non-executive
director of China Huirong Financial Holdings Limited (B [E 8t & RRIZRE B
FR/AT)), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1290). Mr. Tse served as a non-executive director of Shenzhen Expressway
Company Limited CRINEER QA BEEBRMDBRAF]) from January 2009 to
December 2017, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0548) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600548), served
as an independent non-executive director of Sky Light Holdings Limited (&
FERABRAT) from December 2017 to November 2022, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3882). And served as
an independent non-executive director of E-Star Commercial Management
Company Limited (2 BB X EERMHABRAT) from December 2020 to
May 2024, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
6668).

Mr. Tse obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from Monash University in
Australia in April 1992. He is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA) and a FCPA of CPA Australia.

Mr. Chung Chong Sun ($88I%1), aged 49, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on October 5, 2020. Mr. Chung is
primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of our Group.
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From July 1997 to May 2000, Mr. Chung worked as an associate of the
investment bank department in Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) as
his last position, where he was primarily responsible for the projects of initial
public offering, corporate finance and financial advice. From May 2000 to July
2001, Mr. Chung worked as a senior executive in Deloitte & Touche Corporate
Finance Limited, where he was primarily responsible for the projects of
initial public offering, corporate finance and financial advice. From August
2001 to August 2003, Mr. Chung worked as an associate director of merger
and acquisition department in Cooperative Rabobank U.A. Hong Kong
Branch, a Dutch multinational banking and financial services company. From
August 2003 to December 2005, Mr. Chung worked as an investor support
officer in InvestHK of the government of Hong Kong. From December 2005
to September 2018, Mr. Chung worked as senior vice president of Issuer
Services, Market Development Department in Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited. From September 2018 to July 2019, Mr. Chung worked as
a chief financial officer in Xiaoi Robot Technology (H.K.) Limited, where he
was primarily responsible for financial functions, risk management, fund
raising, capital market operation and investor relations. He has been the
director of Resourceful Minds Limited CEBAFRAT) since September
2019, a consulting company, where he has been primarily responsible for the
development strategies and daily operation of such company.

Mr. Chung is currently an independent non-executive director of Strawbear
Entertainment Group (TEEARIRE.EEF), the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2125) and an independent non-executive
director of Zhong An Intelligent Living Service Limited (3R 228 2 4 /& RS
BFRAF]), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2271).

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in May 1997. He is also a CPA
of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a CPA of Washington
State Board of Accountancy and a CFA of CFA Institute. Mr. Chung has
been appointed as a member of the Advisory committee of IT Innovation
Lab in Secondary School Initiative of Hong Kong secondary schools by the
government of Hong Kong since September 2020.

Company Secretary

Ms. Kwok Yan Ting Jennis (EBRE) is the Company Secretary, the
Authorised Representative and the Process Agent of the Company. Ms.
Kwok joined the Group as Assistant Company Secretary in February 2020.
Prior to joining the Group, she worked in various companies listed on the
Stock Exchange and professional services providers, with over 10 years of
experience in corporate governance, company secretarial and compliance
fields. Ms. Kwok is currently a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. She is also a Certified Environmental, Social and Governance Analyst
(CESGA®) from The European Federation of Financial Analysts Societies
(EFFAS) and a Certified ESG Planner (CEP®) from the International Chamber of
Sustainable Development (ICSD). She holds the Sustainability and Climate Risk
Certificate issued by the Global Association of Risk Professionals (GARP).
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board consists of four executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lam Ting Keung (Chairman), Mr. Lam Yu, Mr. Huang Junquan and
Ms. Wu Yankun and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhang Huagiao, Mr. Tse Yat Hong, and Mr. Chung Chong Sun.

Mr. Lam Ting Keung is the father of Mr. Lam Yu, an executive Director.
Other than that, there are no financial, business, family or other material
relationships among the members of the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has at all times met
the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with
at least one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The three independent non-executive Directors represent more
than one-third of the Board, complying with the requirement under Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive directors of a
listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the board. The Board believes
there is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard the
interest of Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board performed the following
corporate governance duties:

1. reviewed the Company's policies and practices on corporate

governance;

2. reviewed the compliance with Model Code for Directors;

3. reviewed the training and continuous professional development of
Directors;

4. reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management system and internal

control system; and

5. reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRELGRS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees all major matters of the Company, including the formulation and
approval of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk
management systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives.
All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in compliance
with the standards of applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times. As at 31 December
2024, the Board comprised seven Directors, including four executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. Their names and biographical
details are set out in the “Biographies of Director” and Company Secretary
section of this report. Liability insurance for Directors of the Company is
maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage for certain legal
liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their duties.

The Board has also established mechanisms to ensure independent views
are available to the Board, including providing the Directors with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and shall seek, at the Company’s expense,
independent professional advice to perform its responsibilities if necessary.
The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-
executive Directors that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that
there is always a strong element of independence on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgment. All the Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors, are given equal opportunity and
channels to communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the Group in order
to make informed decisions. The chairman of the Board will hold meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors without the involvement of
other Directors at least annually to discuss any issues and concerns. Any
Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather
than by written resolutions. Such Director will be required to declare his/
her interests before the meeting and abstain from voting and not counted
towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors who, and whose associates, have no interest in the matter should
attend the Board meeting. The Board has reviewed and considered that the
mechanisms are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are
provided to the Board during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other senior
executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing the strategy
and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time, and conducting the
day-to-day management and operations of the Group. Executive Directors and
senior executives meet regularly to review the performance of the businesses
of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and
operational decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers
of management including circumstances where management should report
back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also
acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, approved adoption of all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards in effect, made judgments and estimates that are
appropriate, and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
The Directors are aware of that the Group might have financial uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern as set out in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following is an extract of the independent auditor’s report issued by the
Group's independent auditor, Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants of
Hong Kong on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024:

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS Accounting Standards’) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group recorded a net loss of RMB10,052,176,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024, and the Group had short-term borrowings
of RMB7,532,895,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB1,829,772,000 as at 31 December 2024. These conditions along with other
matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Going concern basis

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB10,052,176,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024, and the Group had short-term borrowings
of RMB7,532,895,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB1,829,772,000 as at 31 December 2024. These conditions indicate that
a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Further details of the above is
disclosed in the section headed “INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT" in this
annual report.
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The Board’s view and plans to address the modified opinion
In relation to the modified opinion (the "Modified Opinion”) issued by the
auditor of the Company as detailed in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors agree with the view of the Company’s auditor and
are aware of that there is a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances and the current economic environment,
the Directors have given consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
and its available sources of financing including credit facilities in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a
going concern. The Directors have also implemented various measures (the
“Measures”) to ensure that the Group maintains adequate working capital,
including:

(i) accelerating the sale of properties and speeding up the collection of
sales proceeds;

(ii) closely monitoring the process of construction of its property
development projects to ensure that construction and related
payments are fulfilled and the relevant properties sold under pre-
sale arrangements are completed and delivered to the customers on
schedule;

(i) seeking continuously for re-financing of existing borrowings as well as
new debt financing and bank borrowings at costs acceptable to the
Group to finance the settlement of its existing financial obligations and
future operating and capital expenditures; and

(iv)  not committing on significant capital expenditures and land
acquisitions before securing the necessary funding.

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the above Measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the following
twelve months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the Directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property sector and
the uncertainties to obtain continuous support by the banks and the Group's
creditors, material uncertainties exist as to whether management of the
Company will be able to achieve its plans and measures as described above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may
have to be made to write down the values of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company will continue to take proactive measures so to resolve its
liquidity issue and will publish an appropriate announcement if there is any
material development in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions (as defined in the Listing Rules) under Part XIVA of the
SFO.

The Audit Committee’s view

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and this annual report. In particular, the Audit
Committee has critically reviewed the Modified Opinion and the Measures.
The Audit Committee agreed with the Board’s position based on the reasons
above. The Audit Committee also requested the Board to implement the
Measures to address the uncertainties regarding going concern underlying
the Modified Opinion with a view to resolving the going concern issue
as soon as practicable. The Audit Committee had also discussed with the
Company'’s auditor regarding the financial position of the Group, the Measures
taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the auditor’s rationale
and understood its consideration in arriving at the Modified Opinion.

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry significant
weight in the Board's decision. The functions of independent non-executive
Directors include bringing an impartial view and judgement on issues of
the Company's strategies, performance and control; and scrutinising the
Company'’s performance and monitoring performance reporting.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management experience and have
made positive contributions to the development of the Company through
providing their professional advice to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three
years.

Confirmation of independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has been
assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules and each of
the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual written
confirmation of independence to the Company with reference to the factors
set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the
Company'’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and experience,
including commercial property operation, overall business management,
finance and investment. They obtained degrees in various majors including
business administration, electrical engineering and automation, real estate,
computerized accounting. The Company has three independent non-
executive Directors who have different industry backgrounds, representing
over one-third of our Board members. Furthermore, the Board has a wide
range of age, ranging from 34 years old to 60 years old. We have taken
and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels
of our Company, including but without limitation at our Board and senior
management levels. Taking into account our business model and specific
needs, we consider that the composition of the Board satisfies our board
diversity policy.

With regard to gender diversity on the Board, our Board has at least one
female board representation. Going forward and with a view to developing
a pipeline of potential successors to the Board that may meet the
targeted gender diversity ratio set out below, we will (i) continue to make
appointments based on merits with reference to board diversity as a whole;
(i) take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Group by
recruiting staff of different gender; (iii) consider the possibility of nominating
female management staff who has the necessary skills and experience to
the Board; and (iv) provide career development opportunities and more
resources in training female staff with the aim of promoting them to the
senior management or board of the Company so that we will have a pipeline
of female senior management and potential successors to our Board in a few
years' time.

The Nomination Committee will use its best efforts to identify and
recommend female candidates to the Board for consideration for
appointment as Directors with an ultimate aim to achieve at least 20% female
representation in the Board within five years of Listing, subject to there being
suitable candidates and the Directors being satisfied with the qualification
and experience of the relevant candidates after a reasonable review process
based on selection criteria designed with the best interests of the Company's
business in mind. The Directors will exercise fiduciary duties in the process,
acting in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole
when making the relevant appointments.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring diversity of the Board
members and will use its best efforts to identify and recommend suitable
candidates, including female candidates, for the Board's consideration. We also
welcome candidates of different gender to apply for our mid to senior level
positions. The ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merits
and the contribution which the selected candidates could bring to our Board
and management team. The Board believes that such merit-based selection
criteria will best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward.

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years.
Such term is subject to his retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association. Pursuant to the Article 16.2 of the Articles, the Board shall have
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting.

Pursuant to the Article 16.17 of the Articles, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but
not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director required to
stand for re-election pursuant to Article 16.2 shall not be taken into account
in determining the number of Directors and which Directors are to retire by
rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at
which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The Company at
any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill the vacated
office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Pursuant to the Article 16.5 of the Articles, the members of the Company
may by ordinary resolution at any time remove any Director (including a
Managing Director or other executive Director) before the expiration of his
term of office notwithstanding anything in these Articles or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary resolution
elect another person in his stead. Any person so elected shall hold office
during such time only as the Director in whose place he is elected would have
held the same if he had not been removed. Nothing in this Article should be
taken as depriving a Director removed under any provision of this Article of
compensation or damages payable to him in respect of the termination of
his appointment as Director or of any other appointment or office as a result
of the termination of his appointment as Director or as derogatory from any
power to remove a Director which may exist apart from the provision of this
Article.
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On the first occasion of each Director’s appointment, the Company would
arrange a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction session on his/her
appointment to ensure he/she would have a proper understanding of the
Company'’s businesses and operations as well as his/her responsibilities under
relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations as a director of a listed company.

As part of continuous professional development of the Directors, the
Company also provides briefings and other trainings to develop and refresh
the Director’s knowledge and skills. and continuously update Directors on
the latest developments regarding the Group's business, the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the Directors namely, Mr. Lam
Ting Keung, Mr. Lam Yu, Mr. Huang Junquan (resigned on 18 December
2024 and re-appointed on 26 February 2025), Mr. Xu Xiaodong (resigned on
26 February 2025), Ms. Wu Yankun (appointed on 18 December 2024), Mr.
Zhang Huagiao, Mr. Tse Yat Hong and Mr. Chung Chong Sun, have complied
with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code and participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Each of Ms. Wu Yankun and Mr. Huang Junquan has obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 12 December 2024 and 17
February 2025, respectively. Each of Ms. Wu Yankun and Mr. Huang Junquan
has confirmed that she/he understood her/his obligations as a director of the
Company.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate either in person or through electronic means of communications.

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board should meet
regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times a year.
In addition to regular Board meetings, the Directors also participate in
deliberation and approval of routine and operational matters of the Company
by way of written resolutions with supporting explanatory materials,
supplemented by additional written information from the management when
required. Additional Board meetings would be held whenever warranted.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held four Board
meetings and one general meeting. Apart from that, the chairman also held a

meeting solely with the independent non-executive Directors.

The attendance record of each Director is set out below:
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Number of meetings attended/

Number of meetings held for the year ended
31 December 2024

] E2024F12A31HLEE
HEEERY ETEERY
Name of Directors Board General meeting
EEH4 55g BRAE
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Lam Ting Keung MIE 58 ST 6/6 11
Mr. Lam Yu MFEE 6/6 1/1
Mr. Huang Junquan!” HIBRFED 6/6 11
Mr. Xu Xiaodong? RINZ LD 6/6 11
Ms. Wu Yankun® SRR L0 0/0 0/0
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Zhang Huagiao RICE A 6/6 1/1
Mr. Tse Yat Hong HBRELE 6/6 11
Mr. Chung Chong Sun Al At 6/6 11
Notes: B 5
(1) Mr. Huang Junquan resigned on 18 December 2024 and was re-appointed on (1) BERILEN2024F12818H BHE KRR 2025F 28260 HEE

26 February 2025.
(2) Mr. Xu Xiaodong resigned on 26 February 2025.

(3) Ms. Wu Yankun was appointed on 18 December 2024.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct for the
Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company. Upon specific enquiries
of all the Directors, each of them has confirmed that he had complied with
all applicable code provisions under the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2024.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the Company
are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits them to deal in securities
of the Company at any time when he/she possesses inside information of the
Group. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
officers and employees was noted by the Company.

The determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our
Directors, depending on our results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any other
factors which our Directors may consider relevant. Dividends may be paid
only out of our distributable profits as permitted under the relevant laws.
Any final dividend distribution shall also be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders in a Shareholders’ meeting. There was no arrangement under
which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends during the
year.

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal procedures
of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company is
committed to the view that the Board should include a balanced composition
of executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so that
there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgment. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Company has applied the principles of good corporate governance and
complied with the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG Code except
for the deviation from CG Code provision C.2.1 for reasons set out below.
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CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Lam Ting Keung is the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company. In view of the fact that Mr. Lam has
been taking up day-to-day responsibilities in operating and managing the
Group since its establishment, the Board believes that it is in the best interest
of the Group to have Mr. Lam Ting Keung taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. Therefore, the Directors consider
that the deviation from CG Code provision CS.2.1 is appropriate in such
circumstance.

Notwithstanding the above, the Board views that such management structure
is effective for the Group's operations and sufficient checks and balances are
in place.

The Board has established three committees with specific written terms of
reference to oversee particular aspects of the Group's affairs. All the Board
committees are empowered by the Board under their own terms of reference
which have been posted on Stock Exchange's website and/or the Company’s
website.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code on 5 October 2020. The primary duties of our Audit Committee are
to assist our Board by providing an independent view of the effectiveness of
our Group’s financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
system, to monitor the scope, effectiveness and results of internal audit
functions, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review our policies
and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by our Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chung Chong Sun (being the chairman of the Audit Committee),
Mr. Zhang Huagiao and Mr. Tse Yat Hong.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held two
meetings with the senior executive and independent auditor of the Company
to consider the independence and audit scope of independent auditor, and
to review and discuss the risk management and internal control systems,
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function, interim and
annual financial statements of the Company and the opinion and report of
independent auditor before reporting and submitting to the Board for their
approval.

The attendance of each member is as follows:

Name of members

HE2024F 12831 HIEFE BEREETHAARAT S RIT
BABREIIZEMERTRREE > EEBILIZEMD
BUMhBEZHE TBEANTGREREERANIBEZER
FAARRBIABBEANENBRIME R RBANPRREE
MHEREURBIUZBIINER MRS RAE0EEQE
RRIREE

EHENHFELEUT

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

for the year ended

31 December 2024
#HZE2024F 128310 L FE
HEEERE 2TEERY

Audit Committee

[ng=feA BIZEZ8g
Mr. Chung Chong Sun (Audit Committee Chairman) — $BEI¥icHE (BEEREZE S F/E) 2/2
Mr. Zhang Huagjiao RIEBRE 2/2
Mr. Tse Yat Hong HBERELE 2/2

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules on 5 October
2020. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include to establish
and review the policy and structure of the remuneration for our Directors
and senior management, to make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangement and to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, two of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr. Zhang
Huagiao (being the chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tse Yat
Hong and Mr. Lam Yu.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting to review the remuneration structure of the Directors
and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of the executive Directors for 2024, other matters were resolved by written
resolutions.

The attendance of each member is as follows:

Name of members
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Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

for the year ended

31 December 2024
HE2024512A31HILFE
HEGERY BITEERY
Remuneration Committee

REHH HFEET

Mr. Zhang Huagjiao RIEBRE 11
(Remuneration Committee Chairman) FWNZEE 2 F/E)

Mr. Tse Yat Hong HERELE 11

Mr. Lam Yu MF R4 11

Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code on 5 October 2020. The primary
duties of our Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment of members of the Board.

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members, two of whom are independent non-executive Directors. The three
members are Mr. Lam (being the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr.
Zhang Huagiao and Mr. Chung Chong Sun.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting to review the structure and composition of the Board and its
committees, made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment
of Directors and assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, other matters were resolved by written resolutions.

The attendance of each member is as follows:

Name of members

BE04F12ANHLEFE RBEEGHET —RIH
NEREFERHEEZEGHNRERAERN ; TMENEZEE
FRNEFERUEERZUMRTEBIIFNTESFTNEL
Mo BEMEEUEFEEMRERREBR-

EENHFETEEUT

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

for the year ended

31 December 2024
BHE2024F12A31HLEFE
HEGERY BITEERY
Nomination Committee

R EH REEEY

Mr. Lam Ting Keung MERSTE 11
(Nomination Committee Chairman) B2 ZEZF)E)

Mr. Zhang Huagjiao RIEBRE /1

Mr. Chung Chong Sun BRRT L /1

Nomination policy

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for identifying
candidates for directorship, including recommendations from Board members,
management, and professional search firms. In addition, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates for directorship properly submitted
by the Shareholders. The evaluation of candidates for directorship by the
Nomination Committee may include, without limitation, review of resume
and job history, personal interviews, verification of professional and personal
references and performance of background checks. The Board will consider
the recommendations of the Nomination Committee and is responsible
for designating the candidates for directorship to be considered by the
Shareholders for their election at the general meeting of the Company, or
appointing the suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies
or as an additional to the Board members, subject to compliance of the
constitutional documents of the Company. All appointments of Director
should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or service contract setting
out the key terms and conditions of the appointment of Directors.
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The Nomination Committee should consider the following qualifications as a
minimum to be required for a candidate in recommending to the Board to be
a potential new Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

- the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

- proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the
ability to exercise sound business judgment;

- skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

- the ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company's success;

- an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required for
a member of the Board and the commitment of time and energy
necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities;

- independence: the candidates for independent non-executive
directorship should meet the “independence” criteria as required under
the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is in conformity
with the provisions of the Listing Rules.

Financial reporting system

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group.
The directors prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis,
International Financial Reporting Standards have been adopted and the
appropriate accounting policies have been consistently used and applied.
The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment of the Group's
performance in the annual and interim reports to the Shareholders, and make
appropriate disclosure and announcements in a timely manner. Pursuant
to code provision D.1.1 of the Code, management would provide such
explanation and information to the Board as will enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of the financial and other information put before the
Board for approval.

The work scope and reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the
Company'’s external auditor, are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 78 to 85 of this report.
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Risk management and internal control system

The Board has established a comprehensive risk management and internal
control system, which consist of an organization framework, as well as
policies, procedures and risk management methods that the Board considers
to be appropriate for our business operations. The system is designed to
allow us to identify, report and address those risk and incidents that may
significantly affect our performance or otherwise expose us to significant
losses, liability or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The risk management system comprises the formulation and implantation
of a set of policies and procedures relating to relevant risk areas, including
compliance with laws and regulations, construction quality, work safety and
environmental matters. We are constantly monitoring the effectiveness of our
risk management system. The Board oversees the implementation of the risk
management and internal control measures and is responsible with reviewing
the effectiveness of such system. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The Board is responsible for approving our business and investment
plans, adjusting the risk management plans and strategies in response to
risks identified in our business operations. The internal control system covers
various aspects of the operations, including information system control,
procurement and accounts payable control, cash management, compensation
management and financial reporting control. The Company has an internal
audit function which has also been carried out under the leadership of the
Board and the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has implemented
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In particular, the Group:

- has conducted its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission in June 2012;

- has established its own disclosure obligation procedures, which set
out the procedures and controls for the assessment of potential inside
information and the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The procedures have been communicated to the senior management
and staff of the Company, and their implementation was monitored by
the Company; and

- has made broad, non-exclusive disclosure of information to the public
through channels such as financial reports, public announcements and
its website.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and assessed
on an on-going basis by the Audit Committee and the executive Directors,
and will be further reviewed and assessed at least once each year by the
Board. During the year ended 31 December 2024, these systems covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
were reviewed and considered effective and adequate.
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The Company also maintains strict anti-corruption policies to recognize
and deal with bribery and corruption and to handle corporate donation
and sponsorship activities of the Group, which applies to all employees and
related third parties who deal with the Group. The Company has a whistle-
blowing policy that serves the purpose of establishing whistle-blowing
procedures for employees and other relevant external parties of our Company,
in order to report and escalate any suspicious misconducts. In accordance
with the policy, we protect all whistle-blowers from any kind of retaliation. All
the information provided by the whistle-blowers will be strictly confidential.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid or payable to
Ernst and Young in respect of its audit services and non-audit services was
approximately RMB4.8 million and HK$68,000, respectively. The non-audit
services in 2024 consisted of taxation consulting services.

The Company has adopted full disclosure of remunerations of Directors
with disclosure in note 8 to the financial statements. The remuneration of
the Directors is determined with reference to salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and
performance of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has no member of senior
management.

Ms. Kwok possesses professional qualification and extensive experience in
discharging her duties as the Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Kwok is
an employee of the Company and directly reports to the Chairman. Ms. Kwok
is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters, new director’s
induction and professional developments of Directors as well as ensuring
good information flow between the Board members and compliance of the
policy and procedures of the Board.

Ms. Kwok has confirmed that she has received relevant professional training of
no less than 15 hours in compliance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules to
update her skills and knowledge during the year.
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Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles, one or more Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a new resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the above paragraph heading “Convening an extraordinary general
meeting”.

Shareholders’ communication policy

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholder is
essential to enhance investor relations and to keep investors informed of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company has established
various and a wide range of communication channels with Shareholders,
including general meeting, annual results and interim results, annual and
interim reports, announcements and circulars and performance conference.
To facilitate the communication between the Company and investors, the
Company holds meetings, briefings and roadshows with investors and
analysts from time to time. Apart from that, the Company invites investors
and business stakeholders to visit our management site every now and then,
giving them the opportunities to meet with the local management and visit
our facilities. Shareholders may make enquires with the Company through
channels mentioned above, and provide comments and recommendations
to the Directors or managements at any time. Upon receipt of written
enquiries from Shareholders, the Company will make actual responses to the
shareholders as soon as possible.

In addition, the Company updates its website from time to time to keep
the Shareholders updated of the recent development of the Company. The
Company endeavors to maintain an ongoing dialogue with shareholders. At
the annual general meeting, the Directors (or their delegates as appropriate)
will be available to meet with the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
In view of the above, the Company considers the implementation of the
Shareholders’ communication policy during 2024 was effective.
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Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board in writing to the
Board or its company secretary at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Room 2303A, 23/F, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong or by email at irhk@radiance.com.cn or directly by raising
questions at general meetings.

On 28 March 2024, in order to (i) reflecting and aligning with the latest
regulatory requirements in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime
and the electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed
issuers and the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took
effect from 31 December 2023; and (ii) making certain minor housekeeping
amendments and other consequential changes to the Articles of Association,
the Board proposed to put forward to the Shareholders for approval a
special resolution to amend the then existing memorandum and articles of
association of the Company. The proposed amendments and adoption of
an amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company were approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company convened and held on 31 May 2024. Save as disclosed above,
there was no other change to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The latest version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles is available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in property development. An analysis of the Group's
revenue and operating results for the year ended 31 December 2024 by its
principal activities is set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group on page 93 to 108 in this report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in the “Chairman’s Statement” section of this report and the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group on
page 86 of this report.

General

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group’s future
business development during the year are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 11 to 12 and pages 14 to 37, respectively, of this report. An analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14
to 37 of this report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements on page 218 in
this report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) risks related to the
performance of the economic conditions in the PRC and the PRC property
markets; (i) uncertainty as to identifying desirable locations or acquiring
land use rights for future property development on favorable terms; (iii)
uncertainty as to obtaining sufficient funding for land acquisitions and future
developments and capital resources may not be available on favorable terms;
(iv) risks related to the fluctuation of profitability of property projects; (v)
risks related to the government policies and regulations regarding the PRC
property industry; and (vi) risks related to the increasing raw materials price
and labor costs.

The Group's financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Environmental policies and performance

It is the Group's corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental friendly environment, and the Group strives to minimise
its environmental impact and comply with the applicable environmental
laws and regulations. The measures it takes to ensure its compliance with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations include: (i) strictly selecting
construction contractors and supervising the process of construction; (ii)
applying for review by the relevant government authorities in a timely manner
after the project is completed; and (iii) actively adopting environmentally
friendly equipment and designs. The Group also takes voluntary actions with
respect to environmental protection and make energy conservation and
emission reduction as primary considerations when designing its property
projects. None of the Group's properties had received any material fines or
penalties associated with the breach of any environmental laws or regulations
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The 2024 Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of the Group shall be published separately.

Relationship with Employees

The Group believes high-quality employees who value its corporate culture
are essential elements to promote its sustainable growth. The Group
intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees from reputable
universities of PRC through various initiatives, including creative trainee
programs, competitive compensation packages and effective incentive
system. To motivate, attract and retain employees, the Company has adopted
the Share Option Scheme. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
the section headed "Director’s report — Share Option Scheme”.

For details regarding employees and staff costs and the emolument policy of
the Group, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Employees”.

Details of the pension obligations of the Group are set out in Note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Employee Diversity

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has achieved a 59:41 ratio of females
to males in the workforce and the Board considers that gender diversity across
the workforce has been achieved. The Company will continue to encourage
diversity at workforce level and it has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates with different age,
gender and experiences are considered. The Group has also established talent
management and training programs to provide career development guidance
and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse pool of skilled
and experienced employees.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers as
long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group's businesses. It
reinforces business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing communication
in a proactive and effective manner. For further details regarding the Group's
major suppliers, please refer to the section headed “Directors’ Report — Major
Customers and Suppliers”.
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Relationship with Customers

Customers satisfaction with services and products has a profound effect
on the profitability. The Group's dedicated sales team is in constant
communication with its customers and potential customers to uncover
and create customer needs and help customers make informed decisions.
Identification of customers’ pain points alongside grasping the market trend
are critical for the Group to timely adjust our operating strategies to fit the
market requirement. For details regarding the Group's major customers,
please refer to the sections headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and
Suppliers”.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the Shares listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group's subsidiaries are
incorporated in the BVI, Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group's operations are
mainly carried out by the Group's subsidiaries in China while the Group also
has a corporate and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Its establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the BVI, the PRC and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in
the Cayman Islands, the BVI, the PRC and Hong Kong that have a significant
impact on the Group.

The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: NIL).

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Group's borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has 4,045,227,000 Shares in
issue.

SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

Details of senior notes and corporate bonds of the Company during the year
are set out in note 33 and note 34 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

On 12 July 2024, Radiance Group has issued the first tranche of the 2024
medium-term notes with a principal amount of RMB550 million at a coupon
rate of 3.0% and it is a five-year bond.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out on pages 195 and pages
219 to 220 of this report. In respect of Company, the amount of reserves
available for distribution under the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands as
at 31 December 2024 was RMB293.8 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE GROUP

2024 Notes

On 15 April 2024, the Company has deposited all necessary funds into the
designated bank account of the trustee for redemption redeemed the 2024
Notes in full at their outstanding principal amount together with the interest
accrued. Upon redemption of the outstanding Notes, all the redeemed 2024
Notes have been cancelled.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company and its subsidiaries did not
purchase, sell or redeem any of the listed securities of the Group (including
sale of treasury shares) during the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31
December 2024, the Company does not hold any treasury shares.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to RMB2.38 million (2023: RMB4.1 million).
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The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the state
of the Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 86 to 220 in this report.

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this annual report were:

AEBEE204F 1283 HEEENEERAERNZA
B TSR N R BN AR S 86 E220B MiE S IR K -

HE0UFNAINHEFERBEEAFRAPNESS !

Name of director Position EE4 B iz
Mr. Lam Ting Keung Executive Director MERTE HITES
Mr. Lam Yu Executive Director MFHEE HITES
Mr. Huang Junquan Executive Director =B RIE (FR20244F HiTES
(resigned on 18 December 125 18H FEEF R 12202545
2024 and re-appointed on 2826 HEEH#HZA1E)
26 February 2025)
Mr. Xu Xiaodong (resigned on Executive Director WINESTE (FR20258F HITES
26 February 2025) 2526 H BHE)
Ms. Wu Yankun (appointed on Executive Director BBURLZ + (5820244 HiTES
18 December 2024) 12818 H EZ1E)
Mr. Zhang Huagjiao Independent non-executive Director RICIB A E BIIFRITES
Mr. Tse Yat Hong Independent non-executive Director #BELE BUERITES
Mr. Chung Chong Sun Independent non-executive Director RIS BWIIFRITES

In accordance with Article 16.17 of the Articles, at every annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director
required to stand for re-election pursuant to Article 16.2 shall not be taken
into account in determining the number of Directors and which Directors are
to retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The
Company at any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill
the vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

The Company at the general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the
vacated office. Accordingly, Mr. Lam Ting Keung, Mr. Zhang Huagiao and Mr.
Tse Yat Hong shall retire from office by rotation at the 2025 AGM and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles, Ms. Wu Yankun and Mr. Huang
Jungquan who were appointed as executive Director on 18 December 2024
and 26 February 2025, respectively, shall hold office only until the Annual
General Meeting, being the next following general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and, being eligible, will offer themselves for reelection.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence for purpose of Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms it considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company effective
from 29 October 2023 for a term of 3 years. None of the Directors who are
proposed for election or re-election at the 2025 AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation. There is no
arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or might likely compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

Each of Mr. Lam, being the executive Director and the Controlling
Shareholder, Ms. Lam, Radiance Group Holdings and Glowing Shine, all being
the Controlling Shareholders, has confirmed to the Company that, since the
Listing Date and up to 31 December 2024 he/she/it has complied with the
Deed of Non-competition dated 13 October 2020 (the “Undertakings”) as
disclosed in the Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and the confirmation provided by the Controlling Shareholders
as part of the annual review process. On the basis that: (i) the Company has
received the confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders regarding
the Undertakings; (ii) there was no competing business reported by the
Controlling Shareholders; and (iii) there was no particular situation rendering
the full compliance of the Undertakings being questionable, the independent
non-executive Directors are of the view that the Undertakings have been
complied with and been enforced by the Company in accordance with the
terms.

Details of the Share Option Scheme

1) Purpose
The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible
Participants (as defined in paragraph (2) below) had or may have
made to our Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in our Company
with the view to achieving the following objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimize their performance
efficiency for the benefit of our Group; and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going business
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of our Group.
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2)  Participants

3)

4)

5)

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”) to subscribe
for such number of new Shares as the Board may determine at an
exercise price determined in accordance with paragraph (6) below:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any directors (including independent non-executive directors) of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

(i) any advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and
such other persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will
contribute or have contributed to our Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

Maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on
the Listing Date, and such 10% limit represents 400,000,000 Shares,
representing approximately 9.89% of the total Shares in issue as at the
date of this report.

Maximum number of options to any one individual

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant.

Acceptance and exercise of options

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the
grantee and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer document
constituting acceptances of the options duly signed by the grantee,
together with a remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof, is received by the Company on
or before the relevant acceptance date.

The exercise period of any share option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion but such period must not exceed ten years from the date
of grant of the relevant share option. There is no minimum period
specified by the Share Option Scheme, for which the option must be
held before it can be exercised.
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6)

7)

Price of Shares

The subscription price for a Share under the Share Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, but must be at
least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a day
on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

The duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective until 4 October
2030, i.e. for the period of ten years commencing from the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which no further
options shall be granted, but in all other respects the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted
prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with
the provisions of the rules of the Share Option Scheme. As at the
date of the report, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
approximately 5 years and 6 months.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Statutory and general information — D. Share Option
scheme”in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to the date
of this report, no option has been granted by the Company pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme. The number of options available for
grant under the Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and as
at 31 December 2024 remained at 400,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 9.89% of the total issued Shares as at 31 December
2024.

6)

7)
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As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors ~ F2024F12831H  EER ARG RSTHRAENREAT
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and ~ S EMBH ZE (E & RFBH RIBEEGIEXVER) BERH - 48
debentures of the Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning BRI R E#E P ER BRIEE S RBAE KRG E352KF
of Part XV of the SFO which were required to be entered in the register kept SR AR BEENELMABRBEEZETIHNEERAE &
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise — B FRAVER R KA T ¢

required, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to

the Model Code, are set out below:

Interests in shares of the Company RAEABRDE LS
Approximate
Number of Shares percentage of
Name of Director/Chief Executive Nature of Interest or underlying Shares shareholding
BE BREITHABHS HEEE B 153 S AE RA AR 15 & B BAKRBE DL
Mr. Lam Interest in controlled corporations (note 1) 3,400,000,000 84.05%
ML REELFENER (W)
Notes: B sE
(1) Pursuant to Division 7 of Part XV of the SFO, 3,400,000,000 Shares held by Mr. (1) RIBEZHFRBPERHAEXVHBFE/ 2B MEERFEH
Lam are deemed corporate interests through Radiance Group Holdings and 3,400,000,000f RN W R EBEIEERERRBIBRAENA
Glowing Shine. ElfE o

Interests in shares/debentures of associated corporations of R ZAATHEEEIRD EREFNEDR
the Company

Approximate

Number of percentage in

shares/Amount  relevant shares/

Name of Director Name of associated corporation Nature of interest of debentures debentures

{LAERAR (R

ihiE =D RIEEEL

BEENA 1A E TR M BEEEEH BotE

Mr. Lam Radiance Group Holdings Beneficial owner 6,172,150 Shares 64.97%
Mo THEEEER BmEAA 6,172,1508%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and & _EXFrifEE & N> 1020241283 1H I EERE R AN T
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in the RETHABR KRB HEEE EBENRM HERERM K&
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated — EEZFAEE B E LN IRIRE F RBEKRAIE321EBHE
corporations, recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352  fFRIEE MR SR Z ST B BN & 4 A 5 K Bk 22 B B9 (E
of the SFO or required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange  fAl#E & Sk & o

pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2024, as recorded in

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEHRS
FERRREMATRE QTR KA

R RRE

1R2024F 128310 LA R B FRED > AR B IR IEE H KR

the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the ~ E1&BIZE336FEBHEFTNE LML U TAL (BEEHK
SFO, the following persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the AT H *?‘_JEU\EE?%) TR0 BAB RE RS 1D FR B 5%Ek
Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying Shares: M ERER
Number of Shares Approximate
directly or indirectly percentage of Shares
Name of substantial shareholder held in issue
Bz Mz HB8T
TERRATE HENRGEE R EA BT DL
Radiance Group Holdings 3,400,000,000 84.05%
TEERER
Glowing Shine 3,400,000,000 84.05%
Ry
Note: BT -
(1) Radiance Group Holdings is owned as to 64.97% and 35.03% by Mr. Lam and Ms. (1) SEEBIZTERAMEERML D BIHEE64.97%535.03%1

Lam, respectively.

2) Radiance Group Holdings is the beneficial owner of all the issued shares in
Glowing Shine and, therefore, Radiance Group Holdings is deemed, or taken to
be interested in the Shares owned by Glowing Shine for the purpose of the SFO.

(3) Mr. Lam is the sole director of Radiance Group Holdings and Glowing Shine.
By virtue of their respective ownership of shares in Radiance Group Holdings,
each of Mr. Lam and Ms. Lam is deemed or taken to be interested in the Shares
owned by Glowing Shine for the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had not
been notified of any persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares that were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of the SFO.

Ho
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements and the continuing connected transactions disclosed in
the sections headed “"Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this report, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or his connected entities had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this report, during the
year ended 31 December 2024, there was no other contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor other contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue attributable to the five
largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than 30% of the Group's
revenue for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases attributable to the
Group's largest supplier amounted to approximately 12.0% of the Group’s total
purchases and the Group five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 28.8% of the Group's total purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders, which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued
Shares, had an interest in the share capital of any of the five largest suppliers
and customers.
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On 18 March 2024, Radiance Group, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a corporate guarantee agreement (the
“Corporate Guarantee Agreement’) with the Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. (the
“Financial Institution”), pursuant to which Radiance Group agreed to provide
a corporate guarantee of up to RMB300 million (the “Corporate Guarantee”)
in favour of the Financial Institution to guarantee the repayment obligations
of Beijing Jinhui Jinjiang under the facility dated 18 March 2024 entered
into between Beijing Jinhui Jinjiang and the Financial Institution in the
principal amount of up to RMB300 million (the “Facility”). Under the Facility,
Beijing Juye Real Estate, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Financial Institution also entered into a second ranking
mortgage agreement dated 18 March 2024 (the “Second Ranking Mortgage
Agreement”) with Beijing Juye Real Estate in relation to the provision of
a mortgage for certain properties owned by Beijing Juye Real Estate of
up to RMB300 million for the Facility. The total guarantee amount under
the Corporate Guarantee Agreement and the Second Ranking Mortgage
Agreement is up to RMB300 million in aggregate.

Simultaneously, (i) Radiance Group; (ii) Radiance Smart Holding; and (iii)
Beijing Jinhui Jinjiang have entered into a counter corporate guarantee
agreement, pursuant to which Radiance Smart Holding has agreed to provide
a counter corporate guarantee (the “Counter Corporate Guarantee’) to
Radiance Group in respect of its guarantee obligation under the Corporate
Guarantee Agreement. Furthermore, in consideration of Radiance Group
providing the Corporate Guarantee, Radiance Smart Holding shall also pay to
Radiance Group a one-off service fee calculated at 2% of the principal amount
of the Facility of RMB300 million for the entire term of the financing guarantee
obligations. The Counter Corporate Guarantee will not be secured by any
collaterals of the Group.

As each of Beijing Jinhui Jinjiang and Radiance Smart Holding is wholly-
owned by Radiance Group Holdings, which is in turn owned as to 64.97% by
Mr. Lam (an executive Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company)
and 35.03% by Ms. Lam (a controlling shareholder of the Company and
the spouse of Mr. Lam), each of Beijing Jinhui Jinjiang and Radiance Smart
Holding is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Corporate Guarantee and the Counter Corporate Guarantee
constituted provision and receipt of financial assistance, and connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18 March
2024,
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Set out below are the continuing connected transactions of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024, which are subject to the reporting and annual
review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

Property Management Services

On 22 December 2023, the Company entered into a Property Management
Related Services Framework Agreement with Radiance Lifestyle Holdings
Limited ("Radiance Lifestyle Holdings"), pursuant to which we agreed to
engage Radiance Lifestyle Holdings and/or its subsidiaries to provide property
management and related services to our Group, including but not limited to
(i) management services for unsold units and unsold car parking spaces; (ii)
pre-delivery management and value-added services which primarily include
(a) planning and design consultancy; (b) inspection, cleaning and repair of
units; (c) site security; and (d) ancillary facilities management services; and (iii)
sales management services which primarily include property management of
display units, and off- and on-site sales offices, with a term commencing from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The maximum transaction amounts under the New Property Management
Related Services Framework Agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2025 shall not exceed RMB300 million, RMB350 million and
RMB400 million, respectively. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 30 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount of service fee
payable by the Company to Radiance Lifestyle Holdings and/or its subsidiaries
for the Property Management Related Services amounted to RMB71 million,
which is within the annual cap of RMB350 million.

Radiance Lifestyle Holdings is wholly-owned by Radiance Group Holdings,
which is in turn owned as to 64.97% by Mr. Lam and 35.03% by Ms.
Lam. Radiance Lifestyle Holdings is therefore a connected person of our
Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Property Management Related Services Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for our Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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As each of the applicable percentage ratios (except for the profit ratio)
under the Listing Rules in respect of the highest annual cap in relation to
the Property Management Related Services Framework Agreement was over
0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated
thereunder are exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement but subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transaction has been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing the transaction on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, Ernst and Young, the
auditor of the Company, was engaged to report on the continuing connected
transactions and has provided a letter to the Board, confirming that nothing
has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the continuing
connected transaction mentioned above (i) has not been approved by the
Board; (ii) was not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions; and (iii) has exceeded the
annual cap.

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transaction” above, certain of these transactions also constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are not required to be disclosed in this
report under the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Specific Performance Obligations on the Controlling
Shareholder Under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules
13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a public float waiver under
Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules to accept a lower public float percentage
of the total issued share capital of 15.95%. Details of the waiver is set out in
the section headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the Listing Rules -
Waiver in relation to Public Float” of the Prospectus.

As at the date of this report, based on information that was public available
to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company
maintained the amount of public float as required under the public float
waiver.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is of the opinion that the Company had adopted, applied and
complied with all applicable code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG
Code during the year under review. except for the deviation from CG Code
provision C.2.1 as detailed under the section headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”section of this
report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out in the section headed “Financial summary”on
pages 221 to 222 of this report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur or
sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts,
except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or
dishonesty.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance for the
year ended 31 December 2024, which provides appropriate cover for the
Directors. The permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and remained in force as at the date of this report
for the benefit of the Directors.
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Save as disclosed in the above paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year and subsisted at the end of the year.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

The 2025 AGM will be convened and held on Friday, 27 June 2025. A notice
convening the 2025 AGM will be published on the Company's website
and the Stock Exchange’s website and despatched to the Shareholders in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules in due course. For the
purposes of determining the Shareholders’eligibility to attend, speak and vote
at the 2025 AGM, the Register of Members will be closed from Tuesday, 24
June 2025 to Friday, 27 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of the Shares will be effected. In order to determine the identity
of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 23 June 2025.

There has been no change in auditor since the Listing Date. The consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been audited by Ernst & Young who will retire at the 2025 AGM. Ernst &
Young, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By order of the Board

Lam Ting Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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To the shareholders of Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Radiance Holdings
(Group) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 86 to 220, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS Accounting Standards”’) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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We draw attention to Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group recorded a net loss of RMB10,052,176,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024, and the Group had short-term borrowings
of RMB7,532,895,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB1,829,772,000 as at 31 December 2024. These conditions along with other
matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated
in our report. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Key audit matter

FREZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERBRPNMAREMBEZER

Valuation of investment properties

REYFEGE

The Group owned investment properties in Mainland China, including
completed investment properties and investment properties under
construction, which were measured at fair value and their aggregate
carrying amount was approximately RMB16,368,800,000 as at 31
December 2024.
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The Group engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited, and Savills Valuation and Professional Services
(China) Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers to
perform the valuations of the aforementioned properties as at 31
December 2024. Significant judgement was required to determine
the fair values of the investment properties, which reflected market
conditions as at the end of the reporting period. The fair value of
completed commercial properties was determined using the income
approach by taking into account the rental income of the properties
derived from the existing leases and/or achievable in the existing
market with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of
the leases, which have been then capitalised to determine the fair
value at an appropriate capitalisation rate. The fair value of commercial
properties under construction was determined using the cost method,
which has taken into account the market value of land use right plus
the construction cost incurred so far and an appropriate gross margin.
Changes in these assumptions would have significant effects on the
valuation of the investment properties. Accordingly, the valuation of
the investment properties was identified as a key audit matter.
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The accounting policies and disclosures of the investment properties
were included in note 2.4, note 3 and note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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We assessed and evaluated the design and operating effectiveness
of the key controls of management in the valuation of investment
properties.
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We evaluated the competency, independence and objectivity of
the external valuers. We obtained an understanding of the valuation
approach and key assumptions used by the external valuers.
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We assessed the validity of the property related data used as inputs
for the valuations and involved our internal valuation experts to
assist us in evaluating the valuation methodology and the underlying
assumptions. We have evaluated the source data used in the valuation
by benchmarking them to the relevant market information on a
sampling basis.
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We assessed the disclosures related to the valuation of investment
properties in the consolidated financial statements with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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Key audit matter

FREZEE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERBRTPNMAREMBEZEE

Provision for land appreciation tax

THIRER

The Group is a property developer in Mainland China focusing on
the development of residential properties and the development,
operation and management of commercial and mixed-use properties.
Land appreciation tax ("LAT") in Mainland China was one of the
main components of the Group's taxation charge. LAT is levied on
the sale of properties at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
based on the appreciation of land value. As at 31 December 2024,
the management of the Group estimated the provision for LAT
based on their understanding and interpretation of the relevant
tax rules and regulations, and the total sales of properties less total
deductible expenditure, which included lease charges for land use
rights, property development costs, borrowing costs and development
expenditure. Provision for LAT in Mainland China was significant to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and involved
significant management judgement and interpretation of the relevant
tax provisions. Accordingly, provision for LAT was identified as a key
audit matter.
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REE (EE MG RERE N W ERE R (AR A K B
BT H) > HEMIBERBEEFRES c PEAE L MIEEREE
H BERGEMBREMEBE B REEBHNERAE
FEEARENZRE AL tHISEREEWRETAAEEZ
EIHe

The accounting policies and disclosures of the provision for land
appreciation tax were included in note 2.4, note 3 and note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

TR EREHEN S BERE R BH NGRS BIRRM 2.4 I
sE3RMIEE10°

We assessed and evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of
the key controls of management in the calculation of the provision for
LAT.

BT RTEEEBEE L IR ER B ENRERZES 28
SHREITRI R M o

We involved our internal tax specialists to assist us to perform a
review on the LAT position, including the review of the estimates and
assumptions used by the Group and the evaluation of tax exposure
based on communications with the relevant tax authorities by
applying our knowledge and experience. We also recalculated the tax
and compared our calculations with the amounts recorded by the
Group.
EECRERMANBRBERGY S EH T MILERKRET
B BIEEN BEECEANME RER UKIREEERR
BEFINBRRERESNMA KR ERBRER - BEETE
EMStERBESEER TRESHHAEERE SEEREN
TERETHER

We assessed the disclosures related to the provision for LAT in the
consolidated financial statements with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards.
EE2EZRTEENRE  sMER S HFRRANGRE L H1g
BERBEEORE-
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Key audit matter

FREZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERBRTPNMAREMBEZEE

Provision for impairment of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

BRPYERIFIEL EE T YER B ERE

The Group had properties under development and completed
properties for sale of RMB40,041,139,000 and RMB11,734,976,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2024, which represented 41% and
12% of the Group's total assets, respectively. The carrying amounts of
properties under development and completed properties for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
122024128318 AEBENE RPN ERTEHEMED IS
AR #40,041,139,00070 B AR 1#11,734,976,0007T > 3 BUAEE R 4
EEREENDKRI2% BRAVERAIHEEZ B TYETLZ
MARTSRFEZREESHE-

The determination of net realisable value (the “NRV") of the properties
under development and completed properties for sale involved critical
accounting estimates on the selling price, costs to make the sale and,
for properties under development, the costs to completion. Given the
significant balance of properties under development and completed
properties for sale and the involvement of critical accounting
estimates, the assessment of the net realisable value of properties
under development and completed properties for sale was considered
as a key audit matter.
HMEEBETYERAEREZETYEN TSR FE (TAIER
BE) T RHIHEES HENARRAIHEEEZBTIYEMS
2 IRANBEEGsHEs - ENERPYERIIHEEZET
MENBRGERUSOT RS S sTEER P E kol #
HEZETYENISRFERGAMRBETEERE

The accounting policies and disclosures of the properties under
development and completed properties for sale were included in
note 2.4, note 3, note 20 and note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.
ERPYERAEEEZBTIVYENSHBRABEEZHNEGS
PSR RMIEE2.4~ B 513 ~ BYEE20 R g 5221 ©

20244 F 3R

We assessed and evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of
the key controls of management in the calculation of the provision
for impairment of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale.

EEENE AT EEEEA BEERTYERFTFEEERT
YR E R R BRI 2 Rt BT A -

In assessing the NRV of the properties under development and
completed properties held for sale, we evaluated, on a sampling
basis, the reasonableness of their forecasted selling price based on
the current market price of properties of comparable locations and
conditions, and involved our internal valuation experts to assist us
in evaluating the methodology and key assumptions adopted in the
impairment assessments.
EENTEERPYERIHE ik TYEMN ] SIRFER > U
A RBE M IR EN SR T IHER > HEHTER
HEER 2 B FLSTE 105N 51 5 K 15 B 151G
PRBETERPTRAN G E R EERR

For construction costs to be incurred to complete properties under
development, we obtained an understanding of management'’s
process in estimating the future costs to completion for the properties
under development and assessed the reasonableness of the budgeted
construction costs, on a sampling basis, by comparing to the actual
development costs of similar projects recently completed by the
Group and by checking to construction contracts and other relevant
documents.

MEMERFPYERELENERERAMS  RMUETHREIERE
HERPYEZRRETHANMGSBE  WAHES R B8
B BEERATRZEUEENERMAZEMAETHLERZ
HEERSHOREMMBRAXX G  BREFEEREZ GBI EL T
flre

We assessed the disclosures related to the provision for impairment
of properties under development and completed properties held for
sale in the consolidated financial statements with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
EEE2ERTEAENNRE TGV BHRRABHEERE
YR EHED R TY X R ERENIRE -



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
‘I BEm R S

TIS R FHRARNEMER

ERREERHAMENGE - A1 EHNBETHNER
ARER ENEEGREMHREAEFHNZEMBRS -

EEHRAUBRRNERE T REAMER &
HZFHMBENERTATEANER SR

4

D

EEEEHRGMBRRNER EENETEREHM
B FILBRET EREMENERRGEEMBRERN
EEEERERTHRTENBERFEENEBENEUTFF
TEAHBRNBR - ENEFEATHIF NREFR
RHEMENGEEEAER EERERERETE -5
I A AR ©

EEMAEMBHRRAKENTSE

BAREFASAREEREG S EREEERGIEKRY
BREEREHENAEBRADRINKRERERBERE
MARNGEEHBRE THERRREGREHBHREN
BRETFEHNMGFERMERNERBRATBIASED
EHaE-

ERBESVBRERR, BRREFEENE S5£EH
REQENE LEERBRA TREAFECERRN
FR LUKERAFECEREAER RF BRTESEH

B BEEBRUFLEE NEAMBRNBERS
EZEZEGHY BSRAEFETHERE SEENH
BREBRRE-

ZHBEMMBIZG S M B RREKENERE

EEHNER EHGRAMBRREBRES T E AN
YHERMERNEAHERNEAERE THABGEES
BEROZEMRE EFEHE2RRERFHRS > FRIEU
Sy ARELEAMAR - EETERZBERENAE
MEREMALTE EHABERNEE
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

20244 F 3R
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Ho Wai Ling.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
‘I BEm R S

ZHEIMB R RS MBRRAENTE

(&)

BREMEIEN EERELLZETEBTHENELE
B -KEZH EXERERS QBEEFEEZTHID
P B 1% ) B9 £F ] B2 K ERFG ©

EETREZZEERNEA NAESFENGERBL
MHERSEEBRENR WRKEEBEA O o B2
REXEEEBIUMNMERARREMEE UREER
BYIBE T » 2 H BRE B T REXBY B BT Eh B S FE I

NEEZEZEEBEBNFEET EEREREBGROHF
BENEBEREAEENFE AMBERMREZEE B
EERUMBE T RAZEFRIE RIFERERTAFR
RREZEFE NEBRERENBERLT NMRGER
AESERETEBRRFTHRENNEEERRBBEENAR
Al BEEREFEEREFEEZEE

HERBIZBMRENERREGEARMER -

BEGEED
5H

202553H28H

Annual Report 2024 Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited

85



Year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12831HILEEE
2023
20234
Notes RMB'000
B =k AR#F T
REVENUE WA 5 24,766,044 34,248,685
Cost of sales & B A (30,565,283) (31,719,977)
Gross (loss)/profit £ (18 7 (5,799,239) 2,528,708
Other income and gains H U A R Wz 5 27,518 23,105
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHES (784,580) (1,030,479)
Administrative expenses THEEX (566,453) (686,337)
Finance income AW A 21,143 51,611
Finance costs B 75 Bl 2 7 (364,480) (295,840)
Other expenses HifZ (99,672) (152,134)
Fair value (losses)/gains on investment properties  REYHENAFE (BB W= 14 (619,518) 359,762
Fair value losses on financial assets BANTFEAAEGZNEREEN
at fair value through profit or loss NEEEE (84,375) (1,418)
Share of profits and losses of: FEAE A B EM R B8
Joint ventures e 17 (118,442) (99,360)
Associates & NE] 18 (433,955) 139
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX bRFR AT (B518) & A 6 (8,822,053) 697,757
Income tax expense FRiSMBx 10 (1,230,123) (1,131,700)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (10,052,176) (433,943)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FAREMZEWA  NRKRE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX = -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAZEEBREE (10,052,176) (433,943)
Attributable to: L& IEENS
Owners of the parent BREIHA A (9,111,234) (581,248)
Non-controlling interests JEER Em (940,942) 147,305
(10,052,176) (433,943)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Basic and diluted
- For loss for the year

BABEBEESRE AR
S RER

BEARREE
-AEERBER 12

RMB(2.25) yuan
AR(2.25)7T

RMB(0.14) yuan
AER#0.147T

20244 F 3R



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBRRER

31 December 2024
20245128318

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
20245 20236
12H31H 12831H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
MIEE ARETT AREBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB R RE 13 987,488 884,656
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 694,330 729,667
Investment properties KEYE 14 16,368,800 16,845,700
Intangible assets mIEEE 16 19,777 21,697
Investments in joint ventures REeEgbEnNEE 17 3,615,935 2,581,944
Investments in associates REERANEE 18 5,558,031 5,705,529
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AP EFt ABENSREE 26 = 84,405
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 19 1,857,739 2,286,927
Other non-current assets HMIERSEE 25 940,000 1,402,644
Total non-current assets FERBEEEE 30,042,100 30,543,169
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Properties under development FREEhY) 3 20 40,041,139 62,580,103
Completed properties held for sale BEHENE T 21 11,734,976 15,408,278
Trade receivables B 5 rEWEIE 22 37,491 39,458
Contract cost assets B AEE 23 802,815 899,672
Due from related parties FEE Ll A ik 75 =R 1B 41 3,841,100 4,100,131
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets ~ FB{J®UIE ~ H A fE W IE K
HMh&EE 24 6,846,278 8,028,479
Tax recoverable AU EIFRIE 918,739 1,082,370
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AV {EFF AIBENSRMEE 26 2,315 23,408
Restricted cash ZIREIRE 560,621 2,264,883
Cash and cash equivalents REeERIRASEBY 27 1,829,772 4,808,037
Total current assets MENEEEE 66,615,246 99,234,819
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENAE
Trade payables B ENTIE 28 10,236,011 11,053,574
Other payables and accruals HithERIERESTER 29 3,614,388 2,676,974
Contract liabilities sHaE 30 20,419,460 37,659,856
Due to related parties JFE {1 A B 5 T I8 41 5,219,487 4,928,152
Tax payable FETIRIE 10 6,195,266 5,739,088
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings HEIRIT R EMERR 31 6,292,790 11,734,403
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BEEIRIPESMEANIE 32 20,818 47,606
Senior notes BEER 33 = 2,142,841
Corporate bonds NEVES 34 1,219,287 15,707
Lease liabilities within one year —FNNEEERE 15 2,266 3,354
Total current liabilities BB EERE 53,219,773 76,001,555
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBIKRR
31 December 2024
20245128318

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
20244 20235
12831H 128318
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETT AR#F T
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFE 13,395,473 23,233,264
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERABARTEBAR 43,437,573 53,776,433
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREAE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FRBITREMMER 31 13,275,377 11,036,720
Proceeds from asset-backed securities EERFESFEIE 32 1,659,824 1,672,856
Corporate bonds NEVES 34 2,134,120 2,778,304
Lease liabilities HESE 15 1,013 2,497
Deferred tax liabilities RIERRIEEE 19 2,239,725 2,336,955
Total non-current liabilities IERBEE4EEE 19,310,059 17,827,332
Net assets BEFME 24,127,514 35,949,101
EQUITY L
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAGEE AELIEDR
Share capital [N 35,095 35,095
Reserves B 14,798,327 23,917,824
14,833,422 23,952,919
Non-controlling interests JEERE R 9,294,092 11,996,182
Total equity T m AR EE 24,127,514 35,949,101

Mr. Lam Ting Keung
HERTE
Director

E

88 &iEiE (EN) BRAT 2024FEFR

Ms. Wu Yankun
Epimut
Director

BE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

aREEHR

n\7r\
Year ended 31 December 2024
BE2024F 12831 HIEEFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
BARREEAERE
Statutory Asset Non-
Share Share Capital surplus  revaluation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
EERE  EEER
kA RHEE  ExHE 1 e REEN ECHIE 3200 3R 37
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 35 Note 36(a)  Note 36(b) Note 36(c)  Note 36(d)
MEss  MEseE Wl MEe0 M6
As at 31 December 2023 and 1*203F128318 R
1 January 2024 200481818 35,095 679,084 (555,406) 3,030,661 5287 20,758,198 23,952,919 11,996,182 35,949,101
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (9111,234)  (9111,234)  (940,942) (10,052,176)
Other comprehensive income for the year  EREMZEWA - - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERZEHREE - - - - - (9111,234)  (9,111,234)  (940,942) (10,052,176)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHRBAR - - - - - - - (405,058)  (405,058)
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserves 5HEEE R R - - - 129,808 - (129,808) = = =
Acquisition of non-controlling interests ~ WWEEFEIZ AR R - - (8,263) = S (8,263) (18,380) (26,643)
Capital reduction by the non-controlling M B AR JFERRRAE
shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (1,338310) (1,338,310)
Capital contribution by the non-controlling B AT ZRRRHE
shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 600 600
At31 December 2024 04128318 35005 679084 (63669 316046° 5287 11517156 14833420 9294092 24127514
As at 31 December 2022 and R02E128318 K
1 January 2023 03F1818 35,095 679,084 (555,406) 2844218 5287 21,525,889 245347167 11,048,871 35,583,038
(Loss)/profit for the year £/ (558) /& - - - - - (581,48) (581,248) 147,305 (433,943)
Other comprehensive income for the year  EREMZEWRA - - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ER2E (58 /WALE
for the year - - - - (581,248) (581,248) 147,305 (433,943)
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserves st 1274 E BERE & - - - 186,443 - (186,443) - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  WXEESEEEIRHER
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHBAT - - - - - - - (164,127) (164,127)
Capital contribution by the non-controlling i BA R JEIEIR AR H E
shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 980,800 980,800
Dividends declared to the non-controlling 1M EA B IR RS RS
shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (16,667) (16,667)
At 31 December 2023 2023128318 35,095 679,084* (555,400) 3,030,661* 5287%  20,758,198* 23952919 11,996,182 35,949,101

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB14,798,327,000 (2023: RMB23,917,824,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

* RERBROERE

SEUBERIRINGEREEARE
14,798,327,00077 (20234 © AR %£23,917,824,0007T) °©
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Year ended 31 December 2024
B E2024F12831HIEFE

2023
20236
Notes RMB'000
MIEE AREFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REETHERERE
(Loss)/profit before tax: BRIR AT (B548) A (8,822,053) 697,757
Adjustments for: FHE
Depreciation of items of property, plant and ME -BERZBEEITE
equipment 6,13 42,173 21,993
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESERNE 6,15(a) 34,504 38,839
Amortisation of intangible assets IS EEH 6,16 4,975 4,472
Impairment losses recognised for properties under B 8% rh#) 2 FE B AU E A5 18
development 6,20 6,663,782 646,628
Impairment losses recognised for completed FIEHEBB T ERIEN
properties held for sale AERIE 6,21 2,493,653 352,141
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised for SREE B&MD) EIN
financial assets BB 1B 6,22,24 (12,997) 26,793
Exchange (gains)/losses ER (W) R (124,833) 40,826
Fair value losses from financial assets at fair value AT EF ABHENSRE E
through profit or loss WAFEEE 84,375 1418
Gain on derecognition of fair value through RIEEREAFESABEN
profit or loss gt 5 - (108)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures DMEEEtE G KREE 17 118,442 99,360
Share of profits and losses of associates DMEBE AT B KR EE 18 433,955 (139)
Fair value losses/(gains) on investment properties BB XA FERE
(Wz) 14 619,518 (359,762)
Net gain on disposal of items of property, plant HEYME BERZEEEDN
and equipment F R (10,167) (1,699)
Losses/(gains) on disposal of right-of-use assets HEEREEENESIE
(Wz) 523 (853)
Finance costs LB 7 364,480 295,840
Finance income B UA (21,143) (51,611)
Decrease in properties under development and MEPMERSFEEBRET
completed properties held for sale MR 16,534,344 23,637,814
Decrease in prepayments and other receivables FE < 7R I8 K E A FE U w s R D 1,287,271 1,415,623
Decrease in restricted cash Z PR IR % R 1,704,262 5,634,463
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 e EIE 2,068 0,848
Decrease in contract cost assets SHRAEER D 86,209 306,282
Increase in trade payables B 5 eI I IEE (716,268) (2,050,675)
Increase in amounts due from related parties e Wit R Bt 75 R TE A 0 (394,086) (92,575)
Increase in other payables and accruals HMEAIE R EST &AM 77,242 41,427
Decrease in contract liabilities aHEaERD (16,874,214) (22,244,452)
Increase in amounts due to related parties JRE 1< A Bk 75 RR B 0 124,421 39,973
Cash generated from operations KERBRE 3,700,436 8,509,623
Interest received BUFE 21,143 51,611
Tax paid BERIE (718,307) (457,840)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEHMGREREFH 3,003,272 8,103,394
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER
Year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F 12831 HIEEE
2023
20234
Notes RMB'000
s AREFT
CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM INVESTING BEEH FTA) FBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYME -BEMLREER
plant and equipment (103,812) (169,041)
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE 16 (3,058) (1,970)
Purchases of right-of-use assets EETREEE - (24,850)
Increase in investment properties BTN (142,618) (375,738)
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value W A T EFT ABE
through profit or loss TREE (20,000) (19,977)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value HEZRAFESABRN
through profit or loss EMEE 41,123 20,168
Disposal of subsidiaries HEME RS 45 (87,061) -
Advances to related parties AR 5 7E BB 41 (355,528) (51,498)
Receipt of advances to related parties W ER 15 B B 5 TE BB =R 41 615,998 2,562,477
Disposal of items of property, plant and equipment HE¥ ¥ E k&R EEE 20,912 3,114
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing ’EEE FrA) FiERRERE
activities e (34,044) 1,942,685
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZEBFIARESRE
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BITAMKRESEHRIA 34 542,158 1,586,859
Repayment of proceeds from issue of BEEITABBESMSNIE
corporate bonds - (2,081,300)
Capital contribution from non-controlling MBABJEIERRELEE
shareholders of the subsidiaries 600 980,800
Interest paid BEAFE (1,374,479) (2,474,009)
Advances from related parties BEE S IR BB 41 463,703 203,332
Repayment of advances from related parties BER B IRHEER 41 (296,789) (752,620)
Repayment of proceeds from asset-backed securities {832 & E K B8 H 1S RE (12,024) (3,580,944)
Decrease in pledged deposits BIERTE IR LD - 10,000
Repayment of proceeds from issue of senior notes B3 1T BIRMIFTSTIE (1,028,380) -
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank and FRIRIT REMERPAERIE
other borrowings 55,000 6,573,940
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and BE st BIR1T R EMAER
other borrowings (4,294,758) (10,107,215)
Payment of lease liabilities GiER=S=N=ENE 15 (2,590) (7,497)
Net cash flows used in financing activities RMEEFARERERE (5,947,559) (9,648,654)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND REKRRELEEY GRL) Em
CASH EQUIVALENTS B8 (2,978,331) 397,425
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FRRERER
Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12B31HIEFE

2023
20236
Notes RMB'000
M 5 AREF T
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FNRERREEEBY 4,808,037 4,410,184
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEEXREBNF R 66 428
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR EXIRERIREZEEY 1,829,772 4,808,037
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERRESEEMEERN DR
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTHER 27 2,390,393 7,072,920
Less: Restricted cash B ZREIRE 27 560,621 2,264,883
Cash and cash equivalents as stated WEREBXRMINRER
in the statement of cash flows REHBY 1,829,772 4,808,037
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The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange’) on 29
October 2020. The registered office address of the Company is PO. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year,
the Group was involved in the development and sale of properties,
property leasing and the provision of management consulting services
and hotel service.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Radiance Group Holdings Limited,
which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

31 December 2024
20245128318

ARBlA—BRHESEEFMRIINEREAR -
KATRIDIR2020F 108298 EEBMEXZFFA
[RAT (TB3RFRY) EMR EH o AR RBNEMIER
H#3EAPO. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands o

FRBRREZERAB - RER > REHBHEYERR
BRHE - MERERIEHERE IR KBS R
%%O

EERXR FRANERATDREREERRAB BN
HEHSEMR LN TEERTERBRAT

BRI BABNER
FABAEEMBABOHERIDT

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
NG
AL/ ERRE B
RE%HE M ERREEME AfE BZEMM IEEH
(1000)
UT#)
Directly held:
BB
Jubilance Properties Limited British Virgin Islands U5$0.003 100.00%  Investment holding
EEEREE 0003% 7T REER
Indrectly held:
BERE
Radiance Group Co, Ltd. (‘Radiance Group’) (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,800,000 96.00%  Property development
cBEERHERAT (EBEE) e/ hElR B 11,800,000 NERY
Beijing Juye Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB3,961,408 96.00%  Property development
('Beijing Juye Real Estate’) R/ E R AR 396140870 and leasing
BREXEXBRAE ((LREREZ) NEHEREE
Beijing Beijian Land Port International Logistics Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB124,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Beijing Beijian Land Port International’) R/ Rl ARE1240007 ESE

SRERERERRERAT
(MERIEEBER)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATFEM
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Ma EMRERME HfE BEEst EERE
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Shenyang Guangxing Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB21,000 96.00%  Property development
(o, Ltd. ('Shenyang Guangxing Properties’) HE/RE R AEHE,0007 ES
EREERHMEREERAD MEREARRE))
Shijiazhuang Ronghui Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. (‘Shijiazhuang Ronghui Properties’) R/ E R AR 100007 MERE
EXHRERNEREERAT
(RERERERME)
Fuzhou Ronghui Properties Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB216,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Fuzhou Ronghui Properties’) HE/RE R AR#216,0007 ES
BINEBEMERRAT (ENREENE)
Ronggiao (FuZhou) Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China US$30,000 5760%  Property development
('Rongqiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate’) R/ E R 30,000% 7% MERE
mE N EXBRAD (RE @M EE)
Quanzhou Qitai Real Estate Co, Ltd. () PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 24.96%  Property development
(‘Quanzhou Qitai Real Estate’) R/ Rl AR 2000007 ESE
FHEREXERAR (RNRFEE)
Chongging Jinhui Changjiang Properties (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB741,701 96.00%  Property development
(o, Ltd. (‘Chongging Jinhui Changjiang) HE/E R ARE41,7017 ESE
EESRRIBHERRAS (EELEBRIL)
Huizhou Hengshengtai Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB120,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Huizhou Hengshengtai Properties’) R/ E R ARE120,0007 MERY

ENHERREHEREARAT
(B ERFEE)
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

2024412831H

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
AR
HMERL/ AR A B
GER Wi EMREEHE AfE Emant IEEHR
('000)
(U Fzf)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
B#EE (8
Xi'an Jinhui Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB746,424 96.00%  Property development
(‘Xi'an Jinhui Properties’ E/REAM AR®74642470 ESE
AZEERMAERLIERAT (EREBREYE)
Xi'an Jinhui Juye Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB392,157 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. (Xi'an Jinhui Juye Properties’) HE/ HERNH AE8392,1577 MR
AR EEERMEREERAR
(EZEREERME)
Lianyungang Lianhui Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB310,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Lianyungang Lianhui Properties Development) HE/HERM ARMH3100007 e
EEEBERRNEREERAD
(EEREREHERE)
Xi'an Qujiang Yuanshan Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB105,260 96.00%  Property development
(‘Xi'an Qujiang Yuanshan Real Estate’) R/ FRElH ARE1052607 MR
AZWIRUEXERAD (BRIIFLES)
Xi'an Qujiang Hechuang Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ('Xi'an Qujiang Hechuang Properties’) e/ FERN AR#1000007 {ESES
AZi I A8 R ERSEERAT
(BREIAEIENE)
Xi'an Bolang Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Xi'an Bolang Properties Development’) R/ Rl AR 200007 MERE
AR EREHEREERAT
(EZEMENERS)
Xi'an Huiyao Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB21,050 96.00%  Property development
(‘Xi'an Huiyao Properties’) HE/ HERNH NEH21,0507 MR
AEERBHEREARAT (EERRNE)
Shaanxi Fenghong Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(o, Ltd. ('Shaanxi Fenghong Properties’) R/ E R NE50,0007T MERE

RAEELEHEREERAR (RARMEHE)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATEM
AL,/ i R
REBHE Mz EMRERME HfE BEEAt EERH
((000)
(T3
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Suzhou Jinhui Xinyuan Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Jinhui Xinyuan’) HE/ HERM AR 200007 MERE
B2 ETEELERAT (2BHE)
Jurong Gonghua Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. (Jurong Gonghua Properties’) HE/E R AR 1200007 MERR
DEHERNEREERLT (DEHERNE)
Huaian Jinhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
 ('Huaian Jinhui Real Estate’) e/ hE R AR 1000007 ERE
EZEREXBRAR MRREBEE)
Lianyungang Ronghui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
('Lianyungang Ronghui Real Estate’ E/ E R B %100,0007 WERY
BEZERESEARAE (EEHRBES))
Yancheng Jinhui Juye Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. Yancheng Jinhui Juye Properties’) i/ RE M AR®100,0007 MERYS
R eREEEHEREERAE
(EHEBRERME)
Zhenjiang Ronghui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Zhenjiang Ronghui Real Estate’) R/ Rl ARE100,0007 ESE
BIREEXERAR ((FIMBEEE)
Yangzhou Rongyu Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB246,500 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ld. 'Yangzhou Rongyu Properties’ R/ FRE AR 2465007 ESE
ENRTRHEREERAD (BNRFRERE)
Wuhan Yaoxing Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 6240%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ('Wuhan Yaoxing Properties’) e/ HE R B H1,000,0007T MR

RERERHEREBREMAT
(HERERME)
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

2024412831H

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FRFEL
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Ma EMRERME HfE BEEst EERE
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Zhenjiang Rongyu Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Zhenjiang Rongyu Properties Development’) E/ E R ARE500007 NERE
BIRTRUEREERAD (HIRFRERE)
Beijing Ronghui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Beijing Ronghui Real Estate’) R/ E R AR3000007 MERE
FRREEEERAT (N RHEEE)
Fujian Xinlianhui Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 81.60%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ('Fujian Xinlianhui Properties’) R/ Rl AR 10,0007 MR
BREENBRUEREERAT
(RREHERRE)
Wuhan Sanjianghui Logistics Investment () PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 3840%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ('Wuhan Sanjianghui’) HE/ HERH AR 5000007 ek
RESIEMRRERRAD (REZIE))
Xi'an Yaowei Real Estate Limited (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB550,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Xi'an Yaowei Real Estate’) R/ Rl AR 550,007 ESE
BZRHEXERAD ((ERBEHEE)
Beijing Jinhui Beiwang Commercial Management Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Business management
(‘Beijing Jinhui Beiwang Commercial Management) HE/ HERH AR#500007 EHER

BREENLHEERERAT
(MREWILHERER)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATEM
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Mz EMRERME HfE BEEAt EERH
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Huizhou Shengjie Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB260,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Huizhou Shengjie Properties’) HE/RE R AE 26000070 ESE
EMBAERHEREERAT
(ENTAERRE)
Zhangjiagang Ronghui Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 67.20%  Property development
(o, Ltd. ('Zhangjiagang Ronghui Properties’) R/ Rl AR 50,0007 ESE
RRARERNEREERAT
(MRRAREREHE))
Huaf'an Huiyao Properties Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB69,497 96.00%  Property development
("Huai'an Huiyao Properties’) HE/ HERH AR 694977 MR
HREREHERRAD MEXERENE))
Lianyungang Jinhui Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. (‘Lianyungang Jinhui Properties’) R/ Rl AR 50,0007 ESE
EZELERNERLEERAT
(EZALBEREME))
Wuxi Yunhui Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (3)  PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 4896%  Property development
('Wuxi Yunhui Properties’) R/ E R AR2000007 MERE
ERZEREMEREARAD (BRERENE))
Fuqing Jinhai Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 67.20%  Property development
(‘Fuging Jinhai Properties’) R/ Rl AR 500,007 ESE
RESBRMERLERLAS (BEEEEHE)
Foshan Chanhui Properties Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Foshan Chanhui Properties’) HE/E R AR 10,0007 MERY

RUTEEEHEERAR (BUTEERENE)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

2024412831H

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATFEM
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Ma EMRERME HfE BEEst EERE
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Beijing Jinhui Shibaqu Commercial Management Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Business management
(‘Beijing Jinhui Shibaqu Commercial Management) HE/ HERH ARE500007 EHER
BREiER \EBBEERERAR
(FRERE\EHEER)
Chongging Qihui Yaocheng Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Chongqing Qihui Yaocheng’) R/ Rl AR 3000075 ESE
EENEREEREERAT
(EERBREEE)
Yangzhou Jinghui Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China US$193,705 64.32%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Yangzhou Jinghui Properties’) R/ E R 193705% 7T MERE
ENREREREARAD (MBNREENE))
Huai'an Xianghui Properties Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
('Huai'an Xianghui Properties’) R/ Rl AR 50,0007 ESE
EZHBEHEERAS (ERHERME)
Huai'an Xinyao Properties Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Huai'an Xinyao Properties’) HE/ER AE#5000070 MERY
EZEREHEERAS (RRERENE)
Lianyungang Huiyao Real Estate Development () PRC/Mainland China RMB313,200 4800%  Property development
(o, Ltd. (‘Lianyungang Huiyao Real Estate’) "/ HERNH AR®3132007 EE
EZERERNEREERAT
(EEERERYE)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

BB ARNER (@)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

AATTEHEADNEERIIMT : @)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATEM
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Mz EMRERME HfE BEEAt EERH
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Shenyang Huiyao Properties Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 96.00%  Property development
(o, Ltd. (‘Shenyang Huiyao Properties Development’) HE/PER AR 20,0007 ES ke
BREEREREERAT
(FERERENERE)
Tianjin Huiyao Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Tianjin Huiyao Real Estate’) R/ Rl AR 50,0007 ESE
FEREEHEREERAD (REEREHE)
Shijiazhuang Qiyang Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 76.80%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ['Shijiazhuang Qiyang Real Estate’) E/ E R B 15000078 MEHE
EXHRGRHEREERAT
(ERERBERE)
Nantong Jinghui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB51,000 96.00%  Property development
('Nantong Jinghui Real Estate’) R/ Rl AR 51,0007 ESE
BEREEXERAD ((HRREEE)
Xi'an Jiapan Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Xi'an Jiapan Real Estate’) i/ SE R AE 5000070 MERY
BREEEXERAR ((AXREEE)
Yancheng Zhaorui Real Estate Development (3)  PRC/Mainland China RMB46,000 4896%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Yancheng Zhaorui Real Estate’) HE/HERNH AR #46,00070 MERE
KRR EREARAD (ERRRENE))
Chengdu Ruihua Enterprise (Group) Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB25,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Chengdu Ruihua Enterprise’) R/ Rl AR 25,0007 ESE

ABnEL: BE) ARECAR (APRELE)
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

2024412831H

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FRFEL
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Ma EMRERME HfE BEEst EERE
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Xiaogan Quanzhou Hongbo Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
('Xiaogan Quanzhou Hongho’) E/ E R ARH10000070 NERE
ZR2MERELERAS (ZH2NBHEEE)
Hubei Chijing Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB133,333 7200%  Property development
('Hubei Chijing Real Estate’) R/ E R AR¥I1333337 MERE
AL EHEERAD THEHEENE)
Fuzhou Jinhui Property Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Fuzhou Jinhui Property’) R/ Rl AR 50,0007 ESE
BNEBEXERAS (BHEEBEE)
Changsha Rongyu Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB103,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Changsha Rongyu Real Estate’) HE/E R AR103,0007 ES
RVRTRHEERAS (RVBFELE)
Changsha Ronghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB103,000 96.00%  Property development
('Changsha Ronghui Real Estate’) R/ E R AR103,0007 MERE
ROVBERMEERAS (RVBEEYE)
Chongging Yuhui Jiajing Real Estate (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000 96.00%  Property development
Developrent Co, Ltd. (‘Chongging Yuhui R/ Rl AR 30,0007 ESE
Jiajing Real Estate’)
EREAREREHEREERAR
(ERAREREYE)
Anhui Lanhui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
('Anhui Lanhui Real Estate’) R/ Rl AR 50,0007 ESE

SHEREXERAT (RBERER)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATEM
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Mz EMRERME HfE BEEAt EERH
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Anhui Gaoyue Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Anhui Gaoyue Real Estate’) HE/PER AE#500007 MERY
ZHBREXERAR ZHBERES)
Chongging Huiderui Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB750,000 5760%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ('Chongqing Huiderui Real Estate’) R/ E R AR8750,0007 MERE
EREEERNEREERAT
(EEREERME)
Ningbo Qihui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 5760%  Property development
(‘Ningbo Qihui Real Estate’) HE/ HERH B 1500,00072 MEHE
ERHEEXERAR ERRBEE)
Taicang Ronghui Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB512,500 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. (‘Taicang Ronghui Real Estate’) R/ E R ARES5125007 MERY
RERERHEREARAD (REMERME))
Yangzhou Rongyu Youbu Real Estate Development () PRC/Mainland China RMB15,500 47.04%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ('Yangzhou Rongyu Youbu Real Estate’) R/ Rl AR 1550078 ESE
ENBRFESEHEREERAT
(ENRFESEHE)
Huai'an Qihui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB250,000 5760%  Property development
(‘Huai'an Qihui Real Estate’) El/ RER AR 25000078 MERE
HRHERHERRAD MEXRERNE))
Ningbo Yunjing Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
('Ningbo Yunjing Real Estate’) R/ Rl AR 50,0007 ESE

EREREXARNF (BRERER)
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mt F5eR R M 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATFEM
AL,/ i R
REBHE Ma EMRERME HfE BEEst EERE
((000)
(T 5)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Shaoxing Yuehui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘shaoxing Yuehui Real Estate’) FHE/RE P AR 50,0007 MERE
REUEEXERAR (HRUEEE)
Ningbo Yunhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
('Ningbo Yunhui Real Estate’) R/ E P AR 5000075 MERY
EREEELXARAD (EREBEL))
Huizhou Chijing Investment Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Investment holding
('Huizhou Chijing Investment’) R/ Py AR 50,0007 RERE
EMFHRREERAS (EMHERRE)
Foshan Xianghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 96.00%  Property development
('Foshan Xianghui Real Estate’) FHE/RE R ARE100007 ESE
BUPHERHEERAR (MBLTHERME)
Beijing Juye Real Estate Consultation Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000 96.00%  Consulting
(‘Beijing Juye Real Estate’) R/ E P AR 86,0007 EE
FRBEERHELARRAD ((LREEEHE))
Tianjin Qihui Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Tianjin Qihui Real Estate’) R/ E Pyt AR 50,0007 ESE
REHERHMEREERAD (RERBREHE)
Tianjin Lanhui Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Tianjin Lanhui Real Estate’) E/ E AR 50,0007 MEBE

REEEENERSERAS (RE2EERHE)
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

BB A

NEINE R ()

AATEEWBADORBHRIMT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FRAFEL
sMERL/ ERE IR
DA% M ERREZME HiE RREAL TEEH
((000)
(T 3t)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

R (B

Huaian Huisheng Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 5280%  Property development
("Huaian Huisheng Real Estate’) FE/RE P NE 50,0007 MERE

EZEREEHMEERAS (HRERENE)

Fuging Jinfu Xinmao Properties Co, Ltd. () PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 3744%  Property development
(‘Fuging Jinfu Xinmao Properties’) HE/RE R AR 2000007 ESE

BELRIMRBEHAERRAT
(REERMREYE)

Fuging Jingchen Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 5760%  Property development
('Fuging Jingchen Properties Development) HE /BRI AR 2000007 MERE
BERRRMEREERAT
(REREREMERE)

Shijiazhuang Gaoyue Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(o, Ltd. ‘Shijiazhuang Gaoyue Real Estate’) FHE/E R AR 50,0007 MERE

AERERREHEREERAT
(BERERRELE)

Shanghai Ronggang Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Shanghai Ronggang Real Estate’) HE/ HENH ARH10000070 ESE

LERBEXBRAR (LEMEEE)

Langfang Qihui Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(o, Ltd. (Langfang Qihui Real Estate’) R/ E Pyt AR 50,0007 ESE

BhhRERHERLERAT
(EomEERLE)

Shijiazhuang Jinhui Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB750,000 5280%  Property development
Co, Ltd. (‘Shijiazhuang Jinhui Real Estate’) HE/E R ARET750,0007 ESE

ERHEERAEREERAR
(ExXHEEERE)
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

2024412831H

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATFEM
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Ma EMRERME HfE BEEst EERE
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Fuzhou Jinghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
('Fuzhou Jinghui Real Estate’) FHE/RE P ARH1000007T ES
BINRBREMEERAT (RNFEEE)
Fuzhou Lanhui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
('Fuzhou Lanhui Real Estate’) R/ E P AR 5000075 MERY
ENEREHEERAD (BMERERE)
Quanzhou Zhaoming Real Estate Co, Ltd. (3)  PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 4896%  Property development
(‘Quanzhou Zhaoming’) R/ Py AR 2000007 ESE
FHMRHEXERAR TRINRHEE)
Quanzhou Huiyao Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 86.40%  Property development
(o, Ltd. ("Quanzhou Huiyao Real Estate’) /SRyt AR 2000007 ES
FMEREHMEREERAT (RNERERE))
Lianyungang Jinghui Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB729,730 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ('Lianyungang Jinghui Real Estate’) R/ E P ARE97307 MERY
EZERERNEREERAT
(EEERBREME)
Chongging Jinhuixingyao Real Estate Development (3)  PRC/Mainland China RMB390,800 48.10%  Property development
(o, Ltd. ('Chongqing Jinhuixingyao Real Estate’) FE/E R AR 3908007 ESE
EESREEREHEREERAT
(EEEREREHE)
Foshan Jinhui Property Investment Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Foshan Jinhui Property Investment’) R/ Py AR 10,0007 ESE

BUTEEEHERRAR (BUTEBEHNE)
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FATEM
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Mz EMRERME HfE BEEAt EERH
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Huizhou Chuanginfa Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Huizhou Chuangxinfa Properties Development’) FE/E P AR 10,0007 ES ke
ENmAHEEHEBEERAR
(ENHEAHEENERE))
Chongging Ronghui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB177,250 96.00%  Property development
(‘Chongqing Ronghui Real Estate’) R/ Py AREI177,2507 ESE
EERERMEERLS (EBRERYE)
Suzhou Jinhui Juye Co, Ltd. ("Suzhou Jinhui Juye') (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
BEMEBEXERAR ((BNEBREE) E/ E AE 10000070 NERE
Huizhou Runyang Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Huizhou Runyang Properties Development') FHE/E R AR30,0007 ES ke
EMTRERNEREERAT
(ENTEEEHERS))
Quanzhou Gaoyue Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB140,000 81.60%  Property development
(‘Quanzhou Gaoyue Properties Development’) R/ Ry AR140,0007 ESE
SENEREHEREERAT
(RNERENERE)
Fuqing Jinhui Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Fuging Jinhui Real Estate) R/ E P AR 1500007 MR
BELREHERZBRAT
(RELBRENERE)
Wuhan Jinhui Rongyu Real Estate Development (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB102,041 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ('Wuhan Jinhui Rongyu Real Estate’) FE/E P ARB1020417 MEEE
RESERTEUEREERAR
((HELRRFEHERS))
Xi'an Juye Construction Engineering Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,100,000,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Xi'an Juye Construction’) R/ Py ARE ESE
REEXRETRARAR (AREEREIR) 1,100,000,0007%
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mt F5eR R M 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective
percentage of
Place of the controlling
incorporation/ Nominal value equity interest
registration of registered attributable to
Names of companies Note and business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FRFEL
B3 AT ERE BRI
REBHE Ma EMRERME HfE BEEst EERE
((000)
(UF3t)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
R (8
Fuzhou Yunhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (3)  PRC/Mainland China RMB471,000 4896%  Property development
(‘Fuzhou Yunhui Real Estate’) e/ E R AR B471,0007C NEEE
BINEREHEERAT (RNEEENE))
Chongqing Jinyonghe Properties Development Co, Ltd (3)  PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 48.96%  Property development
('Chongqing Jinyonghe Properties Development’) R/ E P AR 82000007 MERY
BEREARBHEREERAT
(EEEXAEHERE))
Xi'an Yongting Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB16,300 96.00%  Property development
('Xi'an Yongting Real Estate’) E/ E N AEHB168007 NERE
BRKEEXERAR (EXKREE)
Hangzhou Ronghui Mingzhu Industrial Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
('Hangzhou Ronghui Mingzhu Industrial’) R/ E P ARE100,0007 MERY
nMEEREEXERAT (MMNREREEER))
Shaoxing Xianghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Shaoxing Xianghui Real Estate’) R/ Ry AR 50,0007 ESE
AEREEXERAD (RRHEEE)
Ningbo Lanhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Ningbo Lanhui Real Estate’) HE/ HENH AE 15000078 MEHE

ERERELERAN (ZRERER)

The English names of all group companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the management of the Company
to translate their Chinese names as they do not have an official English
name. The legal form of all the principal subsidiaries disclosed above is

limited liability company.

FIERFREMZERERRZAXBBRARIERE
BEEREBAPXLBENIZCHEAEL H
WEBEAENZER ULRBZFANBRRZE
BREXEIRAEREERR
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Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Notes:

(1) These entities are subsidiaries of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of
the Company's control over them.

(2) Pursuant to the articles of association, the Group has been entitled with
voting right to control and operate these entities. Thus, these entities
are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group despite of the Group
holding less than 50% of equity interests in them.

(3) These entities are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group despite of
the Group holding less than 50% of equity interests in them because the
non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company hold more than 50%
equity interests in these entities to control and operate them.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

During the period, the Group disposed of interests in a number of
subsidiaries to certain third parties which had material effect on the
consolidated financial statements (note 45).

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS Accounting
Standards”) (which include all standards and interpretations,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations) approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an
entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(0) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest
and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Going concern basis

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB10,052,176,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024, and the Group had short-term borrowings
of RMB7,532,895,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB1,829,772,000 as at 31 December 2024. These conditions indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances and the current economic environment,
the directors of the Company have given consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group and its available sources of financing including
credit facilities in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The directors of the
Company also have implemented various measures to ensure that the
Group maintains adequate working capital, including:

(i) accelerating the sale of properties and speeding up the
collection of sales proceeds;

(ii) closely monitoring the process of construction of its property
development projects to ensure that construction and related
payments are fulfilled and the relevant properties sold under
pre-sale arrangements are completed and delivered to the
customers on schedule;

(i) seeking continuously for re-financing of existing borrowings
as well as new debt financing and bank borrowings at costs
acceptable to the Group to finance the settlement of its
existing financial obligations and future operating and capital
expenditures; and

(iv)  not committing on significant capital expenditures and land
acquisitions before securing the necessary funding.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the following twelve
months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property sector
and the uncertainties to obtain continuous support by the banks
and the Group's creditors, material uncertainties exist as to whether
management of the Company will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
may have to be made to write down the values of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current

(the 2020 Amendments”)
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

(the”2022 Amendments”)
Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

2.1

2.2
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The nature and impact of the revised IFRS Accounting Standards are
described below:

a)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of initial
application of IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the
classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the amendments.
Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these revised
IFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’®
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures’
Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Accounting Standards
- Volume 11

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9,
IFRS 10 and IAS 72

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

? Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a
number of sections have been brought forward from IAS 1 with limited
changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within
the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals.
Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary
financial statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as IAS 8 Basis of
Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 33 Farnings per Share and IAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards. IFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with
earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's
financial statements.

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards. To
be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a
subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
cannot have public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements available
for public use which comply with IFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not
eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries
are considering the application of IFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.
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Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on which a financial
asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an accounting
policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through
an electronic payment system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual
cash flow characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social
and governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets
with non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures for investments
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent
features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an
adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of
equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time or
only the amendments related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 address contracts referencing
nature-dependent electricity, providing clarity on the application of
the ‘own-use’ requirements for such contracts. These amendments
permit entities to designate contracts referencing nature-dependent
electricity as hedging instruments for forecast electricity transactions,
allowing the designation of a variable nominal amount of forecast
electricity transactions as the hedged item. Furthermore, IFRS 7 has
been amended to mandate disclosures for contracts excluded from
the scope of IFRS 9, including information on contractual features that
expose the entity to variability in electricity amounts, commitments
arising from such contracts, and qualitative and quantitative details
regarding the financial performance impact during periods when
electricity cannot be utilized. The IFRS 7 disclosure amendments
must be applied concurrently with the IFRS 9 amendments. While the
clarifications on ‘own-use’ requirements are applied retrospectively
without the use of hindsight, hedge accounting may be applied
prospectively to new hedging relationships designated on or after the
initial application date. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between
the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was
removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate
comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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B B R B et ERHIFELE—F 1

Annual Improvements to /FRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set

out amendments to IFRS 1, /FRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance 5| R IR EHERE 157 B B IREERE 75
on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the (R WE MY B PR B 5 3R S ZE RSB 798 B 5 5 1) ~ BIPRRA
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as IR EERFET BRI BIREERFE 1058 R ERK

follows: Gt ERESRETE - RMBERAREAERNZRFE
STAEIBUT ¢

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7
and paragraphs IG1, 1G14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate
all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of IFRS 7
nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that
when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has been
extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is required
to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise any resulting
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and
Appendix A of IFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments
clarify that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of IFRS
10 is just one example of various relationships that might exist
between the investor and other parties acting as de facto
agents of the investor, which removes the inconsistency with
the requirement in paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
IAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon
loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit
or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as

held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 1 -

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, properties under
development, completed properties held for sale, deferred tax assets,
financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group
of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(if) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the

asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and

depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose

are as follows:

Buildings 2.25% to 9.50%
11.25% to 31.67%

18.00% to 32.33%

Over the shorter of the lease
terms and benefit period

Motor vehicles
Office equipment and electronic devices
Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of

property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

20244 F 3R

M BB e nr e BA AT B8

W BB R (R IIZRIN TR AR R 54T
ERERAEREINR - YME BERREEENR
FEEHBEEEREACEERABFRBEESE
EHE Bt BB B AL A ©

FIERYME -BEARBRERAEFRASIRN
XU MEERFREES  BENZEHBBEA
Bm o WEMFTER HREIEREERATIFEAE
ENBEERABEANTUBRE - HABOYE BB
RBREATHEE  NEEBEIZBOYE - BMEK
REREEBECREHNERNEERARMEH
TEHITE -

WEDUEGEZRA G AERFHRMBEREY
X BEARBHNAZEHFIGREEB ANILENN
FEMERERNRDT ¢

¥ 2.25%ZF9.50%
AE 11.25%Z31.67%
MARBRETESE 18.00%%32.33%
HEYEEE HHERRREARE

BIEEAE

E-—EVE -BERRFENZLOAETATERE
B ZBENRADNRAEEEETERNZED
B ME DT ERNMITE - FeREE I ERFEH
RIFEFEZEDREVBFEERE > WAFHAE
(NER) °

AERTEEINENERSEDEN WE - -BMEK
RENBEENHERAREFEARNHETEHRE
6] SR AR AR A ) 2 B 4% LE B BT o (A L 5 B R BE T 1Y 2%
EERUIERIFETEaABINEAEE AR
BEHNEMEMEFHEEARAENERE

ERIEBDEAANBRERBERRIE BFFH
E-ERIERNERLAHEAREMBAES
ZHE B R BRI o



Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties
or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property
occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes
an investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under "Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Right-of-
use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of
change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” below. For a transfer from inventories
to investment properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.

Transfers to or from investment property
Transfers to or from investment property shall be made when there is a
change in use evidenced by:

(a) commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property;

(b) commencement of development with a view to sale, for a
transfer from investment property to inventories;

(c) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-occupied
property to investment property; and

(d) inception of an operating lease to another party and the
property is held for leasing, for a transfer from inventories to
investment property.
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Properties under development
Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs, professional
fees and other costs directly attributable to such properties incurred
during the development period and net realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the statement of
financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined by an apportionment of the total costs of land and
buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the price ultimately expected to be realised, less
estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

Allocation of property development cost

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their respective
saleable gross floor area ("GFA”) to the total saleable GFA. Construction
costs relating to units were identified and allocated specifically.
Common construction costs have been allocated according to the
saleable GFA similar to land costs.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any impairment loss
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 2 to 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.
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Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Land use rights
Office buildings

40 to 50 years
1to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold
land held as inventories, they are subsequently measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the
Group's policy for “properties under development” or ‘completed
properties held for sale” When a right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair value, in
accordance with the Group's policy for “investment properties”.
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Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of office and equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It
also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value

assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they
are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS

15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”

below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e,
removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

In certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to
adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, corporate bonds, or
payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes (collectively called
“loans and borrowings”), lease liabilities, trade payables, other payables
and accruals, and amounts due to related companies.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the
ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out in
“Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability and
early redemption option (which is not closely related to the host
contract) are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early redemption
option components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the senior notes is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The early
redemption option is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes are
allocated to the liability and early redemption option components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the early redemption option are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period
of the senior notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision
is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from
the passage of time is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.
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Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to profit
or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS
15.

a. Sale of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.

For a property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the customer obtains the physical
possession, or the legal title of the completed property and the
Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

b. Management consulting services

Consulting services income derived from the provision of
support services in connection with development of property
projects is recognised when the relevant services are rendered,
and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the entity's performance as the entity
performs.

C Hotel services

Revenue from hotel services is recognised when the services is
provided to the customer.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

a. Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

b. Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument of the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

C Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e,, transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Contract cost assets
Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract cost assets are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset related. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the Company and its subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain proportion of these payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The only obligation of the Company
with respect to the central pension scheme is to make the required
contributions. No forfeited contribution under the central pension
scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
("MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong, which is a defined
contribution retirement scheme. The contributions to the MPF
Scheme are based on minimum statutory contribution requirement
of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income. No forfeited
contribution under the MPF Scheme is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e, assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense, finance charges and
exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.
The exchange gains and losses that are adjustments to interest costs
include the interest rate differences between borrowing costs that
would be incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred on foreign currency
borrowings. Such amounts are estimated based on forward currency
rates at the inception of the borrowings. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Borrowing costs (Continued)

When the construction of the qualifying assets takes more than one
accounting period, the amount of foreign exchange differences eligible
for capitalisation is determined for each annual period and is limited
to the difference between the hypothetical interest amount for the
functional currency borrowings and the actual interest incurred for
foreign currency borrowings. Foreign exchange differences that did
not meet the criteria for capitalisation in previous years should not be
capitalised in subsequent years.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior
to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that existed at
the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information
affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The
Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements
to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the new
information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting period,
the Group will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events
and an estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that such an
estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial information of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency because the Group's principal
operations are carried out in the PRC. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart
from those involving estimations, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the Group
will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming year, which
is a critical judgement that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a
judgement by the directors, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
The directors consider that the Group has the capability to continue
as a going concern and the major events or conditions, which may
give rise to business risks, that may individually or collectively cast a
significant doubt upon the going concern assumption are set out in
note 2.1 to the financial statements.
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Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life of
the commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the
commercial property, that it retains substantially all the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of this property and accounts for
the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets
held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or
leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
The classification of an investment as a subsidiary, a joint venture or
an associate is based on whether the Group is determined to have
control, joint control or significant influence over the investee, which
involves judgements through the analysis of various factors, including
the Group's representation on the chief decision-making authorities of
an investee, such as the board of directors’ meetings and shareholders’
meetings, as well as other facts and circumstances.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mt F5eR R M 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

H)

EEEEERAEE ST HRNBED  FARMMG
SN TR T HGREMBRERDEIBNUES
REXFZEHFIE

AREHERE—KEEER LA
AEBERHEYEREEGITUBEYEEN A
R ZHERRAEERTE AR BRERY
FZREBEFEHNEIER Y BEREEEREBERER
ZAEAEVMENERBI>ATE FEBERER
BZMEFMBRNENEREDERE R KBIRK -
WHRBRAEHNUEEREAIR

RENELEBYFEL T

FEEEE-BYEERESNEERIREYE
A6 1 H 4 B B ) FE AR o I B W) IR A LUBRER
HENEXBREAMERBEDFE AL FEEE
B—EYMEMEENRERAEED AN BIUNE
ERFANHMEE - ETYEBERDFHEHRN
HEREREE MEMBORFTEFEENHEE
EmWRBAFEITEHAR - HZFE DY ER LS
YHERREBELVEBIHE  FEE S
DEIUAIR - HZELOMESABILLE BIER
FEFEERNHESRIRBAGTHARNED
MrRER  ZYMERBREYE - FIERBIYE
BEEERERBESFEESR  URZWERT
GERIEREYFE -

MBRE GEEERBERET T

RREDERSWERAR a8 RXEHABERT B
FERBRERRRE AT EAEGE  HEEFE
HEATERKRE ERSRBEDTEZERR (B
BAEEHRKREARTERREHMM) - NES
BEERRRAGUKREMEBERIFIIE LA H o

Annual Report 2024

141



142

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

Judgements (Continued)

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
(Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means each of their assets,
liabilities and transactions are included line-by-line in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, whereas the interests in joint
ventures and associates are equity accounted for as investments in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. Further details are included in note 19 to the
financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed by the parties to the contract provides
the Group with a significant benefit of financing.

Certain advance payments received from customers provide a
significant financing benefit to the Group. Although the Group
is required by the government to place all deposits and periodic
payments received from the pre-completion sales in a stakeholder
account, the Group is able to benefit from those advance payments
as it can withdraw money from that account to pay for expended
construction costs on the project. The advance payments received in
effect reduce the Group's need to rely on other sources of financing.

The amount of the financing component is estimated at the inception
of the contract. After contract inception, the discount rate is not
updated for changes in interest rates or other circumstances, such as
a change in credit risk. The period of financing is from the time that
the payment is received until the transfer of goods to the customers is
completed.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and prepayments, other receivables and other assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and prepayments, other receivables and other assets. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type,
customer type rating and counter party).

The expected loss rate is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product)
are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the properties sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is disclosed in note 22
and note 24 to the financial statements, respectively.

Provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

The Group's properties under development and completed properties
held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Based on the Group's historical experience and the nature of the
subject properties, the Group makes estimates of the selling prices, the
costs of completion of properties under development, and the costs
to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net sales
value, the net realisable value will decrease and this may result in a
provision for properties under development and completed properties
held for sale. Such provision requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate,
the carrying value and provision for properties in the periods in which
such estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each year. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use.

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As a result
of the fact that certain matters relating to the income taxes have
not been confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimate and
judgement based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other
related policies are required in determining the provision for income
taxes to be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT is based
on management’s best estimates according to the understanding of
the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.
The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax
authorities upon the completion of the property development projects.
The Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the
tax authorities for certain of its property development projects. The
final outcome could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, and any differences will impact on the LAT expenses and the
related provision in the period in which the differences realise.

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties carried at fair value were revalued at each
reporting date based on the appraised market value provided by
independent professional valuers. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, the
Group considers information from current prices in an active market
for similar properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of the Group's business
which includes property development, property leasing, the provision
of management consulting services and the hotel services. Property
leasing, the provision of management consulting services and hotel
services are not significant in revenue contribution. Thus, property
development is the only reportable operating segment of the Group,
and no further operating segment analysis thereof is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group'’s revenue from
the external customers is derived solely from its operation in Mainland
China and no non-current assets of the Group are located outside
Mainland China.

Information about major customers

No revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of customers
under common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group's
revenue at the end of the reporting period.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:
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2024 2023

20245 20236

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBETT AREFT

Revenue from contracts with customers BEESHWA 24,433,226 33,831,807
Revenue from other sources HAahz B A

Property lease income YIERE WA 332,818 416,878

Total “ast 24,766,044 34,248,685
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~EHtg A KRS @)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEREEHWA
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) DINEAEZK
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREF T
Types of goods or services MR ELE -
Sale of properties YEIHE 24,347,082 33,814,274
Hotel services JEE RS 71,422 -
Management consulting services BEIREHARTS 14,722 17,533
Total revenue from contracts with customers & B &4 A 4248 24,433,226 33,831,807
Timing of revenue recognition WA FEED R -
Properties transferred at a point in time RE R EEN Y 24,347,082 33,814,274
Services transferred over time R—ER B N RS 86,144 17,533
Total revenue from contracts with customers 22 & £ U A 48 %8 24,433,226 33,831,807
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TR ARSHEDNWA T (ENRRSE
in the current reporting period that were included in the BYst AN aERBLAHBEBTHEOR
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and ETHER) :
recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARB#F T

Revenue recognised that was included in ~ ¥RE I AN EEN
contract liabilities at the beginning of the ~ BERERULA :
reporting period:
Sale of properties MEHE 19,760,305 28,004,625
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA ~HEHMU A RIS (@)
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EREHWA (&)

(b)  Performance obligations (b) EHELF

Information about the Group's performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
properties and the Group has already received the payment or
has the right to receive the payment probably.

Management consulting services and hotel services

For management consulting services and hotel services, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount that equals to the
right to invoice which corresponds directly with the value
to the customer of the Group's performance to date. The
Group has elected the practical expedient not to disclose the
remaining performance obligations for these types of contracts.
The majority of the management consulting service contracts
and hotel services do not have a fixed term. The term of the
contracts is generally set to expire when the counterparties
notify the Group that the services are no longer required.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as

at 31 December are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue:
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2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AREFTT

Within one year —FER 16,971,144 29,985,130
After one year —F% 2,480,212 4,092,005
Total st 19,451,356 34,077,135
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~HMMWA RS (&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) ZEEEHWA (B
(b)  Performance obligations (Continued) (b) BHNEF (B)
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: H A sz 2T

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR#F T

Other income and gains H i A B Y 2=
Subsidy income R A 1,817 5,152
Deposit forfeiture B E 15,306 9,240
Investment income from financial assets BATESABGZHNESREEN

at fair value through profit or loss BEBA - 108
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYE BEKRFREBEENNG

plant and equipment 10,167 2,552
Others Hi 228 6,053
Total “ast 27,518 23,105
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6.

7.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 35 SR R MY 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

6. Fi#ial (B548) HEF

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ NEBMZFRE (BB BRI EINR GEA) T
(crediting): TR IERTER
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
P 52 ARBTT ARBTFT

Cost of inventories sold (excluding
impairment losses recognised for

BEFENA (TEEMEESR
MRS E R EVEEDH

properties under development and HERE)

properties held for sale) 21 21,397,542 30,708,935
Cost of services provided B AR5 AY B 24 10,306 12,273
Impairment losses recognised for properties 5t B8 25 ¥ £ MR HYRER 18

under development 20 6,663,782 646,628
Impairment losses recognised for properties 5 F H & ¥ £ 3V RE R 18

held for sale 21 2,493,653 352,141
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised in IR E E (BO]) MM

financial assets BERE 22,24 (12,997) 26,793
Depreciation of items of property, plantand ¥ ¥ -BEKRREBEEITE

equipment 13 42,173 21,993
Amortisation of intangible assets m B E#H 16 4,975 4,472
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERESERTE 15(a) 34,504 38,839
Rental expenses HEERX 15() 3,133 4,492
Auditors' remuneration 1% B4 6 BN 10,149 10,245
Employee benefit expense (including EERANME (BEEEK

directors’ and chief executive’s BRETEASFH) :

remuneration):
Wages and salaries TERHS 219,651 278,172
Pension scheme contributions and social BRI HA KT EEA

welfare 37,068 47,385
Total 4B 5t 30,903,939 32,152,368

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

7. AR
MR AT :

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREF T

Interest on loans and borrowings BRRETHE 1,411,029 1,997,329
Interest expense arising from revenue contracts BHWAEENN B 312,905 506,474
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEMNE 328 687

Total interest expense on financial liabilities not WIEEAFESFABTNEREEN

at fair value through profit or loss FMERZERE 1,724,262 2,504,490
Less: Interest capitalised B EBERERE (1,359,782) (2,208,650)
Total “ast 364,480 295,840
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EFREmEITHAESM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed EERESTHRAERUTEENFHRE EmR
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) (a), (b), (c) and (f) of B FBABEHIZE383(1)(@) ~ (b) OFKOIEUE(A R
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (BESMTER) RED E2HWBUWT -
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR#F T

Fees e 735 810
Other emoluments: HE
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREYERN 2,818 3,599
Pension scheme contributions and social welfare Rk E 5t | HR R L S EF 167 158
Subtotal INET 2,985 3,757
Total “ast 3,720 4,567
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@ BWILIFHITES
Mr. Tse Yat Hong, Mr. Chung Chong Sun and Mr. Zhang Huagjiao # B REY BRI E R R1EB A E 502020
were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the FI0ASBEZEAARRBNBIIIERITES -

Company on 5 October 2020.

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FAENFEIIENTEENRSW T :
the year were as follows:

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT

Mr. Tse Yat Hong HHBERE 245 270

Mr. Chung Chong Sun Al 245 270

Mr. Zhang Huagjiao RIEBAE 245 270
Total KeEt 735 810
There was no other emolument payable to the independent FRuEEMEMNBIIIENITESRNE (2023
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil). F ) o
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8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b)

Executive directors and the chief executive

Mr. Lam Ting Keung is the chairman and an executive director
of the Company. Mr. Lam Yu was appointed as an executive
director and executive president on 17 October 2019. Mr. Xu
Xiaodong was designated as an executive director on 25 March
2022. Mr. Huang Junquan was appointed as an executive
director and the senior vice president on 17 October 2019
and resigned on 12 December 2024, and Ms. Wu Yankun was
appointed as an executive director on the same day.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

20245128318

EERERETHRASHMH @&

(b) MITESEAREITHRAER
MEBREEARANBDERERATES - MFL
ER2019F10817THEZTANITESERNT
U o RN R AR 20226F38 25 HESE A
TEE -BHERBREENR2019F10817HESRE
ARTEERSRFNET > WH2024F12812
HEtE MEKHLZTHEREZEARITE
%o

Pension scheme

Salaries, allowances contributions
and benefits in kind and social welfare Total remuneration
EE 2R Bk 3t IR
BYMEH Ritg&EF il
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETF T ARETT
2024 2024
Executive directors: HOES
~ Mr. Lam Ting Keung -MEREE 300 15 315
- Mr.Lam Yu -MFERE 340 15 355
- Mr. Xu Xiaodong —HNEEE 1,233 68 1,301
— Mr. Huang Junguan -EBRREE 933 67 1,000
- Ms. Wu Yankun -2 L L 12 2 14
Total st 2,818 167 2,985
2023 20235
Executive directors: HiTESE:
— Mr. Lam Ting Keung -MERBLE 360 14 374
- Mr. Lam Yu -MFEE 360 14 374
- Mr. Xu Xiaodong —HNEEE 1,400 65 1465
~ Mr. Huang Junguan -EEREE 1479 65 1,544
Total st 3,599 158 3,757

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

FRUBEEEREXARNEREETAFNNZ
o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

10.

152 s@iER (Em) BRAS

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors
(2023: two directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the three (2023:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

hamE#HES

FRNLLRSHEECEMBES (2023F : WRE
F) > HFrENF BN X EEse =4 (20236 1 =
2) BEERBEFTIFERSTHRAENRSHES
PERBFBFENT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREBTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R TEAREYRER 2,616 3,284
Pension scheme contributions and social welfare BABHEER L EER 179 170
Total st 2,795 3,454

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

HHNF TGN IFEETIFRETHRARNER
EESABMT

2024 2023

20245 20234
Below HK$ 1,000,000 1,000,0003 T T 2 0
HK$1,000,000 - HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0007 7T Z1,500,00058 7T 1 3

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising
in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands, the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and British Virgin Islands are not subject to any income tax.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland China were subject to
PRC corporate income tax with a tax rate of 25% for the year.

20244 F 3R

10.

FRrisi

FEBREMFERNERFEMAEERERE R
EREELNREZNBEEARENA BRERA
LTSN - RIEFSHE SRR FEMH
RHASHEREBREZESEMRIIUNNB LR E
AN ERIFRISIR

AREE R R E R EALZ BB AR I R ZAR25%0Y
MEGMPE B EFTISH



10.

INCOME TAX (Continued)

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including land costs, borrowing costs and
other property development expenditures. The Group has estimated,
made and included in taxation a provision for LAT according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant Mainland China tax laws and
regulations. The LAT provision is subject to the final review and
approval by the local tax bureau.

10.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 35 SR R MY 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

FRIFIR (&)

THIBER DR F30%E60%H9 2R K H +
BEERY THIRERRYEHERSRIERY
MBS (B3 L3t A ~ fE TR A8 K EAth #) 22 i 3%
%) - AEBRBEAMPERERB ERRIERN
MER T B ER G FHRFHERERE - T ith
IR ERBEAREMIRBRAETREEZ LI E-

pLopx:t 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Current tax BRHATR IS -
Corporate income tax ERRER 481,091 581,365
LAT THIBER 417,074 308,621
Deferred tax (note 19) IRIEFRTE (MF5E19) 331,958 241,714
Total tax charge for the year FARRIESL HAREE 1,230,123 1,131,700

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before
tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the income tax expense
at the effective income tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable
rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate is as follows:

RABREAEH WM EA B EMAEEERRIEE
EREFA BRI (BB 55 EB SRR
Sz WRERRE BNEERE) BB KRR EVHRN
T

pLop2:t 2023
20244 2023£F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFTT
(Loss)/profit before tax BRIRAT (B538) @A (8,822,053) 697,757
At the statutory income tax rate BETEMMSMESE (2,205,513) 174,439
Lower tax rates for specific provinces or enacted BERMAEHEESTHRERE
by local authority 14,511 16,295
Expenses not deductible for tax ENEIEE R 51,849 14,625
Profits and losses attributable to joint ventures EEPERBEABELRNREE
and associates 138,099 24,551
Deductible temporary differences and tax losses ANREREEERBETFEETSA
utilised from previous years Z R IEE 18 (38,459) (37,356)
Unrecognised deductible temporary differences KRR GRS EERRIERE
and tax losses 2,953,764 705,187
Adjustment of current tax for previous years BEFEREARIEEE 3,066 2,493
Provision for LAT TR ER 417,074 308,621
Tax effect on LAT THIBERNRE T E (104,268) (77,155)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BRAEEERREENRESZE 1,230,123 1,131,700
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. FRiS1R (@
The share of tax attributable to associates and joint ventures DPEHERNIREELERGRBEINAB AR
amounting to RMB144,652,000 (2023: RMB46,000) and RMB39,481,000 144,652,0007T (20234 : A K #46,0007T) K AR
(2023: RMB33,120,000), respectively, is included in “Share of profits and 39,481,0007T (20234 : A K #33,120,0007T) > 5t A4R
losses of joint ventures and associates” in the consolidated statement of GERREMEERARA M GEEREREEA
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Blim A BB IE T ©
Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position RERBRARANEBLREBEZI)0OT :
represents:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Tax payables: FEfF#R1E !
Corporate income tax HEER 1,882,176 1,665,418
LAT IR ETR 4,313,090 4,073,670
Total tax payable FESIRTEAR 2B 6,195,266 5,739,088
11. DIVIDENDS 1. K2
The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year ended 31 EEEIAEZIREHE2024F12831HIEFEMNRK
December 2024 (2023: Nil). HARE B (20234 @ f|) ©

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 12. B AR EERIFE AELERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the SREABSESENRESRAAZEERZFTBEA
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, BEFRNEERFRAETEINEBRMETIHHY
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 4,045,227,000 4,045,227,0008% (20234 © 4,045,227,0008%) 5t& o

(2023: 4,045,227,000) outstanding during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate the AUt EEE2024F KR2023F 12A3HIEEESRE
basic loss per share amounts for the years ended 31 December 2024 REENEBERMNEFHETRER2019F10817
and 2023 was based on 1 share of the Company as at 17 October 2019, BARBRRIRMD ~ 102020F3 86 A AR A B #1718 %
1 share of the Company issued on 6 March 2020, and 3,399,999,998 D R ARIEFN 2020108298 B4 E AME 31T %
ordinary shares of the Company issued under the capitalisation issue TSR B)3,399,999,9988% T 4@ A (IR E AL
occurred on 29 October 2020, as if the additional shares issued under BT ETRRBINR (D BB E 20245 F22023F 128
the capitalisation issue had been in issue throughout the years ended BHLEFEE2FBEET) stEFE 10202010829
31 December 2024 and 2023. On 29 October 2020, the Company H > 22T #17600,000,000 % 1 Z 8% © 7220204 11
issued 600,000,000 new ordinary shares. On 25 November 2020, the B258 BEEREEEDITHE BEAREERE KE
over-allotment option has been partially exercised and the Company 1745,227,0008% ZE MR 15 ©

allotted and issued 45,227,000 additional shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts B F2024F /2023F 12831 B IEF E > I i 8
presented for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 in respect FHRNERERNGESEFLEARE DHREAER
of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares RBE2024F K 2023F 12831 H IEFE I MM E1T
outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. EINNBEHEEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 12. B AT EEESIEE AEESREE

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (Continued) (48
The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based on: BREANBEENLZUATSENHE .
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AR®BTF T
Loss 518
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders [SYNCIE=SEr S Sy = DN oF ;=

of the parent

(9,111,234) (581,248)

Number of shares

dhE- =]
2024 2023
20245 2023£
Shares B3
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in FRABETEBRMEFLIH
issue during the year 4,045,227,000 4,045,227,000
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted B R igE RMB(2.25)yuan RMB(0.14)yuan

AR¥(2.25)7T AR¥E0.14)7T

Annual Report 2024 Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited

155



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M SRR MY s
31 December 2024
2024%E12H31H
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME-BERRE
Office
equipment
Motor and electronic Leasehold
Buildings vehicles devices improvements Total
WAZER HEYE
12 HE BYRE £ st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTr ARETR AR¥ETR
31 December 2024: 2024%128318 :
At 31 December 2023 and 12023512831 H 2024518 1H
1 January 2024
Cost LA 1,032,093 139,062 89,987 76,210 1,337,352
Accumulated depreciation REINE (177,926) (127,969) (73,980) (72,821) (452,696)
Net carrying amount REFME 854,167 11,093 16,007 3,389 884,656

At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated 12202451818 {1 Rt E

depreciation and impairment K& 854,167 11,093 16,007 3,389 884,656
Additions hE 79,464 6,505 41,360 29,483 156,812
Disposals HE (6,377) (3,838) (530) - (10,745)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 45) HE—BMBERR (H:45) - - (1,062) = (1,062)
Depreciation provided during FREREITE (k)
the year (note 6) (29,035) (1,021) (7,849) (4,268) (42,173)
At 31 December 2024, net of 2024128318 IR REHTE
accumulated depreciation 898,219 12,739 47,926 28,604 987,488
At 31 December 2024: 120248128318 :
Cost DN 1,105,180 141,729 129,755 105,693 1,482,357
Accumulated depreciation and REMERRE
impairment (206,961) (128,990) (81,829) (77,089) (494,869)
Net carrying amount REFME 898,219 12,739 47,926 28,604 987,488
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

2024412831H

Office
equipment
Motor and electronic Leasehold
Buildings vehicles devices improvements Total
WAFER HEME
1BF _E BETHE e st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREBTRT ARBTRT ARBTR ARETER

31 December 2023: 2023%12H318 ©
At 31 December 2022 and 12022128318 %2023 1818
1 January 2023
Cost BA 648,609 138,546 87,090 74,066 948,311
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (164,569) (125,967) (68,207) (70,545) (429,288)
Net carrying amount IREZE 484,040 12,579 18,883 3,521 519,023

At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 1220231810 » B REITE

depreciation and impairment KRE 484,040 12,579 18,883 3,521 519,023
Additions hE 383,484 516 2,897 2,144 389,041
Disposals HE (299) (682) (434) - (1.415)
Depreciation provided during the FREHEITE (H:6)
year (note 6) (13,058) (1,320) (5,339 (2,276) (21,993)
At 31 December 2023, net of 2023128318 MR Rt E
accumulated depreciation 854,167 11,093 16,007 3,389 884,656
At 31 December 2023: 1220235128318 :
Cost [N 1,032,093 139,062 89,987 76,210 1,337,352
Accumulated depreciation and Rt ERRAE
impairment (177,926) (127,969) (73,980) (72,821) (452,696)
Net carrying amount REFE 854,167 11,093 16,007 3,389 884,656
As at 31 December 2024, the Group's property, plant and equipment R2024F 12831 AEENYE -BEREZBEAR
amounting to RMB246,526,000 are pledged to secure asset-backed #£246,526,0007T (20234 : ) BEFEANERER
securities granted to the Group (note 32) (2023: Nil). The Group's BEIRFHES IR (H:332) - NEBMNYE - HE
property, plant and equipment are pledged at RMB7,921,000 to secure R & AR #7,921,0007T (20234 © &) EEFEA R
the corporate bonds granted to the Group (note 34) (2023: Nil). The EEERABES 2K (i5E34) c REBENYE
Group's property, plant and equipment amounting to RMB321,786,000 BB K 2% 8 A\ R #5321,786,0007T (2023£F @ ) B &
are pledged to secure bank and other borrowings granted to the Group FRAAREEBERBITREMER IR (HEE31) °

(note 31). (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

Under
construction Completed Total
TE BT “act
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 72023F1 B HBEREE 2,961,700 13,368,500 16,330,200
Transfer from properties under EEERERYE (WsE20)
development (note 20) 65,478 - 65,478
Transferred B - (220,000) (220,000)
Transfer from completed properties — EEEFIEHENT I YE
held for sale (note 21) (fF5E21) - 310,260 310,260
Net gain from a fair value adjustment ‘A F{EFEFTG N R FEB 106,222 253,540 359,762
Carrying amount at 720231283 1H K
31 December 2023 202451 A1 HVEREE
and 1 January 2024 3,133,400 13,712,300 16,845,700
Transfer from properties under EE eI (sk20)
development (note 20) 142,618 - 142,618
Net gain from a fair value adjustment ‘A BB FEE (74,718) (544,800) (619,518)
Carrying amount at 202412831 HVERE &
31 December 2024 3,201,300 13,167,500 16,368,800

The Group's investment properties are situated in Mainland China.
The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2024 based on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited and Savills Valuation and Professional
Services (China) Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers,
at RMB16,368,800,000 (2023: RMB16,845,700,000). The Group's senior
finance manager and the Group's financial controller decide, after
approval from the board of directors of the Company, to appoint
which external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of
the Group's properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group's senior finance manager has discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuations are performed for financial reporting.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB8,568,000,000 (2023:
RMB7,132,800,000) were pledged to secure bank and other borrowings
granted to the Group (note 31).

20244 F 3R

AEBNREYEMNFPRAE - REBNREY
EDNERBIUEESERMGEMPENHITEETG
KABHABERAB ME—RKFEHEN (PE) HERE
HXEMAMREASMNEEN2024E12831HEGA A
2 #£16,368,800,0007T (20234 : AR #16,845,700,000
7o)  AEENSRTFEEREBMMBELELEARD
DEEEHERRAEZANBEHEMEEAEEY
ENIPBEE REEECETSNH B2 B
URERERFEEEE - AEEANSRMBELED
RAEEMRETHERSHENGHERSERGHELS
RETH®w

R2024F 1283 1H  AEERREAEANOART
8,568,800,0007T (20234 : AE#7,132,800,0007T) A%
EYECER AAERERNIETREMMERE
R (F5E31) ©



14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB2,773,100,000 (2023:
RMB2,938,900,000) were pledged to asset-backed securities granted to
the Group (note 32).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB3,282,906,000 (2023:
RMB3,069,600,000) were pledged to corporate bonds granted to the
Group (note 34).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group's investment properties:

14.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

20245128318

REME @

R2024F 12831 H AEBFREEEOAS AR
2,773,100,0007T (20234 : A #52,938,900,0007T) BY#
EMECER AXAEBNEEIRIFESFRE (F
£¥32) o

R2024F 12831 H AEBREAEOAARE
3,282,906,0007T (20234 : A E153,069,600,0007T) BI#&
EYECHP AXREBNES IR (F:E34) ©

AFERR
TRAPFEBMRENENATEHEER

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2024 using
1£2024F12A3 1B ERN TR
ATMEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
AR EATHE EATUREZE
iEHRE BAHE BARE
(E—%) (BZ4) (B=%) st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREBTRT AE%TR AE®TR

Recurring fair value measurement for: MU TBEEETH
REMATETE !
Commercial properties BEME
under construction iz = = 3,201,300 3,201,300
Completed 4z - - 13,167,500 13,167,500
Total a5t - - 16,368,800 16,368,800
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 R R Mfd s

31 December 2024

20245128318

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. IREYE B
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEER (&)

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2023 using
12023512831 BEAMU TR

AF{EHE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
B BAOHE EAFIEZR
MHENRE BAHE WAHE
E—R) (B (B=H) 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Recurring fair value measurement for: HUATEEETHN
KEURTEHE:
Commercial properties [EESUES
under construction i - - 3,133,400 3,133,400
Completed E®T - - 13,712,300 13,712,300
Total st - - 16,845,700 16,845,700
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements RAFE F—HREF_HBIEAFETEN
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 BEES IEEBAGEEE =R (2023F 1 F) o
(2023: Nil).
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key M REEMELEMANGERMTEREIEGAHK
inputs to the valuation of investment properties: BIE .
Range or weighted average
31 December
EEHMETY
12A31H
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs 2024 2023
hER EARFARRBARE 20244 20236
Completed commercial properties Income approach Expected rental value RMB0.37-RMB6.8 RMB0.4-RMB16.2
BERTEEYE Wk (per square metre per day) AR#B037TE ARB04ATE
FRHESEE AE#6.87T AEB1627
(BFAARER)
Capitalisation rate 3%-6% 3%-6%
NS
Commercial properties under Asset-based approach Expected selling price (per square metre) ~ RMB3,772-RMB8,706 RMB3,191-RMB4,462
construction BEERME FBHEEBR (BTHXR) AE¥3 120 E AR 19NTE
TEBENE AE#8,7067C AEB446270
Residual method Expected profit margin 5% 12%
Renk FEHEA
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Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The fair value of completed commercial properties is determined using
the income approach.

The income approach by taking into account the rental income of
the properties derived from the existing leases and/or achievable in
the existing market with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which have been then capitalised to determine
the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate. Where appropriate,
reference to the comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market has also been considered.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of
the investment properties. A significant increase/decrease in the
capitalisation rate would result in a significant decrease/increase in the
fair value of the investment properties.

The fair value of commercial properties under construction which are
at the initial construction stage is determined using the asset-based
method and residual method.

The asset-based method is to use the market comparison method to
evaluate the fair value of the land use right and consider the book
value of the construction and installation costs incurred to determine
the fair value of the project under construction.

The residual method is based on the assumption that the property is
newly completed in accordance with the latest development proposal
in terms of property uses, respective saleable areas and construction
schedules to establish the gross development value (“GDV”). The total
development costs including construction costs, contingency costs,
professional fees, infrastructure costs, management costs, financial
costs and developer’s profit are estimated and deducted from the
established GDV. The resultant residual figure is then adjusted back
to the valuation date to arrive at the market value of the property
interest concerned. The income capitalisation method has been used in
estimating the GDV, the basis of capitalisation of estimated net income
derived from the property with consideration of the prevailing market
yields.

A significant increase/decrease in the expected profit margin would
result in a significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the
investment properties.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
20245128318
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TS A E LRI ER S
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31 December 2024

20245128318

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office buildings. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with
lease periods of 40 to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office buildings
generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Office equipment
generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually
of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are as follows:

(a) Right-of-use assets

REEMER/EAEA
FEEARAERFHESH -BRAFH—M
AR AT W RS £ > AT B40E50F > MR
BzES L MEENER R SEB M ERRIE-
MAERTFHNEABE S E3F - MAEREHVER
BEANEAIUT R/ HEHNEEBREIRE —
Ems AEEATAAERENIIALTEERDHE
HEBE-

AEEFANEAREENRAEREHNT

() REEEE

Land use Office

rights buildings Total

T fE R MAETF st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT AREFTT AREFTT

As at 1 January 2023 7t2023F 1818 731,617 12,615 744,232

Additions RE 24,850 4,141 28,991

Disposals HE - (4,717) (4,717)

Depreciation charge (note 6) eEEA (Mste) (31,582) (7,257) (38,839)
As at 31 December 2023 and  /22023F12H31H K

1 January 2024 2024F1H1H 724,885 4,782 729,667

Additions nNE - - _

Disposal HE (587) (246) (833)

Depreciation charge (note 6) EER (H5te6) (31,319) (3,185) (34,504)

As at 31 December 2024 $22024512H831H 692,979 1,351 694,330

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's land use rights with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB579,990,000
(2023: RMB608,167,000) were pledged to secure bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 31).

20244 F 3R

R2024F 12831 H AEBEBEEEANAR
#5579,990,0007 (20234 : AR #5608,167,0007T)
NI EREEER AXEEERENIRITR
HAEREIRIR (FI5E31) ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. #HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBEAEBEAN (B)
(b) Lease liabilities () HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FERNHEESENREERESHNT

(c)

during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%®TT ARBFT
Carrying amount at 1 January P1A1BNEREE 5,851 14,090
New leases HHEE = 4,141
Disposal HE (310) (5,570)
Accretion of interest recognised during the SRR RIF] S1EM0 (FsE7)
year (note 7) 328 687
Payments IR (2,590) (7,497)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12831 BEREE 3,279 5,851
Analysed into: PPN
Current portion BRHAER 7 2,266 3,354
Non-current portion JERNERER 1,013 2,497
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 44 to HESENRE DT BRI RRW T4 0

the financial statements.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) BB IEmNERLTEENT -
to leases are as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARB#F T

Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HEasr s (Hs7) 328 687
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENERS (fisto)

(note 6) 34,504 38,839
Expense relating to short-term leases (note 6) (2% HATH E BRI (HIsF6) 2,081 2,201
Expense relating to leases of low-value HEEEEEHERMANMES

assets (note 6) (Ffste) 1,052 2,291
Total amount recognised in profit or loss P18 NS IEAE 28 37,965 44,018
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. #8 @)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows
relating to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed in
notes 37 (c) and 44, respectively, to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) under operating
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was RMB332,818,000

KREEFEREAA (B

(d) FAERSHAEERENKMARNESEMN
FARRE D BHBREBREMEI7 ©
440

TEBEAHBEA
AEERELAEHETHEBEEREY X (W
14) - HEKR—MREXRBLIZGRFRSTIREE
BIERHSR I EHESET AR REBMEST
BIERBEEIMA A ARE332,818,0007T (20234 @ A
EE#416,878,00070) » EFFBEH PR EM 5E50

(2023: RMB416,878,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the
financial statements.

720241283 1B AEER BB BERBEEAEERS
ZARIHEREHENREUBCRMIBAERENT -

31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TT AR#FT

Within one year —FR 529,318 580,737
After one year but within two years —F L EEMEUR 481,067 571,376
After two years but within three years MEU EE=FURA 404,795 419,245
After three years but within four years = F U EBEEUR 293,469 383,978
After four years but within five years MEL EBREFUA 282,046 226,570
After five years HEME 840,833 934,851
Total st 2,831,528 3,116,757
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B EE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Software ]

Cost D% 52,601 50,631

Accumulated amortisation Rt (30,904) (26,432)
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated amortisation  F181HBIEZS » 30 bR R 5t 85 21,697 24,199
Additions RE 3,058 1,970
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 45) HE—RHRBAT (Mztas) (3) -
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FERBEEHE (ste) (4,975) (4,472)
At 31 December 128318 19,777 21,697
Cost D% 55,656 52,601
Accumulated amortisation Rty (35,879) (30,904)
Net carrying amount EREFE 19,777 21,697
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

2023
20238
RMB'000
AREFT
Share of net assets MEEEFE 3,615,935 2,581,944
The Group's receivable and payable balances with joint ventures are AEBRGELENRBRENRIBEREENT
disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements. BRI EE41 <
(a) Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures are as follows: (a) KEFBBAGERENFBUT !
Statutory
percentage
Nominal value  of the controlling
of registered equity interest
Place and year share capital attributable
Names of companies of registration ('000) to the Company Principal activities
HMEAEE FSATELEE

AE B 5 fif 3t B e £ 45 (XT3 EZEHEmESL FEER

Fuging Jinhui Real Estate Co., Ltd. Fuqging, 50,000 50.00% Property
("Fuqing Jinhui") PRC 2014 development

BEEBEERRAA REEE i
(MaEEIE) 20144

Chongging Jinjiahe Properties Chongging, 50,000 49.00% Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC 2017 development
("Chongging Jinjiahe”) REEE YR E

BEESERBMEREBRAD 201745
(TEEZER)

Jingzhou Jinhui Rongyu Real Estate Jingzhou, 220,000 54.55% Property
Development Co., Ltd.? PRC 2018 development
("Jingzhou Jinhui Rongyu”) FREIFIN LY Ed e

AN FEMERZERRAB’ 20185

(TN BT 1)

Hunan Jindafa Real Estate Co., Ltd. Changsha, 100,000 50.00% Property
("Hunan Jindafa") PRC 2012 development

HERES B ERRAT FRERED MR

(MiAm R ) 20124
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 17. REETENKE @)
FEMEASECENFBNT (@

(a) Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures are as follows: (a)
(Continued)

Pursuant to the articles of association, another shareholder
of Chongqing Jinjiahe has been entitled to 50% of the voting
power by holding 51% of equity interests in it, which was
negotiated and agreed by all shareholders. The financial and
operation of Chongqing Jinjiahe must be decided by each
investor together, and shareholders have common control over
Chongging lJinjiahe. Thus Chongging Jinjiahe is accounted for
as a joint venture by the Group through its holding of 49% of
equity interests in it.

Pursuant to the articles of association, another shareholder of
Jingzhou Jinhui Rongyu has been entitled to 50% of the voting
power by holding 45.45% of equity interests in it, which was
negotiated and agreed by all shareholders. The financial and
operation of Jingzhou Jinhui Rongyu must be decided by all
investors together, and shareholders have common control
over Jingzhou Jinhui Rongyu. Thus, Jingzhou Jinhui Rongyu
is accounted for as a joint venture by the Group through its
holding of 54.55% of equity interests in it.

Pursuant to the investment framework agreement and the
articles of association of these companies, all shareholder
resolutions of these companies shall be resolved by all
shareholders on a unanimous basis. Therefore, these companies
were accounted for as joint ventures of the Group during the
year.

‘ REABSRRER EESERNS —RR
RBBFAHS 1N REMEA0%RZR
EhEE2EREGEREE -EESERD
MBREELNAASREARBRE  BRR
HEESERBEAARZEHR At - BEEE
ERBAERZBRAH40REERTED
EAERe

? RIFABEZERMI FAMNESEBRFNS —4
BREBEBIEAH4S45%RIEMEAS0%RE
oK REREREREER FIMNEERM
FHMBHEREBLARSREALRRTE
IR R B HI M S HIERLTF R L EERIRE o FIE
FAMNEEMFHAEEZBRAHE54.55%K
BIEABELEAR.

BEREERGERZEADNEMERM
Bl ZFZRBNMARRAZZAAZRER
R—RBEB A ZFRARERIREE
BN
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 17. MEETENKE @)

(b)  Foshan Qihui Properties Co., Ltd. (“Foshanshi Qihui") is by BLUTREBEMESRAS (MWL ERE))
considered as a material joint venture of the Group for the REZE2024F 1283 BLEFEREARERDN
year ended 31 December 2024, which co-develops a property BARAEGLFE HES—AEBHRPEAM
development project with another joint venture partner in HEZERE—EYEERBE  UHRBETEA
Mainland China and it is accounted for using the equity method. fRo
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRITFLUDEIENFERTE

information of Foshanshi Qihui:

2024

20244

RMB’000

ARBETT

Cash and cash equivalents B MBE2EEY 5,617
Other current assets HmReh&EE 210,942
Current assets RENEE 216,559
Non-current assets ERBEE 18
Current liabilities V=R (741,596)

Non-current financial liabilities, excluding FrRBEMEaR FTOEES REMENRIBREE

trade and other payables and provisions -

Net asset EEFE (525,019)

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the ~ BAEBPBHE AT R 2 HIR ©
associate:

Proportion of the Group's ownership Group's AEBZEBEEEHE QB 2 EEFELLE

share of net assets of the associate 51%
Group's share of net assets of the joint AEFELEELEEEFE

venture _
Revenue W a 122,764
Expenses (553 (306,201)
Tax g -
Loss for the year FREBE (183,437)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEELREE (183,437)

168  wiFmie (M) 5RAE  2024FFH



17.

18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAF5 SRR Y 5

31 December 2024
20245128318

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 17. REEEFENKRE (@

() The directors of the Group consider that there is one joint (©  FR2024F 12831 H AEEIRA—BEETLE
venture as at 31 December 2024 was significant to the Group HAEEBEA WEELENERNMBEER
and thus the individual financial information of the joint venture TWARKE (20235128310 | F) o« FRAIRA
is disclosed (31 December 2023: Nil). The following table EETIEERBEANEGE CENESHUHTEE
illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's it
joint ventures that are not individually material:

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT AR®BTF T

Share of the joint ventures'loss for the year M & & SEFERNEE (24,889) (99,360)

Share of the joint ventures' total DMEEECELEBIBELE

comprehensive loss (24,889) (99,360)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ~ ANEBREE P ERENEIREE

investments in the joint ventures 3,615,935 2,581,944

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
impairment of RMB106,189,000 for investments in joint ventures
was necessary as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB836,110,000).
The joint ventures have been accounted for using the equity
method in these financial statements.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. HOHj

R2024F12B31H A AR EEZRALEBLE
REETEREFTIRREAR06,189,0007T
(20234 : AR8836,110,0007T) - &R
ZEMHERENEREREAIR

ERFNRE

Share of net assets

DEEEFE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBEF T
5,558,031 5,705,529

The Group's receivable and payable balances with associates are
disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements.

ANEBHEBE QBB R ENRIBE RN ER
BIR&KMIEE41 0
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE
31 December 2024
20245128318

(a)

Particulars of the Group's material investments in associates are

as follows:

@ FAEERBMEATDNERREFBENOT :

Nominal value
of registered

Statutory
percentage

of the controlling
equity interest

Place and year share capital attributable Principal

Names of companies of registration ("000) to the Company activities

MR AEE AT EEEE

NELTE oF it 3th B B £ 19 (XT3t EHEEE DL FTEER

Hangzhou Xinjianhui Industrial Co., Hangzhou, PRC 2017 1,500,000 51.00% Investment
Ltd.* ("Hangzhou Xinjianhui") FREIATIN 20174 management

MNERBEXEFRAT KEERE
(TN ENE))

Fuzhou Changle Ronghaihui Fuzhou, PRC 2017 100,000 33.00% Property
Properties Co., Ltd. ("Fuzhou HEEMN 0 20174 development
Changle’) MR

ENTRALEREEEEXRR AR

(MfER4L))

Shaoxing Yunhui Real Estate Co., Ltd.* Shaoxing, PRC 2021 10,000 50.00% Property
(“Shaoxing Yunhui") HE AR E > 20214 development

HMEZEEEERRAR MR

(MBEENE))
* Pursuant to the articles of association, another shareholder of * RFEABZR2ME NINEEEBENS —RK

Hangzhou Xinjianhui has been entitled to 51% of the voting
power by holding 49% of equity interests in it, which was
negotiated and agreed by all shareholders. The Group only has
significant influence on this entity as the other shareholder of
Hangzhou Xinjianhui has enough voting power to control and
operate this entity. Thus, Hangzhou Xinjianhui is accounted
for as an associate by the Group through its holding of 51% of

equity interests in it.

20244 F 3R

REBRATINEREE40%RIEMZES1%
ik EE WHE2RERRBERER B
MNEEES —RREHEABRHREEUE
HhEEZER WAEENZERERS
FEN A MNERERAERERS
BHESI%REERBERAT AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REHERTHKRE (@)
Suzhou Zhengrun Properties Development Co., Ltd. (“Suzhou BENEBEEMERERRAR (BRMNEM) REE
Zhengrun”) is considered as a material associate of the Group for 2024FE 12BN HILEEFERGARNERBNERBE A
the year ended 31 December 2024, which co-develops a property B HEHEMBEBEAHANTERMERZERE—EY
development project with other associate partners in Mainland China XRRIEE BHEMNEBEHRAEREAR.
and Suzhou zhengrun is accounted for using the equity method.
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of TR REIMNEENABEERBE
Suzhou Zhengrun:
2024
20245
RMB’000
AR®BTT
Cash and cash equivalents B MBE2EEY 65,361
Other current assets HMRE&EE 4,013,219
Current assets RENEE 4,078,580
Non-current assets ERBEE 2
Current liabilities mEaE (4,247,821)
Non-current financial liabilities, excluding trade FrRBEMEaR FTOEES REMENRIBREE
and other payables and provisions (47,000)
Net asset EEFE (216,239)
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the EAREBMPBE DR ZHIR
associate:
Proportion of the Group's ownership Group's share  ANEB 2 EBEELBE AR 2 EEF AL
of net assets of the associate 49%
Group's share of net assets of the associate REBMELHEAR ZEEZE -
Revenue & 7,928
Expenses i (186,952)
Tax I8 =
Loss for the year FREE (179,024)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FARNEHEEIELEEE (179,024)

Shijiazhuang Jinke Properties Development Co., Ltd. (“Shijiazhuang
Jinke") is considered as a material associate of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024, which co-develops a property development
project with other associate partners in Mainland China and
Shijiazhuang Jinke is accounted for using the equity method.

LxREFSREHEMEERAD ((BRFEER ) ¥
HE2014FNA3BEFERRARNERNE K
EAE HEHMBMEBHNPERAMEREE—
EYEERER BARXTSRFAER E AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REEABINKRE (&)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of TRITAREERNTBERBE
Shijiazhuang Jinke:

2024

20244

RMB’000

ARBETT

Cash and cash equivalents B rBE2EEY 1,514
Other current assets Hmeh&EE 238,483
Current assets RENEE 239,997
Non-current assets ERBEE 10,305
Current liabilities mENaE (1,180,776)

Non-current financial liabilities, excluding trade and JEREI SR A& T EIFE 5 K A FE (T I8 R #H

other payables and provisions (952)
Net asset EEFE (931,426)
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the EAREBMPEE TR ZHIR

associate: _

Proportion of the Group's ownership Group's share  RNEB 2 EBEELBE AR 2 EEF AL

of net assets of the associate 35%
Group's share of net assets of the associate AEFEELHEARZEESE -
Revenue & -
Expenses i (953,909)
Tax M\ (280)
Loss for the year FREE (954,189)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FARNEHEEIELEEE (954,189)
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18.
(b)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The directors of the Group consider that there are two associates
as at 31 December 2024 were significant to the Group and thus
the individual financial information of the associates is disclosed
(31 December 2023: Nil). The following table illustrates the
aggregate financial information of the Group's associates that are
not individually material:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 35 SR R MY 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

18. REEABINKRE (&)

(b)  FR2024F 12BN H AEBRAMEHE QT
HAEBEBS A WHEABNERNMFER
AR EE (2023128310 &) c FRIITA
EETIEERBEANBEATNNEGHEHEE

N
]

Share of the associates’ (loss)/profit
for the year

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive
(loss)/income

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
investments in the associates

"BER

DIEMERRER (BB &R
DS AR EE (BB A

FEERBERATNRENBIREE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARB#F T
(12,267) 139
(12,267) 139
5,558,031 5,705,529

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
impairment of RMB400,183,000 for investments in associates is
necessary as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB31,345,000). The
associates have been accounted for using the equity method in
these financial statements.

R2024F12831H ARBEEIDABEMNER
& A BN E TR RE AR #400,183,0007T
(20234 : AR #31,345,0007T) c B& AT R
ZEVBERRANEAEE EAR.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are RERNRERBEEERBENEHUWT !
as follows:
Deferred tax assets IRIETRIEE &
Losses
available Expenses Unrealised
for offsetting ~ for offsetting revenue in
against future against future  Impairment contract Accrued Lease
taxable profits taxable profits of assets liabilities LAT liabilities Total
st it
KRRERR  ERRER RHBEN FEt L3t
ptill:o) st HEZ BEAE AREREE R HEaME st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT  ARBTn ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETT ARET:

At 1 January 2023 *203%F1818 371,599 245474 192,409 1,447,726 819455 3,523 3,080,186

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profit €Mt A,/ (ERE) BEMN

or loss during the year (note 10) BRI (HizE10) 90,177 27,365 6,639 (402,979) 53,524 (668) (225942)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 722023F 128318 R2024E1 818 461,776 272,839 199,048 1,044,747 872,979 2,855 2,854,244
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to FR(0RE) /StABHEN

profit or loss during the year (note 10) RIERIE (HzE10) (49,581) (62,231) (61,888) (378,920) 20,689 (1,958) (533,889)
At 31 December 2024 12024128318 412,195 210,608 137,160 665,827 893,668 897 2,320,355
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The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are

as follows: (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE
31 December 2024

2024412831H

RERIEEREE E B RN

BHMT : (@)

Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEER
Fair value
adjustments
Fair value arising from
adjustments Fair value business
arising from  adjustments combinations
Accrued financial ~ rising from and costs Depreciation
financial assetsat  investment to obtain of investment Right-of-
income FVTPL properties contracts properties use assets Total
RATE EBEH
StAREN EEM
EREE REWE ATESRE
EEN EEHN RERGEH
BsuBRA ATERE ATERE WEE REVERE FHAEEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBFT ARBTT ARETr ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R023F1A18 333,258 786 1,982,620 406,134 162,548 3,154 2,888,500
Deferred tax charged/(credited) o~ ERIMER/ G A) BBEN
profit or loss during the year ERAIE (zE10)
(note 10) 18,004 (249) 96,670 (136,292) 38418 (779 15772
At 31 December 2023 and R203F128318K2024F181H
1 January 2024 351,262 537 2,079,290 269,842 200,966 2,375 2,904,272
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to &/ (5t A) /HBREIBEM
profit or loss during the year EILHRIE (fizE10)
(note 10) (86,565) (28) (297,067) 129,863 53,491 (1,625) (201,931)
At 31 December 2024 12024128318 264,697 509 1,782,223 399,705 254,457 750 2,702,341
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FE ¥R R Fd oE

31 December 2024

20245128318

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position
amounting to RMB462,616,000 (2023: RMB567,317,000). The following
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

METMES > £FEA AR K462,616,0007T (20234 © A

R #567,317,0007T) WA TREREEEREBEER

%?éﬁﬁ*#ﬁiﬁ%zmﬁ MUTAMMBREFEEND
IEIERRIBLEBR DA ¢

purposes:
2023
20234
RMB'000
AREBTT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the Rix &M B R R ARSI
consolidated statement of financial position RIERIEE EFE 1,857,739 2,286,927
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REREMBARRRAEEN
consolidated statement of financial position RIERIEE([E 558 (2,239,725) (2,336,955)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group’s fund will be retained in Mainland China for the
expansion of the Group's operation, so it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB1,408,367,000 (2023: RMB2,282,932,000).

20244 F 3R

RIF(PEAREME B EFAERE)  EHEABER
UM ERECERBINEESET RN EKEU
T0%RYTEI0IR - R E H2008E 1 B 1 HEEER I EA
7200712831 HEEEBBF o i B A fEE Z 5
E#EEMESAREIBERIIHBE > THRARK
FEINRE-AEENBERRER10% FIL > XEH
BARZETEPEKNERINB AR BE2008FE181
HEEEEWNRBRAM 2K IR SMMTEINR -

2024512831 H TERARB RAEBERFHE
k%&i%%%@jﬁﬂﬁﬁmmM$EﬁﬁﬂE
AHENREREAELERB AR EERA

$$§%§$%%%@$$@m%ﬁﬁm¢!ﬁ
ERE BMZEWBADNIBRERKAAEDIK
BRARF o B0 FE SRR IR 18 & 18 /Y 1 B K BE B
BABNKERBANEREZERBEHENARTE
1,408,367,0007T (20234 : AR 152,282,932,0007T) ©



19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

20.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

19. IREMRIE (@)
Wk THEERDBLERESE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Tax losses RIEE 18 10,792,692 6,958,127
Deductible temporary differences ARG R AR 8,590,334 751,415
Total “ast 19,383,026 7,709,542

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the
extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of approximately RMB2,698,173,000 (2023:
RMB1,739,532,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB10,792,692,000 (2023: RMB6,958,127,000), that can be carried
forward to offset against future taxable income. These tax losses will
expire up to and including years 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028 and 2029.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

M Z AR R IBN R OI BE BB R R FE R IR H A B3R
A Z Rt AE MR IEE B R IE LR IEE E o 122024
F12A31H AEBEWERNAR10,792,692,00075
(2023F : AR #6,958,127,0007T) HYE5 18 HE 52 IR AL
MEEEN ARBE2,698,173,0007T (20234F : AR
1,739,532,0007T) ° &% S E51B 0] T 45 8 LUK 8 R 2R 8
FRULA o ZEMIEE IR 2 BB E 20255 2 2026
F 2027 %2028 F2029F (L EIEZREFEE) B
7\%0

20. FERYE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBETT

At the beginning of the year REH) 62,580,103 88,551,479
Additions = 4,485,329 9,047,793
Transferred to investment properties (note 14) BEELEYE (HE14) (142,618) (65,478)
Transferred to completed properties held for sale R EFIEHERIE T Y%

(note 21) (My5E21) (20,654,420) (34,440,590)
Impairment losses (note 6) HEEE (MisE6) (6,663,782) (646,628)
Impairment losses transferred to completed EERESFEHENBRTYERE

properties held for sale (note 21) &1 (fgsE21) 436,527 133,527
At the end of the year REX 40,041,139 62,580,103

Annual Report 2024 Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited

177



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued) ~ 20. FAZEAR¥I% (@)
The movements in provision for impairment of properties under HEPYERERENZESHNMT :
development are as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREBTFT
At the beginning of the year REHD (786,741) (273,640)
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BB ERE (o) (6,663,782) (646,628)
Impairment losses transferred to completed EREFEHENETYERE
properties held for sale (note 21) E518 (fsE21) 436,527 133,527
At the end of the year REX (7,013,996) (786,741)
The Group's properties under development are situated on leasehold AERPBEERY MR PRAENEE i Lo
lands in Mainland China.
At 31 December 2024, the Group's properties under development with R2024F 1283 1H AEBEEEDEOARE
an aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB22,288,802,000 22,288,802,0007T (20234 : AR #§32,267,551,00078) B9
(2023: RMB32,267,551,000) were pledged to secure bank and other ETHZEIYEREGH AXREEEREMNRTRE
borrowings granted to the Group (note 31). MERIEIER (MI5E31) -
21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 21. HEHEBETYE

2024 2023

20245 20236

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETT AEREF T

At the beginning of the year REH) 15,408,278 12,472,551
Transferred from properties under development EIEEREPYE (sE20)

(note 20) 20,654,420 34,440,590
Transferred to cost of inventories sold (note 6) HBEREEFZEM A (fste) (21,397,542) (30,708,935)
Transferred to cost of investment property (note 14) =R EYE (fzE14) = (310,260)
Impairment losses transferred from properties under 2 43 B B5 2% Y AR ER 18

development (note 20) (Bf¥zE£20) (436,527) (133,527)
Impairment losses (note 6) FERBE (F6) (2,493,653) (352,141)
At the end of the year RER 11,734,976 15,408,278
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21.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of completed properties
held for sale are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

1. HFEHECBEIYE @

FEHEERTIY R RMERFNESUT !

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREF T

At the beginning of the year REY (1,128,469) (912,117)

Impairment losses transferred to cost of sales IR EHE AN EERE 530,349 269,316
Impairment losses transferred from properties under 43 B 532 YA RER 8

development (note 20) (4 5E20) (436,527) (133,527)

Impairment losses recognised BHERBEEE (2,493,653) (352,141)

At the end of the year REX (3,528,300) (1,128,469)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's completed properties held
for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB4,919,054,000 (2023: RMB2,045,355,000) were pledged to secure
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 31).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's completed properties held
for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB645,730,000 (2023: RMB997,637,000) were pledged to corporate
bonds granted to the Group (note 34).

The value of completed properties held for sale was assessed at the
end of each reporting period. An impairment exists when the carrying
value exceeds its net realisable value. The net realisable value is
determined by reference to the selling price based on the prevailing
market price less applicable selling expenses.

R2024F 12831 H AEBERKRAEDNAUART
4,919,054,0007T (20234 © AR #52,045,355,0007T) I
FHEEB IYHEBEEH AXEEERNETR
HMERIEIEE F5E31) o

FR2024F 1283 1H AERBLEEESNNARE
645,730,0007T (20234 : AR 1997,637,00078) BIFF(E
HEBRTYHEBEER AXEBRERNABES
EIRIR (FI5E34) ©

FELEER TYENEBENSREARTMH M
REEBAHEAISIFEFE MRAERE FJERF
BEESEENERTENHEERAERNHEER
MHEE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

22. B EWIE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREF T

Trade receivables B e EIE 39,614 41,682
Impairment B (2,123) (2,224)
Total “ast 37,491 39,458

The Group's trade receivables primarily consist of receivables from its
property sales and property lease. Proceeds from property sales and
property lease are generally received in accordance with the terms
stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. Trade receivables
are settled based on the progress payment schedule stipulated
in the contract. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

FEENEZRRRETEZESREAAYEHER
MERENBWRIE - REYEHERDEHREN
FISMEBERBEEERZRENRREEN B
EWRIERE S QTN EE X RHBRES -
EERNBEEEFRKEZEERE TREEE
EEBUREERARAERMB -BREEABEH
B ARG EN XA BETEENE SRR
MBS RAREBRATR I BEANEREER
B o 7 &2 [ 30 5% W HL S WORRAS BRI A IR IR &
HHEHMEBRAEN - B 5 BURRIRL A5t o

RESHRERERARRINBREREFRNESE
WCRIERY SRS D AT A0 T

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT AR#F T

Within 1 year —FMUR 36,629 39,042
1to 3 years —E= 862 416
Total “mst 37,491 39,458
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

20245128318

22- T%ﬁgl‘ly AIE (HE

BERWRRRERBREEINT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREF T

At beginning of year REHD 2,224 1,020
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised (note 6) (BE) /CRERERSE (M) (101) 1,204
At the end of the year REXR 2,123 2,224

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of each reporting
period using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on ageing for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024:

3% 1R 2 B SRR B R R T R 4 47 LUt B
BHEEGE - BHEDER AR EUERERN
(A% 5 D AR MRS EE it ERBRAK
MR EEBERNRSE BT ENARAE
FIE EARR R R R AN S BRI R
Hit o

TREI A EECERRBBERSTENE S BUWTRIE
NEERBEER

720245128318 :

Less than
1 year
—FEHURN
Expected credit loss rate TEHAE ERIEX 2.4% 15.9% 100.0% 5.4%
Gross carrying amount IREARE 37,514 1,025 1,075 39,614
Expected credit losses TEEAEERE 885 163 1,075 2,123
As at 31 December 2023: 720235128318 -
Ageing
IR
Less than 1t03 Over
1 year years 3 years Total
—F LA —E=fF =& 45t
Expected credit loss rate FEHAEEBREX 2.7% 10.3% 100.0% 5.3%
Gross carrying amount ERE48{E 40,143 464 1,075 41,682
Expected credit losses FEERIE B 1R 1,101 48 1,075 2,224
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

23. CONTRACT COST ASSETS 23. B4
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTFT
Contract cost arising from the sale of properties MEBEEENESNMA 802,815 899,672
Management expected that the contract acquisition costs, which EEEEHTENESYEHESANBEERSE
represented primarily sales commission for obtaining property sale TN ENRERABZTIREIEE AEBSIREIES
contracts, are recoverable. The Group has deferred the amounts paid I %8 B R EE N R R 2 st A5 o 1220245
and will charge them to profit or loss when the related revenue is 128318 5T ABRZNEEED A A AR 555,962,000
recognised. As at 31 December 2024, the amounts charged to profit or 7t (20234 AER#719,577,0007T) » BEEFLAS BR1ER
loss were RMB555,962,000 (2023: RMB719,577,000), and there was no BR53E -
impairment loss in relation to the remaining balance.
24. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24, FEMSRE - HthEWHRIER S E

OTHER ASSETS

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARB#F T

Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights EE T ERENTENIE 286,000 286,000

Deposits for land auction TiinERE 10,000 10,000
Deposits related to land use rights to be jointly HE = ERE T M E AR

acquired with third parties BEANEE 192,978 458,630

Prepaid taxes and other tax recoverables TR IE K B AT Uk B #3 18 827,958 1,518,140

Other deposits Hith¥e s 607,250 653,355

Prepayments for construction cost R ATE B 315,774 328,633
Due from non-controlling shareholders of the FE WS b /&8 /1 B) FE 12 RS B SR AR IE

subsidiaries 3,931,397 4,162,549

Other receivables Hth W R IE 715,724 664,871

6,887,081 8,082,178

Impairment BE (40,803) (53,699)

Total “ast 6,846,278 8,028,479

Other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no

fixed terms of repayment.

182 =iz (M) BRATE 204FFH
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24.

25.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of receivables are as
follows:

24.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 35 SR R MY 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

AmE - HthEWHREREMEE
(%)

FEWRIRRE B BBV EEI T

2024 2023

20245 2023EF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREF T

At the beginning of the year REHD 53,699 28,110
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised (note 6) (BE) /CRERERSE (M) (12,896) 25,589
At the end of the year REXR 40,803 53,699

The internal credit ratings of amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due from third parties and other
deposits were regarded as the grade of performing. The Group has
assessed that the credit risk of these receivables has not increased
significantly since initial recognition. The expected loss rate of
these receivables is assessed to be 0.41%. The Group has evaluated
the expected loss rate and gross carrying amount, measured the
impairment based on the 12-month expected credit losses, and
assessed that the expected credit losses were RMB40,803,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB53,699,000).

[ERMI B A 2 IEIERRREMRIBE - FERE=Z AN
BREMBEHRIEHATIRERAERES R oA
ERETEZEERTEEERR B IBRREIRL
TR ARSI N - ZEEWEIEN AR I8 X T8
A041% e REBED T EERAEEREREE I
1 2E BB EEE B ERE U ER202445
12B3 1B TERE 184 AR 140,803,0007T (2023
£ ANR#53,699,0007T) °

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 25. HWIERHEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBF 5T AR
Prepayments for equity investments e ETANRIE 940,000 1,402,644

Fuzhou Jinhui Real Estate Co., Ltd. signed an agreement with RN &
REREREABMR2AE ("Quanzhou Yimin Construction Development
Co., Ltd’, "Quanzhou Yimin") on 25 February 2016 with the purpose
of acquiring land parcels through the purchase of the equity
interest in project companies. The total agreed purchase price was
RMB2,295,000,000. According to the agreement, the Group has already
partly made the payments to bring the balance to RMB940,000,000 as
at 31 December 2024. The equity transaction has not been completed
as at 31 December 2024.

EBNEEEXERADEFENTERERERER
N (TRMER)) R2016F28258 %7 — 0105
UEBAFEEEAATANRERE IR - HENES
WEA NRKE2295000,0007  RIEZ I H > AEH
EXIE D IE R2024FE 12831 BEA AR
940,000,0007T © 722024FE 12831 B IR 5 14 R 5T ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

27.

PROFIT OR LOSS

26. BRAFEFAABmNEMEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Listed equity investments, at fair value BAFEYERZ EHRERE 2,315 2,266
Other unlisted investments, at fair value BAFETRZEMIELTEE - 105,547
Total “ast 2,315 107,813
Analysed into bax i}

Current portion BN ERER > 2,315 23,408
Non-current portion JERNERER > = 84,405

The above equity investments at the end of the reporting period were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments at the end of the reporting period
were wealth management products issued by financial institutions in
Mainland China. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest.

PP REPRPOREREDRBEREATESA
BHENEREE DARSAFFESE-

EHRBEHARNNIF LT RED DB ARE SR
BETHEMER REREGHRERLIFR
AEHEM SN AREMAF DEREAFTESA
BHENEREE-

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 27. MERIBITLHER
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBETFT
Cash and bank balances B& KIBIT4SER 2,390,393 7,072,920
Less: Restricted cash B ZREIIRS 560,621 2,264,883
Cash and cash equivalents B RBE2EEY 1,829,772 4,808,037

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of restricted cash was
RMB560,621,000 (2023: RMB2,264,883,000), restricted cash frozen by
the People’s Court was RMB441,207,000 (2023: RMB117,349,000) due to
litigation, and other restricted cash was mainly restricted as unsecured
guarantee for project construction and financing guarantee or as cash
in designated bank accounts for specified use pursuant to relevant
regulations in the PRC.

184 @ik (Em) BRAE 2024 5K

R2024F 1283 1B ZRERETEAARE
560,621,0007T (20234 : AR #82,264,883,0007t) FH &r A
MEARERAGE MEMZRFIVSEIEZRIES
BEEXRNEEFEFRIMEEFRIBETEHERR
FREBIEERITRAERERRNIREMZIRA]



27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

27. WEKRIRITHEER @)

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Cash and cash equivalents: ReERRSEEY !
Denominated in RMB MAREEE 1,827,485 4,791,831
Denominated in US$ MUETEE 1,512 14,949
Denominated in HK$ MBIt E 775 1,257
Total “Est 1,829,772 4,808,037

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and
cash equivalents approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2024, the internal credit rating of restricted
cash and cash and cash equivalents were regarded as the grade
of performing. The Group has assessed that the credit risk of the
restricted cash, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents has
not increased significantly since initial recognition and measured
the impairment based on 12-month expected credit losses, and has
assessed that the expected credit losses are immaterial.

ARBRITEHRMBEMER  BREPEAEN
GrEEEKRA) R(EE -EERMEEERTE)
FEBEFBBERBETINEXBNRTHARE
RS HEHMER-

o

RTRERESARTERMRZIHNESE
RITEHENELRENCERNGEEY EIRT
RERREEBYREEREQATERE-

o

R2024F12831H TRFIRERIRERREEEY
HAREERATRERARRER AEBEFTGHS
BHES BEEFEIEARSAESEBYNEE
JRLBS B # B B 50 LA AR I 4 K B B N - 3 3% 1 218 B B9
HiEEFETERE AR LEHEERBILIR
B|KRo
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R =E

31 December 2024

20245128318

28. TRADE PAYABLES 28. BHMEARIEA
An ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables as at the end of the REEHF BEREEARNAEEEZELNRIE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HARE DTN ©

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Within 1 year —EMURN 9,621,850 10,390,127

Over 1 year B —F 614,161 663,447

Total st 10,236,011 11,053,574
There were no trade payables as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2024128318 » M M AEHMEER Y E 5 BT RIS
2023: Nil) due to suppliers that have signed up to a supply chain (2023F 128310 | |8 EEBHEHERMETE o

financing program.

Trade payables are unsecured and are normally settled based on the BREMRIEBARIKF BEERBHEIEEGH
progress of construction.

The fair values of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period RRERR AR E S B RIENEREARAER
approximated to their corresponding carrying amounts due to their 2 HA T EHAEHBRREEES -

relatively short maturity terms.

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HthFECRIERESTER

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREF T

Outstanding payables arising from the acquisition Wi # 5 2 45 AV 18 oK =2 < FE (< FUIB

of equity interests 61,081 29,743
Due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries  FE{J Ffi /8 ‘A B JF AR AR R =R 1B 330,299 507,551
Deposits & 594,636 652,556
Payroll and welfare payable fET TE KRER 25,013 38,759
Retention deposits related to construction HEXBERNRES 236,025 373,034
Other tax and surcharges HiR BRI & 1,295,197 840,504
Accrued expenses FEstRE 41,613 32,060
Others Hih 1,030,524 202,767
Total “ast 3,614,388 2,676,974

Other payables and due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries HEMREREMNB AR FERRKRERERRE
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. The fair B R ERERERERE - NEXR HMENRIE
values of other payables as at the end of year approximated to their HAFEAHAEEREEES -

corresponding carrying amounts.
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20245128318

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31.

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

30. ENAaE

BHEENFENT

Contract liabilities

aaRE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBEF T
20,419,460 37,659,856

The Group receives payments from customers based on billing
schedules as established in the property sales. Payments are usually
received in advance of the performance under the contracts which are
mainly from property development.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

FEBERBENEHEMBRARFBRAET S WY
MoAEMBENRESHN (EE2REWEFRD BY

A H2 A WO A 7R

31. st BIRITREMBER

Current
Other loans - secured
Current portion of long term

B HA
HEtER—FRE
REBTERNEBED

Effective

Interest
rate (%)

RRHZE(%)

bank loans - secured —BigH 3.15-5.90
Current portion of long term RERBHS
Other loans - secured HtER-BEHE 4.73-12.00
Current portion of long term RHB#AE D
Other loans - unsecured HEtEH—BIEHE 7.80
Subtotal INEF
Non-current E(3:00-
Bank loans - secured RITER-FBER 3.15-5.75
Bank loans - unsecured RITEN—BILHE -
Other loans - secured HtER-BEHE 4.73-12.00
Other loans - unsecured HMER—mIEH 7.80
Subtotal INE
Total 1@t

2024 2023
20244 20235

Effective

Interest
Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
258 ARSTE EEEESD) 38 ARETR
2025 5,638,676 3.50-7.50 2024 11,141,143
2025 652,836 8.50-12.80 2024 593,260
2025 1,278 - - -
6,292,790 11,734,403
2026-2048 8,250,310 3.50-6.50 2025-2048 10,268,920
2026-2041 4,000,000 9.20-12.00 2025-2026 767,800
2029 1,025,067 - - -
13,275,377 11,036,720
19,568,167 22,771,123
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

stRIRITRHEMBER (@

2024 2023
20245 20238
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREF T
Analysed into: baRiiv=1
Bank loans repayable: FEIZIRITEM
Within one year —F R 5,638,676 11,141,143
In the second year FE 5,239,338 4,475,407
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEEFHE (BIEEEME) 2,642,172 1,740,387
Beyond five years hFE 368,800 4,053,126
Subtotal /Bt 13,888,986 21,410,063
Other borrowings repayable: HMEREER
Within one year —FR 654,114 593,260
In the second year FHE 395,000 599,800
In the third to fifth years, inclusive kk_ﬁxkkﬁﬁ (BIEERMS) 1,485,067 168,000
Beyond five years hFE®% 3,145,000 -
Subtotal /N5t 5,679,181 1,361,060
Total “ast 19,568,167 22,771,123

The Group's borrowings are denominated in RMB as at 31 December

2024.

Certain of the Group's bank and other borrowings are secured by the
pledges of the following assets with carrying values at the end of the

reporting period as follows:

R2024F 128318 AEBNERUARBEE-

FEBETHRITREMMERUTIEEFIRT &
SEENRSHAARMRAENT :

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT

Land use rights (note 15) THiE AR (FEE15) 579,990 608,167

Investment properties (note 14) BEYE (sx14) 8,568,000 7,132,800

Properties under development (note 20) R E (M5E20) 22,288,802 32,267,551

Completed properties held for sale (note 21) BEHENDRBITYE (MFsE21) 4,919,054 2,045,355

Property, plant and equipment (note 13) ME--BREREZE H:F13) 321,786 -
The management of the Company has assessed that the fair values KRB EEBRALRA  StEREBTREMMERN
of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their ATFEAHKREEESE RAEBELRHNZER

carrying amounts largely due to the fact that such borrowings were
made between the Group and independent third party financial
institutions based on prevailing market interest rates.

20244 F 3R
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31.

32.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT ER R M5
31 December 2024
20244128318
INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. st ERITREMMER @)
BORROWINGS (Continued)
Certain of the bank and other borrowings of up to RMB450,460,000 7R2024F 128318 AR B IEERBERRBIE=H
were guaranteed by the Company’s non-controlling shareholders ARE NR450,460,00070 B9 T IR 1T R EAMMERIE
and independent third parties as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HIER (20235 1 AR H8943,327,5007T) ©
RMB943,327,500).
Certain of the bank and other borrowings of up to RMB258,760,000 R2024%F12831H 5T R Z AR 258,760,0007T
were guaranteed by a company controlled by the ultimate HIER1T R H A (8 70 H R AL B R B B9 A Bl IR (1R
shareholders as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB99,000,000). (20234 © AR 199,000,0007T) ©

PROCEEDS FROM ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES 32. REEIRNES ((EEIKTPES)) &

(”ABS”)

Name of ABSs

BEEMESDE

SHIFRISTRIA

31 December

Contractual 2024

interest rate Closing

Principal per annum Maturity balance
20245

12B31H

r& ANENEX =h] HAR G ER
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT (%) ARETTT

FEEC-SERENEEESR

HEEC-TRBEENELESR

15512 15512
Radiance Commercial Properties Ea THE LY ES 1,672,856 6.0/6.5 2021-2039 1,680,642
Less: Current portion B BEE D 20,818
Non-current portion JERNERER 1,659,824
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31 December

Contractual 2023
interest rate Closing
Name of ABSs Principal per annum Maturity balance
20236
128318
EERFESLE AE  BAFFEE & HR AR
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000
AREFTT (%) ARETFT

HEZEERBENEEESR HEEZE-SEBENEEESR

E3HE ] BIE:E

Radiance Commercial Properties EREENE 1,684,880 6.00/6.5 2021-2039 1,720,462
Less: Current portion B BN 47,606
Non-current portion FERHE S 1,672,856

The balance represented proceeds received from special purpose
entities ("SPE") set up by financial institutions in the PRC for issuance of

MEERTETREBEREINSHRENER (5%
BRER) S ETEERMEFWEBIFASRIE
FEBRRBEHRYEREWRAG NR@ENETRKE

asset-backed securities, to which the Group has collateralised certain
future trade receivables for the remaining receipts from the provision
of property lease income. Under an assignment arrangement between
the Group and the SPE, as and when the Group receives the sales
proceeds from customers, the Group would remit any cash flows it
collects on behalf of the SPE.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's property, plant and equipment
with a total carrying amount of approximately RMB246,526,000 (2023:
Nil) were pledged as asset-backed securities granted to the Group
(note 13). There were no certain of the Group's asset-backed securities
are secured by the pledges of right-of-use assets (2023: Nil) (note 15).
The Group's investment properties with an aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB2,773,100,000 (2023: RMB2,938,900,000) were
pledged to asset-backed securities granted to the Group (note 14).

20244 F 3R

FRERWHRIEFRR - REAERRTHRENEEN
DL AEMBE R W E TS RIAR » A&
HRELEARSEHRENERMRERNERFRER

=
5o

R2024F 1283 1B AEERABEGHOAARE
246,526,0007T (20234 | |) WYX -BERERED
BREAREEEREERTFSES (sF13) o K&
EiEEAEEE (2023F | 8 WEREAEER
FHHNER HeF15) cAEBEKREEOARE
2,773,100,00075 (20234 : A R #§2,938,900,0007T) BI#&
EMECHRFAEENEERTFISEER (W

14) ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

20245128318

33. SENIOR NOTES 33. BEAER

1 January The effect 31 December

2024 of foreign 2024

Opening Interest currency Closing

Name of senior notes balance expense exchange Derecognition Payment balance
142024 142024

1A1B8 SMEEEER 1283188

BAZERE HRAAERR Gill=Y: b3 HE RIER & HRAERR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARBTR AREBTn ARETR ARETR ARET:H

2023 Notes WBERE - - - - - -

2024 Notes 2024FE 2,142,841 17,279 1,675 (1,085,773) (1,076,022) -

Total st -

1 January The effect 31 December

2023 of foreign 2023

Opening Interest currency Closing

Name of senior notes balance expense exchange Payment balance

1420234 7220234

1R8N SAEER 128318M

BEEBELE LERIEEY e FERX M2 NEN HRR 8%

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT AREBFTT ARBFTT ARBFT ARBFT

2023 Notes 03FZE 395,337 53,297 5177 (453,811) -

2024 Notes 2045 i 2,121,097 161,520 36,077 (175,853) 2,142,841

Total 15t 2,142,841
Analysed into: Paliiv= I

Non-current portion JEMENEL -

Current portion MENER 2,142,841

The Company fully repaid the senior notes in April 2024. KABIR20245F 48 2 EREREB R ER-
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34. CORPORATE BONDS

1 January 31 December

2024 2024

Opening Issued Interest Closing

Name of bonds balance in 2024 expense Derecognition Payment balance
#2024 142024

1A1H# 1?2024 1283188

E5RE B4R &1 Gk RIERS 3 MR AR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETE ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET=®

22 Medium-Term Notes NHBRER 1,194,912 = 52,343 = (48,000) 1,199,255
23 Medium-Term Notes 01 BHEIER0 805,168 - 34,339 - (32,000 807,507
23 Medium-Term Notes 02 BRAER 793,931 - 37,004 - (34,240) 796,695
24 Medium-Term Notes (note) UREAEE (i3 = 542,158 7,792 = = 549,950
Total 1az 2,794,011 542,158 131,478 - (114,240) 3,353,407
1 January 31 December

2023 2023

Opening Issued Interest Closing

Name of bonds balance in2023 expense  Derecognition Payment balance
R203E 12023

1818HK 12023 1283188

B5LE LRI S #17 FIER% RIEFER [ HARERR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTLT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR

21 Jinhui 01 21& 1801 1,399,463 - 44,362 (118,700) (1,325,125) -
21 Jinhui 02 2181802 875,107 - 33,968 - (909,075) -
22 Medium-Term Notes NHPER 1,190,751 - 52,161 - (48,000) 1,194,912
23 Medium-Term Notes 01 BHHER0 - 793,879 11,289 - - 805,168
23 Medium-Term Notes 02 BHHER0 - 792,980 951 - - 793,931
Total 4@t 3,465,321 1,586,859 142,731 (118,700) (2,282,200) 2,794,011
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31 December 2024

20245128318

34. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued) 34. AEMESH &)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group's corporate bonds were RIREHFR  AEBRBESWEERRAOT :
repayable as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Repayable within one year BR—FRNEE 1,219,287 15,707
Repayable within two to five years ERZERFRER 2,134,120 2,778,304
Total st 3,353,407 2,794,011
Note: On 12 July 2024, Radiance Group, a subsidiary of the Group completed Mizx: FR2024FE7A 20 2BEE AXEENRBA
to issue 5-year medium-term notes with a principal amount of B ERARBITHEFHPEHER FTHREAA
RMB550,000,000 (“24 Medium-Term Notes"), which were publicly listed F #550,000,0007T (M 20245 hHAZER ) » 722023
on the Inter-bank Bond Market on 12 July 2023. 24 Medium-Term Notes F7H1NBRBITHEESTIH LT 2024FEHHA
are denominated in RMB and bear interest at a rate of 3.00% per annum. ZHRMUARIEHE ) WIRERZE3.00%:T 8
As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's corporate bonds R2024F 1283 1B AEBAETEEBESFUAR
are secured by the pledges of property, plant and equipment #7,021,0007% (20234  |) WYX -BERKE
of RMB7,921,000 (2023:Nil) (notel3), investment properties of (F¥E13) ~ AR 13,282,906,0007T (2023%F : AR
RMB3,282,906,000 (2023: RMB3,069,600,000) (note14) and completed #%3,069,600,0007T) MNIEEME (MsE14) R AR
properties held for sale of RMB645,730,000 (2023: RMB997,637,000) 645,730,0007T (20234 : AR ¥6997,637,0007T) BYFF{E
(note 21). HERE TYE (E21) fEIKF
Certain of the corporate bonds of up to RMB1,200,000,000 was R2024F 1283180 & F&REEAR1,200,000,00078
guaranteed by a company controlled by the ultimate shareholders as at N EESHRERRZERINASERER (20234
31 December 2024 (2023: Nill). ) o
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Shares B 15
2023
2023%
HKS
BIT
Issued and fully paid: BRTRERE
4,045,227,000 (2023: 4,045,227,000) ordinary 4,045,227,0008%
shares of HK$0.01 each (2023: HK$0.01 each) (20234 : 4,045,227,0000%)
SREE0IBTT
(20234 : B EE0.017E7T)
B 40,452,270 40,452,270

A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is as follows:

AT RARDHHENT :

Number of
shares in issue Share capital
ERTRHEE [ 7
RMB'000
ARETT
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 72023F 1818 >
and 31 December 2024 20235128318
2024F1B1B K
2024 12831H 4,045,227,000 35,095

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 17 October 2019 with authorised share capital of
HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at par
value.

On the date of incorporation, 1 ordinary share of HK$0.01 was allotted
by the Company to a subscriber, and was transferred to Glowing Shine
Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Lam Ting Keung and Ms. Lam
Fung Ying, on 17 October 2019.

On 6 March 2020, the Company acquired the entire issued shares of
Jubilance Properties from Radiance Group Holdings at a consideration
of US$3.00, which was settled by the Company by allotting and issuing
1 ordinary share to Glowing Shine, being the direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Radiance Group Holdings, on 5 March 2020.

On 5 October 2020, the Company increased its authorised share capital
to HK$100,000,000 by the creation of 9,962,000,000 additional shares of
nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

On 29 October 2020, upon its listing on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the Company issued 600,000,000 new ordinary shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each at HK$4.30 per share for a total cash
consideration of HK$2,580,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,238,872,000).

20244 F 3R

KABF019F 10817 EHEBETMMIL EE
Ji% 75 4380,00078 7T » 43 %338,000,0000% & IR EI{E0.0178
TTRIRRAD ©

ReEMmiZHE A AR —4RBARE—RKRS
f%0.01B T EEAR > WH2019F 10817 H EE T M
ERAERMBELZTEFINABBEERAR

22020F386H » KRB M3.00ETHREBESIEE
E AR UK B Jubilance PropertiesfI 2B 21T > B
A BEHREEARATN2020E3858 UAEKE B
EEZERNEEZERBAR) BB RBIT—RRG
BAREEB

5220205108 5H » AxA B) 18 18 18 58%9,962,000,0008% &
BREE0.01 B THEEINRG  BEAERAIEME
100,000,0007 7T ©

2020108298 R B AR LB KRR
5 184.303 7T 3£ 17600,000,000 % 5 A% [ {50.01 38 T HY
@R RIS B %42,580,000,000%8 7T FBE KL
AR 2,238,872,0007T) ©



Shares (Continued)

On 29 October 2020, 3,399,999,998 shares were issued by way of
capitalisation with par value of HK$0.01 each, and the respective share
capital amount was approximately RMB29,504,000.

On 25 November 2020, upon its listing on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the over-allotment option has been partially exercised
and the Company allotted and issued 45,227,000 additional shares at
HKS$4.30 per share for a total cash consideration of HK$194,476,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB164,955,000).

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares issued and the consideration received.

(b) Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid for acquisition of non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries. Details of the movements in
the capital reserve are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(c) Statutory surplus reserve
In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles
of association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, the
Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits after
tax, as determined under PRC GAAP, to the statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant
PRC regulations and in the articles of association of the Group,
the statutory surplus reserve may be used either to offset
losses, or to be converted to increase share capital provided
that the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of
the registered capital of the Group. The reserve cannot be used
for purposes other than those for which it is created and is not
distributable as cash dividends.

(d) Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve arises from change in use from an
owner-occupied property to an investment property.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mt F5eR R M 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

f&1n (48)

20208108 29H > 3,399,999,9980% f% 17 T4 3% & I8 E
B0 BT REARZT HEREASENAARE
29,504,0007T ©

HR2020F 11 B25H  REABBRFT L& BEERRKR
BESDITEEARAREIZRERII0B TR ERET
45,227,00002 Z8IMN& 15 > 4B IR SR {E%194,476,00078 7T
(FEE R4 AR 1164,955,0007T) ©

BE04F12ANBLEEE  AEENFEBESREAA
PN RaEHRES -

BE204412831 8 HEE > FEBNERSERE
TN T EEVIR

(@) M mfE
RinEEIE B ETRM EERM R EZ BN
Ao

(b) BAf#E
B 1S I AR B S R 0 2 B B AR
BABNIFERBENGTRENATEZBN
EEE - AXRENEDFBERNE RS
BH* o

(0 EEBEFRMHRE

R 4B A B A B)5E R i R B Y 3L A B BB A B B9 A
BERME > AEEARREBFFEENI0%
REUAE BB WL IRBDE S5 ERE
o EERBREEINEIMEANS % Z
BREPBIER A ERARS2MAmEET
PREVAYARIR - 7R E BB P AR S48
BanIENRA  EERBEBHREAFION
REBEMEARN2% HERSANERIL
BRLUNNEMA R TR EERRERESD
ke

(d) BEEERHAE
BEEGHERREARNENBRERA
REME
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20245128318

Major non-cash transactions @ EEFREXRSH
During the year, the Group had no non-cash additions to right- FROAEBETERBAEIEF HERH
of-use assets and lease liabilities (2023: RMB4,141,000) in respect NEREEENEESENIERESARE (2023
of lease arrangements for office buildings. F . AR #4,141,0007T) ©
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has not HE2024F 12831 B IEFE > AAE R I HEER
offset the amounts due from non-controlling interests with the JEPERG R I AR IE (20234F © M) IH U IEIE AR
amounts due to non-controlling interests (2023: Nil). TR INIE o
Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEESELENEEES
activities
Total
Proceeds Interest- Senior liabilities
from  bearing bank notes and Due to from
asset-based and other corporate related Lease financing
securities borrowings bonds parties liabilities activities
BEER
Fic i) FRBTR BERER FEfS RMETEN
FR{gRIE HitfER AREH WERTE HEaR BERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR NG Sw ARETFR AEBFT AEBFT N S
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1 818 5289177 26,444,820 5,981,755 4853335 14,090 42,583,177
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities REEEBIFTE,/ (FTE) BEHE (3,801,643) (5,049,285) (1443,705) 74817 (7497) (10,227,313)
New operating leases nEERsg - - - - (1429) (1429)
Interest expense SR 232,928 1,375,588 357,548 - 687 1966,751
The effect of foreign currency exchange ~ SMNEF 2 - - 41,254 - - 41,254
At 31 December 2023 #2023 128318 1,720,462 22,771,123 4,936,852 4,928,152 5,851 34,362,440
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities REEEEIFTE/ (FTfE) Re R (146,236) (4,232,370) (1,733,877) 394,715 (2,590) (5,823,738)
Changes of operating leases Tenges - - - - (310) (310)
Interest expense HERZ 106,416 1,155,856 148,757 = 328 1,411,357
The effect of foreign currency exchange  SMNES/ 2 - (126,442) 1,675 - - (124,767)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 1,680,642 19,586,167 3,353,407 5,322,867 3,279 29,824,982
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of
cash flows is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

37. ZEHERERMTE @

(C) *H. E’J iﬁ,% 1L II:I:II WG gE
REREERMENAENRS RHBEBEOT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR#EF T

Within operating activities KEEEN 3,461 5,179
Within financing activities REEBA 2,590 7,497
Total st 6,051 12,676

38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests were set out below:

38. %jﬁﬁ%k?ﬁ“ﬂﬂ““ﬂ’]#i\ﬁﬂﬁ)‘:"

FEBEAEASFERBEGNINEBASFBERIIM

T
Percentage of (Loss)/profit
equity interest for the year Accumulated
no held by allocated to on balances

controlling non-controlling  controlling of

interests interests interests
ZERREE DB FIEER

FRsRG 1 BEMNERN ERR S

BoE (58 & B9 R 5t AR

% RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREBTT

31 December 2024 2024%F12H31H

Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate* BB (FBMN) &% 40 (95,937) 1,113,089
Radiance Group TREE 4 (377,554) 613,926
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate* BB (FRIN) B2 40 (33,285) 1,209,026
Radiance Group TEEE 4 (16,443) 991,480
Ningbo Qihui Real Estate BERRIEE 40 125,644 304,983

* Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate is subsidiary of Radiance Group, and * FE RN BEXNEEEENWE RS > TXF#EH

the financial information set out below only reflects the direct non-
controlling interests in these entities, and the indirect non-controlling
interests have not been included.

BEMERMNZEFERNERIFERED ML
KRBT B IR R
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 38. HEEEAIFEREZNIEREREA

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) g (48)
The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: P 62 BB RIA AR BRAE AT A B) R 48 -
Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate BB (EM) B
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
Revenue & 49,148 77,785
Total expenses Bz 48 %R (288,991) (160,998)
Loss for the year FANEE (239,843) (83,213)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FARNEHEEIELELE (239,843) (83,213)
Current assets MENE E 2,538,184 2,769,569
Non-current assets ERHBEE 233,688 235,906
Current liabilities mEhaE (169,849) (164,955)
Net cash flows generated/(used in) from KEEBME (A B R 38
operating activities 761 (29,599)
Net cash flows used in investing activities KRE AR REFEE (289) (1,589)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRIBSEBYEM, Ghl) B4
cash equivalents 472 (31,188)
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31 December 2024
20245128318

Radiance Group EEEE
2023
20234
RMB'000
AREF T
Revenue W # 24,845,353 34,317,604
Total expenses Iz 48 %8 (34,800,707) (34,928,988)
Loss for the year FANEE (9,955,354) (611,384)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEELREE (9,955,354) (611,384)
Attributable to: UNE A REM,
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZ=DN (9,438,846) (811,700)
Non-controlling interests PR R (516,508) 200,316
(9,955,354) (611,384)
Current assets BB E 66,411,053 99,024,040
Non-current assets ERHBEE 30,037,762 30,537,435
Current liabilities mENaE (51,785,674) (75,772,075)
Non-current liabilities FEREBMEE (18,284,992) (15,712,089)
26,378,149 38,077,311
Attributable to: LUNE AR,
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZ= DN 14,544,177 23,991,283
Non-controlling interests JEER 11,833,972 14,086,028
26,378,149 38,077,311
Net cash flows generated from operating activities #& & EEBNEERESMEFE 1,971,543 8,131,485
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from REEE (FTA) /e RERE 38
investing activities (34,044) 1,742,685
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEFARERE R (4,909,110) (9,481,922)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HE RIS HEY GR/L) /B35
cash equivalents (2,971,611) 392,248
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20245128318

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39. HAREME
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided PRERFR RUBRRIETREGENIAEGE
for in the financial statements were as follows: W
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBTT ARBTFT
Guarantees given to banks in connection BIRTTIEHN BRI TAE
with facilities granted to purchasers of MEBHMENER
the Group's properties (1) 15,729,854 27,105,993
Guarantees given to banks and other BIRTTREMEBELNER
institutions in connection with facilities EFEBABRMENER
granted to related companies (2) 1,242,054 1,341,688

M The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in the case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals
together with any accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted
purchasers to those banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged
to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on
mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to
take over the legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through
open auction.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration
of property ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will
generally be available within one to two years after the purchasers take
possession of the relevant properties.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year in respect
of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted to purchasers
of the Group's completed properties held for sale. The directors of the
Company considered that in the case of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties would be sufficient to repay
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and
penalty, and therefore no provision has been made in connection with
the guarantees.

200 =R (M) SRAE  2024FFH
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued) 39. AGE @
(2)  The Group provided guarantees to banks and other institutions in ) AEEE T B QABDNERARIT REMEER
connection with financial facilities granted to the related companies. HER - ARAEER A BEEMRBERELES
The directors of the Company consider that no provision is needed in BAFEMLAEK E—FFBFHNMEE41 0

respect of the guarantees since the fair value is not significant. Further
details are included in note 41.

Except as disclosed above, during the year and up to the end of the BREXFIIEEEN RERKBEERFER F£EE
year, neither the Group nor the Company were involved in any litigation, BRARQBMEESFAEANEBMNY B R TREE
arbitration or administrative proceedings, claims or disputes which had EBAEANFEENHFR FHBITHEER PR
a material adverse effect on the Group's financial condition or results of A o
operation.
40. COMMITMENTS 40. &I
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the REBRREMREUTERKIE .

reporting period:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR#F T

Contracted, but not provided for: [ERHESEES T
- Properties under development —FAE Y 11,239,672 15,767,574
— Acquisition of land use right — WK B £ st feF R = 287,374
— Capital contribution for acquisition of —RAUKEREmEE
equity interests 1,812,000 2,274,644
Total M@t 13,051,672 18,329,592
In addition, the Group had the following commitments provided b9 EXE R EBEAEERGELEREE QT
to joint ventures and associates (including the Group’s share of REUTEE (BEAEEREHREMSESREHRR
commitments made jointly with other joint venturers), which are not {EH 2 &HE)

included in the above:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBETT

Contracted, but not provided for: B BRERE -
— Capital contributions —FE 106,166 101,171
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Significant related party transactions

ERMABMARS

The following transactions were carried out with related parties MUTFARRSHAREREEFETHRS !
during the reporting period:
2023
20234
RMB'000
AREFTT
Advances from related companies: R A BB
Joint ventures aEhE 34,225 17,710
Associates NS 429,478 185,622
Repayment of advances from related BIRRIABI B .
companies:
Joint ventures BEh¥E 44,135 171,321
Associates NS 252,654 581,299
Management consulting services BT AIRENEEAAR -
provided to:
Joint ventures aEhE - 329
Associates i lNEI| 200 19,394
Advances to related parties: IR B 5 B -
Joint ventures e 106,372 51,488
Associates i lNE| 249,156 10
Receipt of advances to related parties: SBR[ ) Bt 75 O AR
Joint ventures HEbE 484,739 2,077,793
Associates BE QT 131,259 484,684
Sale of properties to related parties R E T HE Y= 8,475 15,756
Other Income from guarantees given to e B B 75 IR R R AV E AU A
a related party - 2,030
Property management services provided FH B AR 22 IR B B R A1 Y
by companies controlled by the ultimate NEMRHNYEEIEIRTS
controlling shareholders 70,697 89,905
Property lease income from a company HE @?’“Hxﬁx%?’“%]ﬁﬁ
controlled by the ultimate controlling NEIFMEMERERA
shareholders 480 480
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2)

3)

Other transactions with related parties:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B FEFR R Mfd o

31 December 2024

20245128318

41. BB B35 (&)
(2) HERIMAMEMIE :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

Guarantees provided to related parties:
Joint ventures
Associates

Company controlled by ultimate
controlling shareholders

7D B Bk 75 B2 A AR

BELE
BE QT

R RIRERIZERIB AT

109,500 373,700
832,554 867,988
300,000 100,000

Outstanding balances with related parties

(3) EARAME 7T BIRIBEEER

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARH#F T
Due from related parties: FE R BE B 5 FRIE -
Trade-related: B5 186
Joint ventures aEtE 1,439 -
Due from related parties: FE R BE B 5 7R I8 -
Non-trade-related: JEE Z 18R] :
Joint ventures BEhE 2,362,513 2,740,880
Associates BiE AT 1,477,148 1,359,251
Due to related parties: FE {<F BE B 75 I8 -
Trade-related: B 5186 -
Companies controlled by the ultimate RAAKERZEFINAT
shareholders 215,070 90,649
Due to related parties: FEAT BB 5 =RIE
Non-trade-related: EB Z R -
Joint ventures e 2,141,786 2,151,696
Associates N 2,862,631 2,685,807
Balances with the above related parties were unsecured and 0 FIREREG H NSRS A RIRIF A AR ERE
repayable on demand. Bo
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 41. BB RS @
(4) Compensation of key management personnel of (4) AEBTEEERE ASHMN
the Group
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AREFT
Short term employee benefits EHEERH 6,169 7,693
Pension scheme contributions BIRESTEMHER 346 328

Total compensation paid to key management [AEEEEE A B HIFEN 4228

personnel 6,515 8,021
42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42, HENASHNEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RIRSHR SE M T ANEKREEWNT !

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2024 2024128318
Financial assets THMEE

Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised cost FVTPL
Fa 8 8 B A BMATEFA

stER B
ERMEE TREE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR T ARBTT

Trade receivables (note 22) B S EWIE (M5E22) 37,491 = 37,491
Financial assets included in FFATETRIE N RIS K

prepayments, other receivables HthEENEREE (f5H24)

and other assets (note 24) 4,538,647 - 4,538,647
Financial assets at fair value through 2 AFEF ABRNESHEE

profit or loss (note 26) (P4 5E26) = 2,315 2,315
Due from related parties (note 41) FEUR BB 5 =008 (M 5E41) 3,841,100 = 3,841,100
Restricted cash (note 27) ZRREIIRE (M5E27) 560,621 - 560,621
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) IRE&KRIBEHBEBY (Ffst27) 1,829,772 = 1,829,772
Total 45t 10,807,631 2,315 10,809,946

204 =R (EE) BRAT  204FFHR



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. HERHASHWEFRTA @)
(Continued)
Financial liabilities EHaE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
TR R R s
HERN
ERAaE
RMB’000
ARETT
Trade payables (note 28) B e E (fisk2s) 10,236,011

Financial liabilities included in other payables and FAEMENRIERESNERZEMEERE ([H5H29)
accruals (note 29) 3,614,388
Due to related parties (note 41) FE 1S RE B 5 70 IE (M 5E41) 5,219,487
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 31) st EIRTT R E & zx (FF5E31) 19,568,167
Lease liabilities (note 15) HEaE (MEs) 3,279
Proceeds from asset-backed securities (note 32) BEERFESESNAERE (i5E32) 1,680,642
Corporate bonds (note 34) NEMES (M5E34) 3,353,407
Total wast 43,675,381
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31 December 2023 2023812831H
Financial assets ETHEE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised cost FVTPL Total
R R A BNFEETA
FEN BmmN
ETHMEE ETHMEE 4ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TF T ARBFT AREBFT
Trade receivables (note 22) B 5 U ERIE (MfsE22) 39,458 - 39,458
Financial assets included in FFATEN TRIE N AR WERIE K
prepayments, other receivables HthEENEMEE (i5E24)
and other assets (note 24) 4,815,904 - 4,815,904
Financial assets at fair value through {#AF{Ezt ABz M
profit or loss (note 26) TREE (MEE26) - 107,813 107,813
Due from related parties (note 41) FEUR BB 5 TR IE (Fd5E41) 4,100,131 - 4,100,131
Restricted cash (note 27) ZIREIRE (H5E27) 2,264,883 - 2,264,883
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) IRE=RIIFLHEY (H:£27) 4,808,037 - 4,808,037
Total #ast 16,028,413 107,813 16,136,226
Financial liabilities ETHMEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FR AT A AR
FEN
ETHMEE
RMB'000
AREF T
Trade payables (note 28) B 5 A (Mf5E28) 11,053,574
Financial liabilities included in other payables and SFAEMENRIEBEREFSERZ EMEE ([H5E29)
accruals (note 29) 2,676,974
Due to related parties (note 41) FE 1S RE B 75 T0IE (M 5E41) 4,928,152
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 31) st EIRTT R E g zx (FF5E31) 22,771,123
Lease liabilities (note 15) HESE (sxis) 5,851
Proceeds from asset-backed securities (note 32) BEERFESESNARENRE (:E32) 1,720,462
Senior notes (note 33) BRERE (5F33) 2,142,841
Corporate bonds (note 34) ~NEfESH (M5E34) 2,794,011
Total st 48,092,988

20244 F 3R



43.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 35 SR R MY 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

43. TRTRANATFERRFEER

AEESMTA REBRATEABEENSMT
BIR5M) HMEREERATENT :

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AFE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 20235 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR N AREBFR AREBTFTT
Financial assets EHEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFNEREN
profit or loss (note 26) EREE (ko) 2,315 107,813 2,315 107,813
Financial liabilities THEaE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 8 3R 17 R EMER 19,568,167 22,771,123 19,596,242 22,808,930
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BERIFESESNEIE
(note 32) (M3E32) 1,680,642 1,720,462 1,646,735 1,670,078
Senior notes (note 33) BEEZRE (533) = 2,142,841 = 1,730,990
Corporate bonds (note 34) NEMES (5F34) 3,353,407 2,794,011 3,408,955 2,806,551
Total iz 24,602,216 29428437 24,651,932 29,016,549

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted cash, trade receivables, trade
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, and amounts due from/to related companies approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.
The valuation results are discussed with the audit committee twice a
year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

EEEDETHG REARLFEY CSHRERE
FTRRHERE BZEKRIE - BFEANIE 5
ABURIE At B REREMEENSREE
SPAHMBEARMERESERNEREE  UKE
W/ RN ARRIEN A TEEAREBEES
BAREETHENZETERREE-

FEENYHBIIEYHEERE aER TR
TARTENENERKERF MBEEEZAY
HREER NEHRSAM MBHMIOTEMIA
BEMNEIHER TEEGHEMANIEHAYE-
HMERVBEBEEZIME - GEERBAEZZE
BEFETM R MUFRIRFEEMBHHER -

THEERBENATENBERZH RBIER
HERIN BRIRZPZTEANATTZEFRAR DL
TRARGSRATENG ERERR
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The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
management products issued by financial institutions in Mainland
China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on
the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
certain proceeds from asset-backed securities have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The Group's own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2024 was assessed to be
insignificant.

The fair values of certain proceeds from asset-backed securities,
corporate bonds and senior notes are based on quoted market prices.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

FEBBRENRIFFEHRE > BIHPBKRERITET
ZEMER FEBREZRBRAASELMUFRRERZ
TAZHBMNE GRKAREREMERE G
ZEFETREZATE.

FREBRITREMEBERAETEERFESEESNAM
BRENAFENEASERRKRRESRERRE
ARAREEUGRR - EHRARKB TERPRZT
BFZETARIRET E o REE2024F12831HB
BN EBRTREMERNRELN BRI TE S
REKe

ETEERHBSESHAERE - REREFKE
EERBENAFENEHSRESS -

DT ERER
TRITAEEEMTENATESBER !
BATEFENEE !

Fair value measurement using

ERANUTREMENATEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level1) (Level2) (Level3) Total

ERETEE EXTHE EATTERE
HRE BARE BARE
(E—13) (B8 (E=H) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

As at 31 December 2024 72024%12831H

Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFABENEREE

profit or loss 2,315 - - 2,315
As at 31 December 2023 F2023812831H
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFABENEREE

profit or loss 2,266 105,547 - 107,813
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Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mt F5eR R M 5E

31 December 2024
20245128318

DT ERER (B
FURBEAFENER:

Fair value measurement using

ERUTEERENATENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level1) (Level2) (Level3) Total
EEmEL BEAAHE BAFUHZR
HRIE WAYE WAYE
(B—#R) (€t ) (B=#) s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT N ARETFT ARETFT
As at 31 December 2024 1#2024F12831H
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 8 $R{T R E &R = 19,596,242 = 19,596,242
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BERBESESNMENE 1,646,735 = = 1,646,735
Corporate bonds NEES 3,408,955 - - 3,408,955
Total st 5,055,690 19,596,242 - 24,651,932
As at 31 December 2023 120235128318
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 83817 R EMEZR - 22,808,930 - 22,808,930
Proceeds from asset-backed securities EERIFESESNREIE 1,670,078 - - 1,670,078
Senior notes BEER 1,730,990 - - 1,730,990
Corporate bonds NEEH 2,806,551 - - 2,806,551
Total 5t 6,207,619 22,808,930 - 29,016,549
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The Group's principal financial instruments mainly include cash and
bank balances, restricted cash, trade receivables, and trade and other
payables, which arise directly from its operations. The Group has other
financial assets and liabilities such as interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, corporate notes, financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, amounts with related companies and other
receivables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group's operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

(@) Interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to risk for changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other borrowings
set out in note 31. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its
interest cost using variable rate bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, if the interest rate of bank borrowings
had increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables held
constant, profit before tax for the year of the Group would have
decreased/increased by approximately RMB21,966,000(2023:
RMB16,121,000).

20244 F 3R
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(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
mainly arise from the Group's cash and cash equivalents and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The currency
in which they are denominated is USS or HKS. There is no
significant impact on foreign currency risk.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) SN EEZ

FAF5 SRR Y 5

31 December 2024

20245128318

FERHBERXZEBER ZERBITEZESE
BAREENRERIAESBY UK ERITR
HMMER - WEBEELIETEHE - SINE R

BMEZIERTE-

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit Increase/
USS$ or before (decrease)
HK$/RMB rate (or after) tax in equity
ETHAET
AR¥ BRAT (3
EXLEH BR#R %) m A g
(F&) wm, G @, G
% RMB'000 RMB'000
ARB#FTT AR#F T
31 December 2024 2024%12H31H
If the RMB weakens MARBRETEE
against the USS (5) (48,141) (48,141)
If the RMB strengthens MARBERETHE
against the USS 5 48,141 48,141
If the RMB weakens HMAREREBTEZE
against HKS (5) 39 (39)
If the RMB strengthens MARBERAETHAE
against HKS 5 (39) 39
31 December 2023 2023 12H31H
If the RMB weakens MARBRETIE
against the USS (5) (106,395) (106,395)
If the RMB strengthens HARBRETAE
against the US$ 5 106,395 106,395
If the RMB weakens MARBRETERE
against HKS (5) 63 (63)
If the RMB strengthens HMARBREBTHAE
against HKS 5 (63) 63
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Credit risk

The Group divides financial instruments on the basis of shared
credit risk characteristics, such as instrument type and credit
risk ratings for the purpose of determining significant increases
in credit risk and calculation of impairment. To manage risk
arising from trade receivables, the Group has policies in place to
ensure that credit terms are made only to counterparties with an
appropriate credit history and management performs ongoing
credit evaluations of the Group's counterparties. The credit
period granted to the customers is generally six months and the
credit quality of these customers is assessed, taking into account
their financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue receivables. In
addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of
trade receivables to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large
number of counterparties and customers.

Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and amounts due from related parties as well as individual
assessments on the recoverability of other receivables and
amounts due from related parties based on historical settlement
records and past experience. The Group classified financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets and
amounts due from related parties in Stage 1 and continuously
monitored their credit risk. The directors of the Company believe
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group's
outstanding balance of financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets and amounts due from
related parties.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December 2024. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and the
exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B PSR R MY 5

31 December 2024

20245128318

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44, BMEEGEEEHERBE @)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) 0 EERK @&
As at 31 December 2024 220245128318

12-month

ECLs
128 B & Lifetime ECLs
BHEE BEFERNENEEESE

5t} Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—REER FRER F=RER A & Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AERETR ARBFTT ARBTR ARETR ARETE®

Trade receivables* & 5 E R ZIE - = = 37,491 37,491
Financial assets included HNBEARE. R ERREN
in prepayments, other HMEENEREE

receivables and other assets

~ Normal** —IERE* 4,538,647 - - - 4,538,647
Due from related parties FE Wk R 75 2B 3,841,100 = = = 3,841,100
Financial assets at fairvalue AT EFNERNEREE

through profit or loss 2,315 - - - 2,315
Restricted cash ZIREIRE
— Not yet past due — iR EIH 560,621 = = = 560,621
Cash and cash equivalents ~ RERFEEEY
- Not yet past due ek 1,829,772 - - = 1,829,772
Total st 10,772,455 - - 37,491 10,809,946
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3

44, BEEGEIEEEREE (@)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) « EERE @
As at 31 December 2023 7220235128318
12-month
ECLs
12@5_?2 Lifetime ECLs
RAEH B EEEBNRREEER
e Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
SRR FIRE 2 167 % 1@t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTR AR%TR ARETR ARETR
Trade receivables* B 5 R - - - 39,458 39,458
Financial assets included SPANBATIE. EfERRERE M
in prepayments, other BENSREE
receivables and other assets
- Normal** —EE* 4,815,904 - - - 4,815,904
Due from related parties JRE LK eV Bgt /5 20 0B 4,100,131 - - - 4,100,131
Financial assets at fairvalue  RATEFNEGNEHEE
through profit or loss 107,813 - - - 107,813
Restricted cash ZREIREE
- Not yet past due —HREH 2,264,883 - - - 2,264,883
Cashand cash equivalents ~ BRENEEEEY
- Not yet past due — B R EH 4,808,037 - - - 4,808,037
Total a5t 16,096,768 - - 39,458 16,136,226
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * AEEMBEREHEEHEENREENER
approach for impairment, information based on the expected 17 A B 5 U IE R B B 3R R T 5522
credit losses is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements. WE-TEsEETNEERK-
There is no significant concentration of credit risk.
*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in *x et ABRIB - EthEB R EREME E
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered NEMEETEAS TEEHLERENS
to be "normal” when they are not past due and there is no BRALEHEENEERRABIEM 8 E
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant BEEEREEAIER -
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
(d) Liquidity risk (d) RENE TR

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds, senior
notes and proceeds from asset-backed securities. Cash flows are
being closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

& (EE) BRAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2024

2024412831H

REETEE (8
FEBRNBSHRREAARMBEOIRAENS
BEENESRBEROT

Liquidity risk (Continued) (d)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

3to
Less than less than Over
On demand 3 months 12 months 1 years Total
=F
BEX Z=ERMUA +Z&R —FENE Mzt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR AREBTR ARBTxR
31 December 2024: 2024F128318 ¢
Trade payables B REITIEB 10,236,011 = = - 10,236,011
Other payables HAnE IR 3,614,388 - - - 3,614,388
Due to related parties FERBEERTIE 5,219,487 - - - 5219487
Lease liabilities HEER - 1,503 1,877 627 4,007
Interest-bearing bank and other 3t BER1T R EMETT
borrowings - 488,660 6,687,784 16,726,757 23,903,201
Proceeds from asset-backed BERBESNMENE
securities - 29,342 88,962 1,817,731 1,936,035
Senior notes BEEE - - - - -
Corporate bonds NEVEH - - 1,314,240 1,666,240 2,980,480
Guarantees given to banks and EERT R E MR E R
other institutions in connection  BEIRTRABARME
with facilities granted to related HHEIR
companies 1,122,688 - - - 1,122,688
Total 1@t 20,192,574 519,505 8,092,863 20,211,355 49,016,297
31 December 2023: 2023F 128318 ¢
Trade payables B REITIE 11,053,574 - - - 11,053,574
Other payables HtnE IR 2,676974 - - - 2676974
Due to related parties (RS 1B 4928152 - - - 4928152
Lease liabilities HEER 83 337 4346 2731 7,497
Interest-bearing bank and other st BER1T R EMETL
borrowings - 449,048 12,280,021 15,699,082 28,428,151
Proceeds from asset-backed BERFESNMERE
securities - 29,522 88,495 1,778,849 1,896,866
Senior notes BEEE - 2,196,639 - - 2,196,639
Corporate bonds NEVEH - - 114,240 2,980,480 3,094,720
Guarantees given to banks and ERT R E MR (E A
other institutions in connection ~ BER FRAB AR RE
with facilities granted to related B9 (R
companies 1,122,688 - - - 1,122,688
Total Mzt 19,781,471 2,675,546 12487,102  20461,142 55405261
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20245128318

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safequard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which
is based on total indebtedness less cash and bank balances
(include Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash) divided
by total equity at the end of the year and multiplied by 100%.
Total indebtedness represents total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, proceeds from asset-backed securities,
corporate bonds and senior notes. The net gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

(e)

BEAREE
FEHEAEENTIEERARESIERTE
KERNENTHEFBRNERLE DIZHH
EHUWERREERAIE-

FEEGRECER NS EEERAEASE
FEB - RERFABEERERER ~EENE
ABIRNFTRENRE - RERREAHET
ke

FEERKBEEERILEE EBERERRE
RRITIES (ARBEERFEEFBY RZIRH
RE) o BRUFEREDBEAFIR100%:15) 5K
BEEER - EFMBEES BIRITRAMMBER
EERMESFAENIE RREFRELERE
ZBE-NEAMBEERFNEERM[ALE
mr

2023

20234

RMB'000

AREEF T

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B IR1T R E & 19,568,167 22,771,123
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BEERFESERSNFAER 1,680,642 1,720,462
Corporate bonds NEMESH 3,353,407 2,794,011
Senior notes BRERE = 2,142,841
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIBEEBEY (1,829,772) (4,808,037)
Restricted cash ZIRHIRE (560,621) (2,264,883)

Net debt E7% 748 22,211,823 22,355,517
Total equity e AREE 24,127,514 35,949,101
Net gearing ratio BEBMEALE 92% 62%

20244 F 3R
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. HEMWEB AT

RAEBE AEERETE = ALESHWBE LR
gD -NEERMNBEERBRREENT

During the period, the Group disposed of interests in a number of
subsidiaries to certain third parties. The carrying values of the assets
and liabilities on the dates of disposal were as follows:

2024

20245

RMB’000

ARETT

Net assets disposed of: HEBEFE

Property, plant and equipment MEBERFZE 1,062
Deferred tax assets IEIERIBE & 13,582
Properties under development e Y E 1,880,269
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBEEEY 87,061
Prepayments and other receivables FEAS RRIE K Hoth FE FE Wk 7n I8 149,713
Intangible asset mLEE 3
Trade and bills payables B S e RIE R T R (103,882)
Contract asset BREE 25,814
Deferred tax liability IRERIEBEE (6,454)
Contract liabilities sHEeE (679,087)
Tax payable fETIRIE 53,657
Other payables and accruals HiEHRIEREE R (424,367)
Non-controlling interests PR R (405,058)
Total mEt 592,313
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45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 45. HEMBAR (&
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect BRHHENBABDZRERREEBY RH FED
of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: MaE
2024
20245
Dates of
disposal
HEBM
RMB’000
AR¥TT
Transferred to interests held and classified as BEERANBEAREAAREEREER
associates and joint ventures 591,212
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2 W 1,101
Satisfied by: UFFHHEN
Cash consideration HWERE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HE 2 RE RIBITHAER 87,061

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect MEERBARRERREEEBYINLFEE

of the disposal of subsidiaries 87,061

The directors of the Company consider that not all subsidiaries ARBlEERALIFMBHENNBERARNHAER
disposed of were significant to the Group, thus the individual financial MEEBEA AL SMBARNEE B BHNE
information of some of the subsidiaries on the disposal dates was not A B E R R IEE o
disclosed.

46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 46. IREHBEN
No information is received after the reporting period about conditions MERRSHEKIBANREHEFENEGDN
that existed at the end of the reporting period. & o
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. XRABIMNBFIR AT

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company RIEHREBERARBMBERRTRNERNT ¢

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE

Investments in subsidiaries RBATMNKRE 1 1
Total non-current asset ERBEEME 1 1
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE

Cash and cash equivalents HERRSEEY 342 5,865
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets FENRIE Bt EIE R & E 433 424
Due from subsidiaries FE UL B A B 7 I8 1,354,440 2,495,612
Total current assets MEBEEME 1,355,215 2,501,901
CURRENT LIABILITIES Bt p=RE

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings HEIRTT R EMERR 62,007 32,220
Total current liabilities BB EERE 62,007 32,220
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZE 1,293,208 2,469,681
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEEMBERTHER 1,293,209 2,469,682
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREEE

Long term loan RHEX 964,338 -
Senior notes BREE - 2,114,122
Total non-current liabilities JERB BB 964,338 2,114,122
Net assets BEEFE 328,871 355,560
EQUITY #a

Share capital % 35,095 35,095
Reserves HE 293,776 320,465
Total equity AR EE 328,871 355,560
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20245128318

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: KABINREHRZWT :
Share Share Accumulated
capital premium losses Total
B RIDEE R5tEE @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT N ARETT ARETT

Balance at 31 December 2022 and 2002F128318 K

1 January 2023 2023F 1 B HIVAE R 35,005 679,084 (212,475) 501,704
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEGEEHE - - (146,144) (146,144)
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 35,095 679,084 (358,619) 355,560
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 7R2023F 128318 &

202418180 35,095 679,084 (358,619) 355,560

Total comprehensive loss for the year FRNEHEFHEEE - - (26,689) (26,689)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 35,095 679,084 (385,308) 328,871

20244 F 3R

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 28 March 2025.

72025438 28 F B 5 95 2 9 0 0 L0 SR T

§§o



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
At F5 L2

For the year ended 31 December

HZENAJNHLEEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 2023 20028 20015 20208
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR AREFT ARETT AREFTT AE®EFT
Revenue A 24,766,044 34,248,685 35,318,003 40,025,826 34,875,174
Cost of sales HEMA (30,565,283) (31,719977) (30,138,519) (32,278,375) (27,162,266)
Gross profit EF (5,799,239) 2,528,708 5,179,484 7,747,451 7,712,908
Other income and gains Hih A R 27,518 23,105 60,041 183,846 436,406
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIERY (784,580) (1,030,479) (931,729) (1,449318) (1,152,834)
Administrative expenses THEY (566,453) (686,337) (853,707) (1,195,415) (1,196,128)
Finance Income PR 21,143 51611 91,290 183,478 95,302
Finance costs BEMA (364,480) (295,840) (236,100) (349,885) (525,246)
Other expenses Hitpi% (99,672) (152,134) (191,638) (44,875) (80,592)
Fair value gains on investment properties % B %A L& I (619,518) 359,762 844,574 656,986 437,006
Fair value gains or loss from financial assets /A (B ABE NS5
at fair value through profit or loss BENATENFNFE (84,375) (1418) (14,168) (6,085) (77)
Share of profits and losses of: LT AR BH REE :
Joint ventures aEby (118,442) (99,360) (732,632) 98,366 992,533
Associates =N 433,955 139 491,020 641,082 (182,519)
Profit before tax [ES b (8,822,053) 697,757 3,706,435 6,465,631 6,536,759
Income tax expense FEMmEL (1,230,123) (1,131,700) (1,623,285) (2,771,936) (2,717,686)
Profit for the year EREF (10,052,176) (433,943) 2,083,150 3,693,695 3,819,073
Attributable to: UTEHMEM:
Owners of the parent BATEEA (9,111,234) (581,248) 1,705,026 3,274,774 3,127,526
Non-controlling interests JEER (940,942) 147,305 378,124 418921 691,547
(10,052,176) (433,943) 2,083,150 3,693,695 3,819,073
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EEEE-BERER

As at 31 December

128318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20235 20028 20215 20208
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT

Assets BE

Non-current assets FREEE 30,042,100 30,543,169 29,886,434 28,172,664 23,216,150
Current assets REEE 66,615,246 99,234,819 131,789,119 163,474,648 162,445,338
Total assets BERE 96,657,346 129,777,988 161,675,553 191,647,312 185,661,488
Equity and liabilities EiERaE

Total equity gt 24,127,514 35,949,101 35,583,038 37,571,705 36,112,406
Non-current liabilities FrEas 19,310,059 17,827,332 28,161,764 38,628,520 36,938,270
Current liabilities TEEE 53,219,773 76,001,555 97,930,751 115,447,087 112,610,812
Total liabilities BEEE 72,529,832 93,828,887 126,092,515 154,075,607 149,549,082
Total equity and liabilities BiEkEERE 96,657,346 129,777,988 161,675,553 191,647,312 185,661,488
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
TEREMESR

Type of Total GFA
Project Properties City Address (sq.m.) Tenure Status
BEREER
JEE| MEEY ki) ik (FHK) HR N
1. Beijing Radiance Plaza Office Beijing Qiyang Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, 102,975 Medium term lease  Completed
the PRC
TREEAE YN IR FEIIE R G & AR 102975 HHHEE BET
2. Beijing Radiance Park 18 Office Beijing No. 1 East Fourth Ring South Road, 175418 Medium term lease  Completed
Beijing, the PRC
TREBHN\E HEUN IR 35 R SR PUIR A B R R 175418 HHBHEE BT
3. Chongging Jinhui Plaza Commercial ~ Chongging No.13 Fenglin Road, Nan'an District, 120,846 Medium term lease  Completed
Chongging, the PRC
EEEEES GRS G FEEETREFERRRI3% 120846 PHATEE B#ET
4. linhui City Phase IV (Bronze Road) Commercial  Chongging No.16 Nanbin Road, Nan‘an District, 72,854 Medium term lease  Completed
Chongging, the PRC
SR = 2 (A7) [EES - FEEETREFEAERI6H 72854 HERE BT
5. Xi'an Jinhui Global Plaza (Mall) Shopping mall  Xi'an No. 885 Yanta South Road, Yanta District, 124,336 Medium term lease  Completed
Xi‘an City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC
AL T RBIRIKER (B15) BYES i3 FERFEEBETREEREERE 124336 HHEE BT
885%%
6. Jinhui Building (International Plaza) Office Xi'an No. 22 of Fenghui South Road North 48,685 Medium term lease  Completed
Section, Lianhu District, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC
SEAE ERER mrig i3 FERFAERETEE S ERE 48685 HHBEE BT
68225
7. Chuangzhi Building Commercial Xi'an No.1 Tuanjie South Road, Lianhu District, 20497 Medium term lease  Completed
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC
BBAE [EES fikos FER S LTSN E B SR BI 20497 FHBHEE BT
8. Xi'an Jinhui Global Plaza (Block B) Office Xi'an No. 889 of Jinhutuo Second Road, Yanta 27,905 Medium term lease  Completed
District, Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, the
PRC
FAZEBRIKES 6% YN fikos FERALAEZTRERSEE R 27905 HERTRE BET
8895k
9. Fuzhou Jinhui Mansion Commercial Fuzhou No. 492 Hualin Road, Jin'an District, 16,760 Medium term lease  Completed
Fuzhou City, Fujian Province, the PRC
BNEBRE [EES =& FEGEREERINT S ZEEME4925, 16760 FHHE BET
10 Shanghai Jingang Commercial Plaza Commercial ~ Shanghai No. 22 Kangnaixin Road, Pudong District, 30,622 Medium term lease  Completed
Shanghai, the PRC
LEEEHEER [EES +iE B LETERME RSB RN 30622 FHEE BET
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FERBYEFR
Type of Total GFA
Project Properties City Address (sq.m.) Tenure Status
BREER
5H MEER wh Bk (EAK) HR DN
11, Suzhou Qianwan Commercial Center ~ Commercial ~ Suzhou No. 9 Sangyuan Road, Hugiu District, 36,464 Medium term lease  Completed
Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
B EEEmERO RS B FENIEE BN TR L& RERW 36464 FHEE BT
12 Xi'an Jinhui World City Block G Commercial ~ Xi'an No.1201 Yanta South Road, Yanta District, 15,074 Medium term lease  Completed
Xi'an City, Shaannxi Province, the PRC
FE TR [EES i3 FERESAZDREEGEERERE 15074 HEATAE BT
12015%
13. Chongqing Jinhui City Phase V Office Chongging No.19 Nanbin Road, Nan‘an District, 69,530 Medium term lease  Held for future
Chongging, the PRC Development
EFSEHRB-R mniE EE TEEETEFERARINR 69530 HEATEE RERRFHE
14, Xi'an Jinhui Tianyu Baili Square Commercial ~ Xi'an Southeast corner of the cross of 147,353 Medium term lease  Under construction
Aerospace Avenue and Chang ‘an Road,
Chang ‘an District Aerospace Base, Xi ‘an,
Shaanxi, the PRC
AZEBRFHEERES GES kS RERFELRETRZRAXEMMN 147353 HHEATEE T’
ARBERZE+FREA
15. Jinhui World City Block J Commercial ~ Xi'an South to the Xi'an Ring Expressway, East 252,085 Medium term lease  Under construction
to Yanta South Road, Qujiang New
District, Xi‘an, Shaanxi, the PRC
fifequesnyub] BE % FERFERETIINREERR 252,085 FHAEE TE
DRGSR AR U
16. Xian D16 Commercial Xi'an No. 669, Jinhutuo Second Road, 26,986 Medium term lease  Completed
Liangjiang New District, Xi ‘an, Shaanxi,
the PRC
FZD16 GES kS HERAERZTMILIEREE 26986 EATEE BT
B669%%
17. Jiangshan Elite’s Mansion Commercial ~ Commercial Chongging Lot No. G4-3/02, Area G, Dashiba Group, 61,160 Medium term lease  Under construction
Jiangbei District, Chongging, the PRC
ERILZEHE GRS G FEBETIIEXABAERCD R 61,160 FHAEE e
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